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Acknowledgement of  
Country and People

South Metropolitan Health Service respectfully acknowledges the  
Noongar people both past and present, the traditional owners of the 
land on which we work. We affirm our commitment to reconciliation 
through strengthening partnerships and continuing to work with  
Aboriginal peoples. 
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Statement of compliance

Hon Mr Roger Cook BA GradDipBus MBA MLA 
MINISTER FOR HEALTH

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your 
information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the South Metropolitan Health 
Service for the financial year ended 30 June 2019.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006.

Mr Rob McDonald 
Chair 
South Metropolitan  
Health Service Board 
16 September 2019

Mr David Rowe 
Board Member 
South Metropolitan  
Health Service Board 
16 September 2019
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Theatre staff, Rockingham General Hospital
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Board Chair's overview

On behalf of the South Metropolitan Health 
Service (SMHS) Board, I am pleased to 
present the 2018/19 Annual Report. This 
report highlights the achievements and 
activities of SMHS over the past year as we 
fulfil our statutory responsibilities and strategic 
plan.

SMHS has continued to play its role in 
delivering public healthcare services to 
the Western Australian community. The 
health service also continued to foster its 
collaborative relationships with the Department 
of Health (DoH), in its role as the system 
manager, other WA health service providers, 
along with a range of non-government 
organisations. 

For the Board, hearing from our patients and 
their families and carers about how our care 
has impacted them – the good and the bad 
– is essential to delivering on our promise 
of excellent health care, every time. The 
prime importance for the Board is for SMHS to 
provide the best patient care possible. Within 
SMHS, we have continued to build upon the 
opportunities for patients and families to share 
their experiences with us and to learn about 
our services.  

More than 800 members of the community 
attended the public open days held at 
Rockingham General and Fiona Stanley 
hospitals (refer to page 39). These events gave 
the public an opportunity to see the workings 
of our hospitals, such as the surgical journey 
through the operating suites and the workings 
of outpatients. For the Board, it was a chance 
to connect directly with our community and 
have the opportunity to answer their questions 
about the care and services SMHS provides. 

The Fiona Wood Public Lecture Series (refer to 
page 39) is proving a hit with our community. 
The lecture series aims to inspire people to 
take control of their health which will contribute 
to improving their knowledge and ultimately 
overall wellness. We are also building the 
reputation of SMHS through this series and 
awareness of the breadth of the services we 
offer to patients, their families and the wider 
community. I know Board members thoroughly 

enjoy the opportunity to interact with members 
of the public in this relaxed atmosphere. 

The Board has also continued with the 
successful Board to Ward visits, another 
direct way for Board members to connect 
with patients and staff, to hear what is going 
well and to identify service improvement 
opportunities for referral to our executive to 
investigate.  

Engaging with and recognising our SMHS staff 
is extremely important for the health service 
and the Board. The introduction of the SMHS 
Excellence Awards (refer to page 29) this year 
provided us an opportunity to recognise high 
performing individuals and teams within SMHS 
and showcase the fantastic work being done. 
For the Board, these awards are also about 
establishing our identity as a health service 
and making a statement about the high 
standards we set in the delivery of care across 
our sites and services.

The SMHS Board Award was established to 
highlight an individual who, over their career, 
demonstrated exceptional commitment to 
ensuring Western Australian’s receive safe, 
high quality and accessible health services. 
Selecting a winner from high calibre nominees 
was difficult, but our inaugural winner Sharon 
Rowe, State Adult Burns Service Clinical 
Nurse Consultant stood out as an exemplar 
clinician whose commitment to patient care 
was delivered with true compassion. 

The four Board committees continued their 
attention on safety and quality, culture and 
engagement, audit and risk, and finance and 
governance. Each committee had substantial 
agendas and workload to maintain an 
appropriate level of governance oversight on 
SMHS operations.  

Of significant concern for the Board in 
2018/19 was the identification of deficits to 
ensure SMHS is a safe workplace for all staff, 
volunteers and others working on SMHS 
sites, which led to the establishment of the 
Interim Occupational Safety and Health 
(OSH) Working Group. The purpose of the 
working group was to critique the workplace 
processes and practices in place within SMHS 
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Mr Rob McDonald, Board Chair 
South Metropolitan Health Service

with the aim of reducing the overall impact 
of occupational health and safety risks. An 
additional area of interest was monitoring the 
preparedness of SMHS executives, managers 
and supervisors to assist those staff who have 
suffered an illness or injury to return to normal 
duties. 

As the SMHS Strategic Plan 2017–2020 winds 
down, the Board will turn its attention towards 
the horizon. It is important for our health 
service to remain attentive to rapid changes 
occurring in the delivery of health services 
worldwide. Not only is medical technology 
advancing at a rapid pace, but there rightfully 
continues to be high expectations from our 
community. SMHS must also look towards the 
recommendations made within the Sustainable 
Health Review (SHR) Final Report and be 
an active participant and leader. If we are to 
continue to deliver on our vision of excellent 
health care, every time, SMHS must be at 
the forefront of those changes and this will 
form part of our planning into the future. 

Whilst SMHS delivered another strong financial 
and operational performance in 2018/19, 
and there were many successes across 
many areas, we cannot be any less vigilant in 
2019/20. The financial environment remains 
challenging particularly as we strive to always 
provide high quality health care. SMHS must 
remain innovative and productive and focused 
on initiatives that will improve patient care 
and treatments, but which also make the 
organisation financially sustainable in the short 
and long term. 

At the end of the financial year, two inaugural 
Board members' terms came to an end – 
Professor Mark Khangure and Ms Michelle 
Manook – and I take this opportunity to 
acknowledge their contributions. Both have 
been of enormous value to the Board’s 
deliberations and decision making. They 
brought their perspective, experience and 

knowledge to the table to the 
benefit of SMHS and the broader 
community. On behalf of the SMHS 
Board, I wish Michelle and Mark all the very 
best in the future. 

I also acknowledge the ongoing contribution 
of my SMHS Board members. Your desire 
to ensure SMHS is delivering the best health 
care possible is evident in every decision and 
action we have made. I thank you for your 
unwavering support and focus throughout the 
year. Likewise, thank you to Mr Paul Forden, 
Chief Executive, and the SMHS Executive 
team for your continued drive and leadership. 

Most importantly, I recognise the tireless work, 
determination and professional dedication of 
our SMHS staff and volunteers. It is through 
you that SMHS is able to achieve all that it has 
this year. You continue to provide exemplary 
service and care to our community.  

This year has been one of sustained 
performance and ongoing commitment to 
ensuring the public we serve has a high 
quality, accessible and cost-effective health 
service. Together with my fellow Board 
members, I look forward to another year 
of success and delivering on our vision of 
excellent health care, every time. 

Rob McDonald 
Board Chair 
South Metropolitan Health Service 
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Chief Executive's summary

If the last two years have been about uniting 
SMHS as statutory authority, this year was 
undoubtedly about strengthening our position 
as an innovative and forward-thinking health 
service, and putting our patients at the centre 
of everything we do. 

A particular source of pride for me this year 
has been the opening of our innovation 
space – Kaartdijin. Overwhelmingly SMHS 
staff are striving to bring new and inspiring 
ideas to their work and the patient experience; 
however, we needed a supportive and 
collaborative space where great ideas could 
be developed. Kaartdijin is this space and we 
already have several pioneering ideas under 
development that will evolve in the coming 
year.

Even though the innovation space is new, 
SMHS staff continued to demonstrate their 
willingness to enhance services and be 
innovative in their approach to the care they 
provide throughout 2018/19. I mention briefly 
just a few of those highlights here, but there 
are many more detailed throughout this report. 

Innovation and research
 � More than 120 staff celebrated the diverse 

research being undertaken across the 
health service during the inaugural SMHS 
Research Showcase. Events were held to 
educate, connect and enhance research 
relationships amongst staff, students and 
external stakeholders. The yearly SMHS 
Research Report continues to demonstrate 
the depth and breadth of research being 
undertake across the health service.

 � An innovative mobile application, the first 
of its kind in an Australian public hospital, 
is helping Fiona Stanley Hospital burns 
patients receive timely out-of-hospital care. 
Mobile Image Communication Exchange 
(MICE) is a CSIRO and SMHS-made and 
owned mobile application that allows 
clinicians to send each other patient 
wound and scar photos to aid with clinical 
communication, decisions and treatment.

 � A ground-breaking bladder cancer study, 
led by Professor Dickon Hayne, Head of 
Urology for SMHS, has received almost 
$1.6 million in funding and will become the 
largest bladder cancer clinical trial initiated 
and run in Australia.

 � In partnership with The University of 
Western Australia and East Metropolitan 
Health Service, Professor Toby Richards 
commenced at Fiona Stanley Hospital 
as the inaugural Cook Chair in Vascular 
Surgery. As a renowned European 
researcher and clinician, he will establish a 
vascular surgery research program.  

Enhanced services
 � The da Vinci surgical system (refer to page 

30) become operational at Fiona Stanley 
Hospital. The system allows suitable public 
patients requiring urological procedures 
to receive robotic-assisted prostate and 
kidney surgery.

 � A statewide Spinal Outreach Service 
was launched at Fiona Stanley Hospital 
to empower and support spinal cord 
injury patients to return to the community 
after being discharged from the State 
Rehabilitation Service Spinal Unit. 

 � A surgical team at Fiona Stanley Hospital 
has become the first in Australia to 
perform an innovative procedure to treat a 
previously untreatable severe form of deep 
vein thrombosis.

 � The Haematology Service at Fiona Stanley 
Hospital has received an international 
three-year accreditation for their Blood and 
Marrow Transplant program, becoming 
only the second adult transplant unit in 
Australia to be awarded this accreditation. 

 �  Patients in the Rockingham and Peel 
region now benefit from a plastic surgery 
service established at Rockingham 
General Hospital. The service offers low 
to medium complexity surgery for patients 
requiring plastic surgery such as skin 
cancer surgeries including skin grafts and 
flaps. 
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 � Rockingham General Hospital's maternity 
service has adopted a more patient-centric 
model offering midwifery-led care. Women 
now have the choice of continuity of care 
by staying with their community general 
practitioner (GP) in a shared care model 
with the hospital or having antenatal 
care provided in the community by a GP 
Obstetrician, in addition to midwifery-led 
care during and after birth.

Achievements
 � The Endocrinology and Diabetes Service 

at Fiona Stanley Hospital is now an 
accredited tertiary diabetes centre, having 
recently met the high standards of the 
National Association of Diabetes Centres.

 � Rockingham Peel Group has become the 
first and only health service in Australia 
to have more than 260 staff qualified 
in mental health first aid. The program 
is designed to give participants greater 
awareness and understanding of the 
most common mental health issues, how 
to recognise changes in behaviour and 
respond confidently and appropriately to 
guide the person to professional resources 
and assistance.

Celebrations 
 �  SMHS had three winning projects at the 

2018 WA Health Excellence Awards. The 
Alcohol Screening and Brief Intervention 
project, conducted in the Fiona Stanley 
and Rockingham General hospitals’ 
emergency departments, took home the 
‘Promotion of preventative health’ award. 

Fiona Stanley Hospital’s 
Intensive Care Unit won the 
‘Managing resources effectively 
and efficiently’ award for their project to 
reduce clinically unnecessary pathology 
testing. Fiona Stanley Hospital’s Pharmacy 
Department celebrated back-to-back 
wins, taking out the ‘Improving safety and 
quality’ category for its oral liquid opioids 
project. 

 � Dr Rob Larbalestier, Head of 
Cardiothoracic Surgery at Fiona Stanley 
Hospital, was named an Officer of Order 
of Australia (AO) in the Queen’s Birthday 
Honours. This award recognises at the 
highest level Dr Larbalestier’s distinguished 
career in cardiothoracic surgery and heart 
and lung transplantation and his dedication 
to the public health system.

 � Fiona Stanley Hospital’s Nursing and 
Midwifery Educator Renee de Prazer 
won the Excellence in Education 
category in the 2019 WA Nursing and 
Midwifery Excellence Awards. Renee is 
an outstanding educator, role model and 
strong advocate for nursing education. 
SMHS had four other finalists in the 
awards. 

I also wish to highlight the health service's 
continued performance to meet the health 
care needs of our community. It is challenging 
to meet the growing needs and expectations 
of our patients and their families and carers; 
however, I am often overawed by the 
dedication and perseverance of all SMHS staff 
who work as a team to deliver quality and safe 
care.  

'
A particular source 
of pride for me this year 
has been the opening of 
our innovation space – 
Kaartdijin. 

Mr Paul Forden, Chief Executive,  
South Metropolitan Health Service 
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This year SMHS hospitals have, overall, 
improved emergency service access against 
the Western Australian Emergency Access 
Target (WEAT) whilst delivering care to 
approximately 212,000 people (refer to page 
62). SMHS has also continued making inroads 
into reducing over boundary elective surgery 
cases whilst also performing close to 52,000 
surgeries, both elective and emergency (refer 
to page 60). 

Whilst SMHS has achieved so much in 
2018/19, there is much more on the horizon 
for the health service. In particular SMHS will 
continue to be an active participant in bringing 
the recommendations from the SHR report 
to fruition, and ensuring the voice of our staff 
from the Minister for Health’s survey are heard 
and action is taken. 

As our community continues to grow, 
the south metropolitan region and SMHS 
continues to benefit from the support of the 
WA State Government:

 � Peel Health Campus will benefit from 
a $5 million upgrade to the emergency 
department, which will assist in improving 
patient flow. 

 � A further $15.6 million is to be invested  
at Fremantle Hospital for an additional  
20-bed secure mental health unit, making 
the hospital a specialist hub for mental 
health services in Perth's southern 
suburbs.  

 � It will also be a pleasure to open the Family 
Birthing Centre at Fiona Stanley Hospital 
later in 2019 (refer to page 32).  

In closing I acknowledge the magnificent 
service and care being delivered by SMHS 
staff and volunteers. Every staff member and 
volunteer – whether delivering direct clinical 
care or in a supporting role quietly working 
behind the scenes – are part of the SMHS 
team who are working with the same sense 
of purpose and direction. Each one is helping 
to improve the quality of life for our patients 
through the delivery of quality healthcare 
services.  

SHMS has had a very productive and 
successful year and I look forward to 
another rewarding year in 2019/20. I have 
every confidence we have the people, and 
importantly the energy, enthusiasm and 
commitment to deliver excellent health care, 
every time. 

Paul Forden 
Chief Executive 
South Metropolitan Health Service
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Legislation 

SMHS was established as a board governed 
health service provider in the Health Services 
(Health Service Provider) Order 2016 made by 
the Minister for Health under section 32 of the  
Health Services Act 2016. 

Responsible 
Minister

SMHS is responsible to the Deputy Premier, 
Minister for Health and Mental Health, the 
Honourable Roger Cook MLA.

Governance 
structure

SMHS, as a Health Service Provider (HSP), is 
responsible and accountable to the Minister 
for Health and the WA Department of Health 
(DoH) Director General, as the System 
Manager.

The System Manager is responsible for 
the overall management, performance and 
strategic direction of the WA public health 
system, ensuring the delivery of high quality, 
safe and timely health services.

The SMHS Board is legally responsible 
and accountable for providing safe, high 
quality, efficient and economical public 
health services to the south metropolitan 
community. This is undertaken via active 
monitoring of performance and setting the 
health service’s strategic direction.

The Minister for Health appoints the SMHS 
Board and the System Manager is the 
employing authority of the SMHS Chief 
Executive. 

Minister for Health

WA  
Department  

of Health

South  
Metropolitan 

Health Service  
Board

Fiona Stanley 
Fremantle  

Hospitals Group

Rockingham  
Peel Group

Corporate  
services

Peel Health  
Campus

Community-based 
services 
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Metropolitan 

Health Service
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2018/19 HIGHLIGHTS

Board of the Authority

Mr Rob McDonald B.Bus CPA MAICD

Chair

Mr McDonald has held leadership roles with WA Police, the 
Department of Treasury and the State Supply Commission and 
is the former Chair of the North Metropolitan Health Service 
Governing Council. Mr McDonald has broad experience in 
finance, human resources, policy development and information 
technology. During the year Mr McDonald was a non-
Executive Director on the Rottnest Island Authority Board. 
He is also the Principal of Tiderock Consulting, specialising in 
management, organisational and financial reviews of government 
organisations.

SMHS Board committee membership: Oversight of the 
Board’s four committees and one working group

The enduring 
commitment of SMHS 
staff to quality patient 
care and to building 
a sustainable and 
innovative health 
service, all of which 
was showcased at 
the inaugural SMHS 
Excellence Awards.

Adjunct Associate Professor  
Robyn Collins RN RM B.App Sc MAICD

Deputy Chair

Adj. Assoc. Professor Collins is a committed and highly 
successful health service executive and board member with 
an extensive career in a broad range of governance, strategic, 
operational and financial management environments. Until mid-
June 2019 Professor Collins was the Western Australia State 
Manager of the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency 
(WA). Professor Collins was the Acting Chair of the SMHS 
Governing Council for two years.

SMHS Board committee membership: Safety and Quality 
Committee (Chair)

Ensuring safe, high 
quality care continued 
to be a major focus, with 
the design of improved 
systems and processes 
in the delivery of patient 
care.

Dr Amanda Boudville MBBS, FRACP

An experienced geriatrician and stroke physician, Dr Boudville 
is Head of Aged Care and Rehabilitation at St John of God 
Midland Public and Private Hospital. She has worked across 
various public and private health systems for more than two 
decades. Dr Boudville is a Federal Councillor of the Australian 
and New Zealand Society for Geriatric Medicine.

SMHS Board committee membership: Safety and Quality 
Committee, and Occupational Health and Safety Working Group

The ongoing 
commitment of 
the health service 
to delivering safe 
health care in a safe 
environment has 
continued to reap 
benefits for our patients 
and our staff. 
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2018/19 HIGHLIGHTS

Ms Kim Gibson B.App.Sci (Physio) MA 
Public Sector Leadership FACHSM GAICD

Ms Gibson's career in health spans 30 years across clinical 
practice, clinical education, health professional regulation, health 
reform, health service management and governance both in 
Australia and overseas. Former Chair of the Clinical Senate of 
WA, Ms Gibson is passionate about health service improvement 
through clinician and consumer engagement. An experienced 
board member, she is Chair of the Physiotherapy Board of 
Australia.

SMHS Board committee membership: Safety and Quality 
Committee, and Culture and Engagement Committee

The privilege of sharing 
the skills of our highly 
talented workforce and 
to engage with the SMHS 
community at events 
such as the Fiona Wood 
Public Lecture Series and 
community open days.

Mr Julian Henderson B.Eng MBA

Mr Henderson is a highly qualified senior executive with  
wide-ranging experience within the public and private sectors.  
He has a breadth of experience in diverse areas including 
strategic planning, policy development, project development, 
project management, operations and general administration.  
Mr Henderson was a member of the North Metropolitan Health 
Service Governing Council and is currently the CEO of The 
Family Planning Association of WA.

SMHS Board committee membership: Audit and Risk 
Committee (Chair) and Finance and Governance Committee

Being a part of the SMHS 
team – a high performing 
team of dedicated, 
compassionate and 
highly skilled carers and 
support staff committed 
to providing quality health 
outcomes for our patients.

Professor Mark Khangure AM, MB BS, MRCP (UK)  
FRCR FRANZCR

Professor Khangure is a highly qualified neuroradiologist.  
He is a previous Head of Department and Director of Imaging 
Services at Royal Perth Hospital and past President of the  
Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Radiology.  
This experience provided Professor Khangure with exposure 
to training and management of safety and quality. Professor 
Khangure has made a significant contribution to clinical teaching 
and medical research throughout his career.

SMHS Board committee membership: Culture and 
Engagement Committee

Endorsing the Staff 
Engagement Framework 
that will help build 
a stronger sense of 
organisational belonging 
and reinforces our 
commitment to actively 
engaging with staff. 

15

O
V

ER
V

IE
W



2018/19 HIGHLIGHTS

Ms Michelle Manook BA, Post GdDip ADAS, GAICD

Ms Manook has over 25 years’ experience in strategic 
corporate, government affairs and investor relations working 
across resources infrastructure, government and finance 
sectors. Ms Manook began her career in the health sector, 
working within clinical mental health, alcohol and drug 
prevention and the aged care sector. She has performed in 
high-level government, stakeholder, investor relations, business 
strategy and management roles, and has wide-ranging board 
experience.

SMHS Board committee membership: Audit and Risk 
Committee

Becoming more connected 
with our local community 
and our staff through 
innovative initiatives 
including our Community 
Open Day, the Fiona Wood 
Public Lecture Series and 
SMHS Excellence Awards. 

Ms Yvonne Parnell GAICD, GradCertDis

Ms Parnell is a CEO within the community sector assisting 
people with disabilities and their families to overcome 
significant life challenges. She previously held senior 
executive management and leadership roles in the corporate 
sector. Ms Parnell has a longstanding and wide-ranging 
involvement as a consumer representative in health having 
first joined the Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital Community 
Advisory Council in 2003.  She is a past member of the  
North Metropolitan Health Service Governing Council and 
has served on a large number of health related committees 
and reference groups.

SMHS Board committee membership:  Culture and 
Engagement (Chair), and Occupational Health and Safety 
Working Group

Showcasing SMHS 
staff, facilities, clinical 
expertise, patient care 
and achievements at the 
community open days held 
at Rockingham General 
and Fiona Stanley hospitals.

Mr David Rowe BA (Soc Sc), Grad AASC, GAICD

Mr Rowe is an experienced board member and corporate 
executive with a background in government and the private 
sector. Previously the Chairman of the Fremantle Hospital 
Medical Research Foundation Inc., Mr Rowe is also a past 
member of the SMHS Governing Council. He has an interest 
in the challenge of delivering high quality health care at an 
affordable price and the development and further education of 
senior executives and staff.

SMHS Board committee membership: Finance and 
Governance Committee (Chair), and Occupational Health and 
Safety Working Group (Chair)

Efficient and effective 
teamwork between staff, 
contractors, patients 
and visitors ensured our 
patients continued to 
receive quality high level 
care. 
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2018/19 HIGHLIGHTS

Ms Fiona Stanton B Juris, LLB

Ms Stanton is a barrister with over 25 years of litigation 
experience. Ms Stanton practises in all aspects of both health 
law and employment law, acting for patients and insurers 
in medical negligence matters and disciplinary proceedings 
commenced against health practitioners under the Health 
Practitioner Regulation National Law Act (WA) 2010, and 
employers and employees in industrial matters, health and safety 
prosecutions and negligence actions. 

SMHS Board committee membership: Audit and Risk 
Committee, and Finance and Governance Committee

Speaking to staff, 
patients and paramedics 
at Rockingham General 
Hospital’s emergency 
department on a very 
busy day – an impressive 
demonstration of hard 
work, teamwork, cool 
heads, even tempers and 
compassionate care.

The SMHS Board met on 11 occasions in 2018/19. 

South Metropolitan Health Service Board

Name Position Term Meetings attended 

Robert McDonald Chair
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2022  
(reappointed for a further 3 years on 1 July 2019)

10 of 11 meetings

Robyn Collins Deputy Chair
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2021  
(reappointed for a further 3 years on 1 July 2018)

11 of 11 meetings

Amanda Boudville Member
17 July 2017 to 30 June 2020  
(reappointed for a further 2 years on 1 July 2018)

10 of 11 meetings

Kim Gibson Member
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2022
(reappointed for a further 3 years on 1 July 2019)

10 of 11 meetings

Julian Henderson Member
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2021  
(reappointed for a further 3 years on 1 July 2018)

10 of 11 meetings

Mark Khangure Member 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2019 10 of 11 meetings

Michelle Manook Member 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2019
7 of 11 meetings 
and 1 part meeting

Yvonne Parnell Member
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2020 
(reappointed for a further 1 year on 1 July 2019)

11 of 11 meetings

David Rowe Member
1 July 2016 to 30 June June 2020 
(reappointed for a further 1 year on 1 July 2019)

10 of 11 meetings

Fiona Stanton Member
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2021  
(reappointed for a further 3 years on 1 July 2018)

8 of 10 meetings 
and 2 part meetings
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SMHS  
Executive Group
(pictured left to right) 
Jodie Pudney 
Mark Cawthorne 
Taylor Carter 
Dr Maxine Wardrop 
Kate Gatti 
Neil Doverty 
Kath Smith 
Paul Forden 
Dr Paul Mark 
Geraldine Carlton 
Rita Freijah
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Geraldine Carlton 
Executive Director  
Special Projects

Jodie Pudney 
Manager, Corporate  

Communications and  
Ministerial Liaison

Rita Freijah 
Executive Director 

Contract Management

Taylor Carter  
Area Nursing and Midwifery 

Director Nursing and Midwifery  
Fiona Stanley Fremantle Hospitals Group

Neil Doverty 
Executive Director 

Fiona Stanley Fremantle  
Hospitals Group

Mark Cawthorne  
Executive Director 

Finance and Corporate Services

Dr Paul Mark  
Area Clinical Services 

Director Clinical Services  
Fiona Stanley Fremantle Hospitals Group

Kate Gatti 
Executive Director 

Clinical Service Planning and  
Population Health

Kath Smith 
Executive Director 

Rockingham Peel Group

Dr Maxine Wardrop 
Executive Director 

Safety, Quality and Consumer  
Engagement

20

O
V

ER
V

IE
W

Senior off icers
(as at 30 June 2019)

South Metropolitan Health Service Board
Mr Rob McDonald, Chairperson

South Metropolitan Health Service 
Mr Paul Forden, Chief Executive



Paul Forden, Chief Executive,  
South Metropolitan Health Service 
Term contract

Mark Cawthorne, Executive Director, 
Finance and Corporate Services 
Term contract

 � Audit and risk
 � Clinical coding
 � Finance
 � Legal
 � Library
 � Site services: infrastructure, engineering, 

security, telecommunications
 � Soft facilities management

Dr Maxine Wardrop, Executive Director, 
Safety, Quality and Consumer Engagement 
Term contract

 � Clinical governance
 � Consumer engagement
 � Patient and staff survey
 � Patient experience
 � Patient safety and quality
 � Policy

Kate Gatti, Executive Director, Clinical 
Service Planning and Population Health 
Term contract

 � Aboriginal health
 � Clinical planning
 � Community subacute services
 � Health promotion
 � Human resources
 � Industrial relations
 � Medical workforce
 � Mental health strategy
 � Occupational safety and health
 � Workforce planning

Rita Freijah, Executive Director,  
Contract Management 
Acting (Postition holder: Leon McIvor)

 � Commercial property
 � Contract management
 � Information and communications 

technology
 � Major projects
 � Procurement
 � Public–private partnerships (PPPs)

Geraldine Carlton, Executive Director, 
Special Projects 
Term contract

Neil Doverty, Executive Director,  
Fiona Stanley Fremantle Hospitals Group 
Term contract

 � Fiona Stanley Hospital
 � Fremantle Hospital
 � Rottnest Island Nursing Post

Kathleen Smith, Executive Director, 
Rockingham Peel Group  
Term contract

 � Rockingham General Hospital
 � Murray District Hospital
 � Peel Community Health

Dr Paul Mark*, Director Clinical Services, 
Fiona Stanley Fremantle Hospitals Group 
Term contract

 � Area clinical services

Taylor Carter*, Director Nursing and 
Midwifery, Fiona Stanley Fremantle 
Hospitals Group 
Term contract

 � Area nursing and midwifery

Jodie Pudney, Manager, Corporate 
Communications and Ministerial Liaison 
Substantive

 � Corporate communications
 � Ministerial liaison

 
*Clinical Advisors to Chief Executive and Executive Directors on strategic matters related to patient care; clinical priorities, workforce models; 
professional education and training and mental health.
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647,574 people, or 

25%  
of WA’s population.

41%  
of the SMHS population  
is aged 15–44 years. 

Aboriginal people account for 

1.7% of the 
SMHS population base, 

and a further 32%  
are born overseas.

41.8% 
of females and  

29.3% of males  
do not undertake sufficient 
physical activity.

More than 

67% 
of adults are overweight  
or obese.

11.3%  
of the adult population 
continue to smoke. 

39.7% 
of adult males are reported as  
consuming alcohol at levels 
deemed high-risk of long 
term harm.

49%  
of adults do not eat two  
serves of fruit and 

89% do not eat five 
serves of vegetables 
each day. 

NEWS 

Read more at www.rkpg.health.wa.gov.au  
– search ‘green light’

Snapshot of the SMHS community 
demographic and lifestyle

SMHS catchment has an estimated population of 

St
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g
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SMHS promotes healthy eating

In collaboration with the City of Mandurah, WA 
School Canteen Association and LiveLighter, 
the Mandurah Aquatic and Recreation Centre 
went green on their café menu. Now 43 per cent 
of the menu provides healthy food and drink 
options. Mandurah residents can now access 
seasonal fruit, Vietnamese salad shakers and 
delicious homemade muffins, and enjoy an ever-
changing fresh display of food, with digital signage 
displaying the healthy options. Creating healthier 
environments and messaging helps to combat the 
growing rates of overweight and obesity among 
the SMHS community.  

“Local governments are well placed 
to champion health and wellbeing – 
offering healthy food and drink choices in 
community venues should be the norm 
and the City is proud to be leading the 
way in this area.”  
Rhys Williams, Mayor, City of Mandurah.

Staff from  
SMHS Health 
Promotion, City 
of Mandurah, WA School 
Canteen Association and LiveLighter.
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A snapshot of health care provided 
by SMHS

Note: Comparison cannot be made to the snapshot data reported in the SMHS Annual Report 2017/18. The methodology used 
continues to be refined and in some instances a different dataset was used to provide more precise statistics. In addition data for 
Peel Health Campus has been included in all data sets, including for elective surgery, in 2018/19.

More than 3,000 consumers 
were provided care by our hospital-based 
mental health teams. 

Our community-based  
mental health teams assisted more than 

10,700 consumers by 

delivering in excess of 168,000 
occasions of service. 

Images: Shutterstock

with  70 multiple births. 

babies born 
during the year

The baby-boom continues with close to  

              5,000 

Our surgical teams performed more than 

37,000 elective  

and 14,400 emergency  
surgeries.

In excess of 75,000 
occasions of care were provided  
via telehealth or telephone.

148 patients had their lives 
changed by receiving a transplant:

07  heart transplants

20  lung transplants

02  heart and lung transplants

30  kidney transplants 

89  bone marrow transplants.

Our intensive care 
teams treated more than 

3,100 patients.

Our emergency departments
treated 
almost 212,000 

patients. 

In the busiest month close to 

20,000 patients were cared for, 
with Fiona Stanley Hospital recording 

383 patients treated 
in one day. 

More than 47,700 emergency 
patients were children aged 
between 0 and 15 years.

In excess of 30,000 
occasions of services were delivered 

to more than 10,500  
patients in their homes.

Close to 141,000 

patients attended in excess of 

629,000 outpatient 
appointments.

More than 160,000  

people were discharged from 
our hospitals during the year. 
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Care
We provide compassionate care to the 
patient, their carer and family. Caring for 
patients starts with caring for our staff.

Kaaradj
Ngalak yoongi karadjiny patient-ak, 
baalabiny wer moort. Karadjiny patient-
ak moolyak kaaradjiny ngaalang staff.

Integrity 
We are accountable for our actions and 
always act with professionalism.

Ngwidam
Ngalak accountable ngaalang warn wer 
kalyakoorl yaka-l  doora kartaga.

Respect 
We welcome diversity and treat each other 
with dignity.

Kaaratj
Ngalak wandjoo goordawi wer noordo 
yennar warma-al kaaratj.

Excellence
We embrace opportunities to learn and 
continuously improve.

Beli-beli 
Ngalak barang wilyan kaadadj wer 
kalyakoorl kwobabiny. 

Teamwork
We recognise the importance of teams 
and together work collaboratively and in 
partnership.

Yaka-dandjoo 
Ngalak kaadadj yardi of teams wer 
dandjoo yaka banga.

Vision and values

The SMHS vision is excellent health care, every time. In 
delivering on this vision, SMHS will be a health service that:

 � values a culture of safety and quality, and sustainability
 � engages with all staff
 � demonstrates high performance across all areas.

SMHS is unified across its hospitals and services by the 
values and behaviours that provide a strong expectation 
and conduct for all SMHS staff no matter where they work.  
Staff demonstrate the SMHS values in every interaction with 
each other, patients and the community. 

Visit the Our values video 
playlist at www.youtube.com 
– search ‘south metropolitan 
health service’

VIDEO
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Joanne Hughes (centre) with her team members, 
Rockingham General Hospital

SMHS values in action
As an organisation, SMHS has committed to a strong set of 
values which underpin the expected behaviours of our staff and 
the care they deliver to our patients each and every day. The 
Chief Executive’s (CE) Commitment to Excellence Award was 
established to recognise the importance of our values.

Nurse Unit Manager of the Rockingham General Hospital Aged 
Care Rehabilitation Unit (ACRU), Joanne Hughes, received the 
inaugural CE’s award for the way she demonstrates SMHS’ 
values both in her leadership style and care of patients.

Joanne was recognised as a person who is a catalyst for 
change and the main driver of multiple safety and quality 
initiatives improving outcomes for patients on ACRU. As a 
health practitioner, her focus is always the patient and their 
family and implementing innovative change that leads to 
improved clinical outcomes. Joanne is also very well respected 
by her peers, particularly for collaborating and sharing 
knowledge.

Visit our 2019 SMHS Excellence 
Awards video playlist at  
www.youtube.com  – search  
‘south metropolitan health service’

VIDEO
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Service delivery

SMHS delivers hospital and community-based 
services to nearly a quarter of WA’s population 
within nine local government areas. In addition, 
SMHS provides services to WA Country 
Health Service (WACHS) patients from Great 
Southern, South West, Southern Wheatbelt 
and Goldfields.

SMHS provides public hospital care at:  

 � Fiona Stanley Hospital (FSH)
 � Rockingham General Hospital (RGH)
 � Fremantle Hospital (FH)
 � Murray District Hospital (MDH)
 � Peel Health Campus (PHC).

A range of highly specialised multi-disciplinary 
services are offered to adults and children 
including:

 � medical
 � surgical
 � emergency
 � rehabilitation and aged care
 � coronary care
 � cancer care
 � intensive and high dependency care
 � mental health
 � paediatric
 � obstetric and neonatal
 � palliative care.

In addition, SMHS provides statewide services:

 � adult burns
 � hyperbaric
 � rehabilitation
 � heart and lung transplants.

SMHS is also responsible for delivering local 
health promotion and community-based 
services:

 � Health Promotion partners with 
community groups, workplaces, schools 
and local government within the SHMS 
catchment to reduce the prevalence of 
lifestyle-related chronic disease through 
public policy initiatives, advocacy and 
community-focused programs. 

 � Subacute service delivery helps facilitate  
early discharge from hospital, support 
individuals in remaining independent, and 
prevent re-admissions. These services 
are provided metropolitan-wide by SMHS 
through:

 z Rehabilitation in the Home (RITH) 
provides short to medium-term, in-
home multi-disciplinary rehabilitation 
post-discharge to prevent admission. 

 z Complex Needs Coordination Team 
(CoNeCT) provides an assessment 
and care coordination service to 
patients in the community with 
complex health needs. 

 z Community Physiotherapy Service 
(CPS) provides evidence-based, 
subacute physiotherapy rehabilitation 
at local community facilities. 

 � Western Australian Limb Service for 
Amputees (WALSA) provides funding for 
the purchase of essential prostheses for 
eligible amputees through an integrated 
client-focused service with three 
contracted community based private 
prosthetic service providers. The service 
is currently working with the National 
Disability Insurance Agency (NDIA) to 
transition suitable patients to the National 
Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS).

 � As part of its public health responsibilities, 
SMHS works in partnership with the WA 
Health Communicable Disease Control 
Directorate and other service providers 
to prevent and control the spread of 
communicable diseases. 
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Snapshot of SMHS hospitals

Fiona Stanley Fremantle  
Hospitals Group
Fiona Stanley Fremantle Hospitals Group 
(FSFHG) comprises: 

 � Fiona Stanley Hospital 
 � Fremantle Hospital
 � Rottnest Island Nursing Post.

FSH is the major tertiary hospital in the south 
metropolitan area and offers comprehensive 
health care services to adults and children 
including:

 � general and specialist medical and surgical 
services

 � sub-acute services including rehabilitation 
and aged care  

 � comprehensive cancer services 
 � State adult burns unit
 � State rehabilitation service
 � State heart and lung transplant service
 � emergency and intensive care 
 � mental health
 � maternity, paediatric and neonatal 

services.

Providing specialist hospital services, FH 
plays a vital role in supporting the tertiary 
services of FSH and in the ongoing delivery 
of services to patients within the south 
metropolitan catchment. FH offers a range of 
services including mental health, aged care, 
and elective surgical services in the following 
specialties:

 � general surgery
 � orthopaedics
 � plastic surgery, specifically hands
 � ear, nose and throat (ENT)
 � gynaecological
 � dental and maxillo-facial
 � endoscopy
 � ophthalmology.

Rockingham Peel Group
Rockingham Peel Group (RkPG) comprises: 

 � Rockingham General Hospital 
 � Murray District Hospital 
 � Mandurah Community Health Centre
 � Kwinana Community Health 
 � Rockingham Community Mental Health 

Service 
 � Peel Community Mental Health Service. 

As a general hospital with an emergency 
department (ED), RGH supports the following 
inpatient services:

 � acute and general medicine
 � geriatric medicine
 � palliative care
 � paediatrics
 � obstetric and neonatal services
 � surgical including ENT, gastroenterology, 

general, gynaecology, orthopaedic, 
urology, plastics and paediatric (general)

 � intensive care
 � psychiatry (adult and older adult), including 

electroconvulsive therapy.

Located in Pinjarra, MDH provides mainly 
aged care beds. Medical care is provided 
by medical staff from RGH and local GPs 
credentialed with admitting rights. Support 
services delivered at the hospital include 
medical imaging and allied health.

Peel Health Campus
PHC is a public and private hospital managed 
in partnership with private provider, Ramsay 
Health Care Australia Pty Ltd. PHC provides a 
full suite of general hospital services, including 
a 24-hour emergency department, medical 
and surgical services, maternity, aged care, 
rehabilitation, and oncology services.
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Excellence in the delivery of safe, high quality clinical care
 � Provide consistent high quality care through the use of endorsed service models and 

minimisation of variation in care.
 � Constantly strive for the highest level of safe care aiming towards a zero harm patient safety 

culture.
 � Generate a culture of continuous improvement where research, innovation and redesign is 

encouraged and celebrated.

Achieve a productive and innovative organisation which is 
financially sustainable

 � Optimise the efficient use of our people and physical resources.
 � Empower staff to improve productivity and quality and ensure they have the  

required skills and tools to understand their business.
 � Realise and maintain a sustainable financial position.

Provide a great patient experience
 � Place the patient and their family at the centre of the decision making process.
 � Ensure equity of access to care with a focus on minority groups and the provision of 

culturally sensitive care.
 � Ensure patients and their family are effectively and transparently communicated with 

throughout their journey.
 � Provide exceptional customer service, which is flexible and responsive, to ensure the optimal 

patient and family experience.

Strengthen relationships with our community and partners
 � Engage with the community to better define and deliver the services required to meet 

their health and wellbeing needs.
 � Optimise existing partnerships and explore new opportunities for innovative alliances both 

within and outside of health care.

Engage, develop and provide opportunities for our workforce
 � Create an environment of respect and empowerment within a culture of accountability, 

trust and transparency.
 � Develop a culture that maintains a highly engaged and satisfied workforce.
 � Create a safe workplace and promote health and wellbeing.
 � Identify, develop and embed Aboriginal employment opportunities and career planning at all 

levels.

Strategic priorities

The SMHS Strategic Plan 2017–2020 provides a focus for service delivery and decision making.  
The five strategic priorities areas are:

SMHS Excellence Awards highlight our commitment to SMHS strategic priorities

The inaugural South Metropolitan Health Service Excellence Awards, held on  
10 April 2019, were developed to recognise high achieving staff and as a way 
to embed the organisational values and strategic priorities.

The aim of the awards was to engage staff, help build a culture of excellence 
and teamwork, and to demonstrate the commitment and dedication of staff. 
The team award categories were aligned to the SMHS strategic plan and there 
were also four prestigious individual categories. More than 70 nominations were 
received, and more than 200 staff and sponsors attended the awards evening. 

Visit our 2019 SMHS 
Excellence Awards video 
playlist at www.youtube.
com  – search ‘south 
metropolitan health 
service’

VIDEO
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Read more at www.fsh.health.wa.gov.au – search 
‘robotic surgical system becomes a reality’

VIDEO

Strategic highlights

Throughout 2018/19 there have been many 
new initiatives and programs, and many 
achievements and innovations. The following 
are just a few of these highlights. These 
highlights all continue to demonstrate the 
dedication and commitment of SMHS and its 
staff – clinical and non-clinical – to improving 
patient outcomes and delivering high quality 
patient care.

Robotic surgical system 
becomes a reality 
FSH became the first public hospital in WA to 
offer robotic urological surgery after receiving a 
da Vinci surgical system as part of an election 
commitment from the McGowan Labor 
Government. 

The da Vinci system makes FSH one of 
only seven public hospitals in Australia with 
this robotic surgical capability. The da Vinci 
system allows suitable public patients requiring 
urological procedures to receive robotic-
assisted prostate and kidney surgery. 

Such technology helps to deliver a better 
patient experience through speedy recovery, 
reduced length of hospital stay and faster 
return to normal activities. It is also expected 
to deliver greater efficiencies due to improved 
surgical outcomes and a lower likelihood of 
subsequent treatments

FSH has also launched a new surgical 
program to train the next generation of 
surgeons using robotics.

Hospitals meet national 
standards in healthcare 
In May 2019, RkPG was one of the first 
health services in Australia to be successfully 
assessed against the second edition of the 
National Safety and Quality Health Service 
Standards (NSQHS), which came into effect 
in January. Accreditation by the Australian 
Council on Healthcare Standards (ACHS) is 
designed to give consumers confidence that 
hospitals deliver safe and high-quality health 
services via independent verification.

The surveyors had high praise for the positive 
approach to teamwork and collaboration 
demonstrated at RkPG. The surveyors also 
noted that doctors, nurses and allied health 
professionals displayed the highest levels of 
clinical excellence, adding that they would 
willingly use any one of the services provided 
by RkPG.

FSFHG was awarded full accreditation 
against the 10 NSQHS First Edition and the 
National Standards for Mental Health Services 
(NSMHS) in November 2018. The survey 
was the first time FSFHG had undergone 
accreditation as a group and the first time 
the FSH Mental Health service was surveyed 
under the NSMHS.

The surveyors noted considerable strategic 
focus had been directed at developing a safe 
and just workplace culture, and FSFHG had 
embraced patient and carer involvement in 
clinical handover.
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Fiona Stanley Fremantle Hospitals Group Head of Urology, Professor Dickon 
Hayne, Minister for Health Roger Cook, and South Metropolitan Health Service 
Chief Executive Paul Forden with the new da Vinci system.

Urology Surgeon Dr Matthew Brown 
shows a young girl how to use the 
da Vinci system at the Fiona Stanley 
Hospital Open Day.
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Visit our 2019 SMHS Excellence Awards video playlist 
at www.youtube.com – search ‘south metropolitan 
health service’

VIDEO

SMHS Chief Executive Paul Forden (left) with members of 
the Multidisciplinary Diabetic Foot Ulcer Clinic.

Family Birthing Centre, Fiona Stanley Hospital

Strategic priority: Excellence in 
the delivery of safe, high quality 
clinical care 
Winner of the SMHS Excellence Award 
for Excellence in Clinical Care

Multidisciplinary Diabetic Foot 
Ulcer Clinic

The Multidisciplinary Diabetic Foot 
Ulcer (MDFU) Clinic at FSH provides 
comprehensive care to patients with 
diabetes-related foot disease across 
the emergency, inpatient and outpatient 
settings. The multi-disciplinary approach 
to care for high-risk diabetic foot 
complications includes a treating team of 
experienced endocrinologists, vascular 
surgeons, infectious diseases specialists 
and senior podiatrists.

Both the inpatient and outpatient 
journey for patients with diabetes-related 
foot disease can be long, difficult and 
complex. The management strategies 
employed by the MDFU have increased 
the percentage of healed ulcers and 
reduced wound healing times, major 
amputations and hospitalisations.

The MDFU was also amongst the first 
in Australia to be awarded a National 
Association of Diabetes Centres (NADC) 
Centre of Excellence for High Risk Foot 
Care. 

Family Birthing Centre 
development engages with 
consumers
The development of a Family Birthing Centre 
at FSH, a $1.8 million election commitment 
from the McGowan Labor Government, has 
been designed in consultation with a group 
of consumers who have used FSH maternity 
services in recent years.

Along with advice from the consultation 
group and extensive research into what 
promotes an active physiological birth, the 
new space brings together colour, shapes 
and smells to promote good birth outcomes 
and help make women feel comfortable 
and at home. Inspiration from nature, the 
female form and art nouveau has created a 
boutique experience dictated by how this next 
generation of women wish to birth.

The centre has been established within the 
existing maternity ward area and will include 
three birthing suites, two of which will have 
inbuilt birthing pools and the other a portable 
pool, specially designed birthing cubes, day 
beds and family lounge facilities.

The new Family Birthing Centre is designed 
to provide care to women with low-risk 
pregnancies seeking a more home-like,  
holistic birthing experience. It is expected that 
160 mothers will be seen at the centre in its 
first year of operation, with the first baby being  
welcomed sometime in October 2019.
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A patient is examined in the Fiona Stanley Hospital 
Multidisciplinary Diabetic Foot Ulcer Clinic.

Speaking up for 
patient safety
It is widely recognised that open 
communication and the ability to speak up 
for safety is one of the most valuable tools in 
preventing errors. Across the health service, 
SMHS is building a culture where staff can 
‘speak up’ for patient safety in a respectful and 
secure environment. 

Under the SPEAK UP for Safety (SUFS) 
program, all staff are empowered to 
respectfully raise issues with colleagues 
when concerned about a patient’s safety. 
The program educates staff on the use of 
the communication tool known as PACE 
(Probe, Alert, Challenge, Emergency) and 
effective language to use when speaking up. 
In addition, staff are encouraged to listen and 
respond appropriately. 

Since the program’s inception in September 
2018 at FH, 32 staff from across the health 
service have been trained to deliver the SUFS 
presentation and more than 3,000 clinical 
and non-clinical staff have undertaken the 
compulsory training. 

Delivering better outcomes 
for older patients 
More than 22 per cent of Rockingham’s 
population are over 65 years of age, and this 
corresponds to more ED presentations in 
this age group. RGH’s Urgent Care Clinic is 
providing access to more personalised care 
and services for older people living in the local 
area.

The clinic sees elderly patients who present to 
the hospital’s ED, or are considered to be at 
risk of significant deterioration and are referred 
from community practitioners. The clinic 
is designed to provide a responsive, same 
day, interdisciplinary service and is staffed 
by a consultant geriatrician, clinical nurse, 
physiotherapist and occupational therapist, 
with access to the social workers, dietetics, 
speech and pathology teams.

This innovation is one step towards improving 
the connection between hospital and primary 
healthcare and ensuring timely access to 
appropriate care for older people.
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Visit our 2019 SMHS Excellence Awards video 
playlist at www.youtube.com – search ‘south 
metropolitan health service’

VIDEO

Rapid Access Neck Lump Clinic,  
Fiona Stanley Hospital

Strategic priority: Provide a great 
patient experience
Winner of the SMHS Excellence Award 
for Improving the Patient Experience and 
Southern Star Award

Rapid access to cancer diagnosis 
for better outcomes 

In a first for WA, the Rapid Access Neck Lump 
Clinic at FSH is speeding up the time from 
referral to diagnosis and treatment for people 
with head and neck cancers.

Head and neck cancers have some of the 
fastest growth rates of all cancers. The average 
time for a head and neck cancer to double in 
size is 90 days. The longer patients wait to be 
seen the poorer the outcome, treatment can 
become more invasive, recovery times longer, 
comorbidities increase and some patients can 
become untreatable.

The new service involves patients attending 
the one-stop clinic where a multidisciplinary 
team runs tests to accelerate diagnosis. Within 
two weeks of referral, patients are seen for 
multidisciplinary assessment and receive a same 
day diagnosis, with treatment plans closely 
following.

Patient and family experiences are central to the 
process – only attending hospital on one day 
leaves them free to spend more time at home.

Members of the award winning Rapid Access Neck 
Lump Clinic at Fiona Stanley Hospital.
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Championing Aboriginal 
Health 
In a first for a WA health service provider, 
SMHS launched the Aboriginal Health 
Champions (AHC) program in July 2018 
to improve health outcomes for Aboriginal 
patients. Developed by Aboriginal consumers 
and passionate SMHS staff across multiple 
disciplines, the program focuses on increasing 
the cultural competency of non-Aboriginal 
staff.

The AHCs walk side-by-side with the 
Aboriginal workforce to identify and implement 
culturally safe practices for Aboriginal 
consumers, their families/carers and 
support people, making ‘Aboriginal health 
everybody’s business’. This increases both 
the cultural competency levels of the SMHS 
workforce and its engagement with Aboriginal 
consumers.  

Feedback from the Aboriginal community 
indicates an appreciation that staff are 
being given the opportunity to interact with 
consumers to learn about the issues impacting 
on their health care experience. Aboriginal 
consumers felt ‘they are being heard’, which is 
helping build positive relationship with staff and 
increasing their own levels of empowerment.

The AHCs are identified by a special badge 
that features the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander flags and two hands. The badge 
represents the shared responsibility and 
strong partnerships needed to improve the 
experience Aboriginal patients.

In its first year 98 SMHS staff from across all 
disciplines – medical, nursing, allied health, 
executive and administration – have been 
nominated, trained and inducted into the 
program. These champions receive ongoing 
education, training and peer support from the 
SMHS Aboriginal Health Strategy team and 
Aboriginal community members.

Improving the patient 
experience
Delivering a positive experience offers 
multiple benefits to patients, and the recently 
developed SMHS Patient Experience 
Framework provides direction for the ongoing 
improvement of the patient experience and the 
delivery of compassionate care. 

The framework aims to deliver consistency in 
the collation and analysis of patient feedback, 
trending and identification of systemwide 
issues, as well as supporting the sharing of 
results and feedback with staff. The framework 
outlines SMHS’ approach to patient 
experience improvement including roles and 
responsibilities, governance, guiding principles, 
evaluation and reporting and priority areas for 
action identified.

In order to ensure the success of the 
framework, stakeholders from the community 
and within the health service are being 
engaged to participate in the development of 
an implementation plan. This plan will focus on 
approaches to improve service delivery and 
health outcomes for patients, their families and 
carers. 

Recognising the needs of 
people with disability
On International Day of People with Disability 
in December 2018, SMHS and the Disability 
Health Network (DHN) co-hosted an event to 
increase public awareness, understanding and 
acceptance of people with disability.

The event profiled the work undertaken by 
SMHS and DHN, celebrated achievements, 
revitalised efforts, and motivated staff to work 
together to improve service delivery and 
health outcomes for people with disability. It 
was also an opportunity to talk about how to 
breakdown physical and cultural barriers to 
ensure equal access for people with disability.

Approximately 80 people attending the event 
in person and a further 14 via videoconference 
were given an insight into how to collectively 
empower people with disability and embrace 
inclusiveness and equality by keynote 
speakers and passionate advocates.
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VIDEO

Visit our 2019 SMHS Excellence Awards  
video playlist at www.youtube.com – search  
‘south metropolitan health service’

Working towards 
providing a safer 
workplace
Workplace aggression and violence, 
manual tasks, and slips, trips and falls are 
the top reported staff incidents across 
the health service. To provide focus and 
direction to reduce the frequency and 
severity of these risks, SMHS developed 
the following strategies: 

 � SMHS Workplace Aggression 
and Violence Strategy focuses on 
determining and defining acceptable 
SMHS standards for managing 
workplace aggression and violence 
including duty of care, Code Black 
responsibilities, behaviour, criteria for 
escalation, sanctions, and support for 
staff.

 � SMHS Manual Tasks Strategy 
focusing on:

 z audit manual tasks procedure

 z consideration of viability for 
a SMHS-wide program for 
managing manual tasks such 
as participative ergonomics or 
manual tasks champion program

 z incorporating manual tasks 
consideration in workplace 
design.

 � SMHS Slips, Trips and Falls 
Strategy that focuses on:

 z audits

 z mapping of high risk departments 

 z communication to raise 
awareness of hot spot locations

 z incorporating manual tasks 
consideration in workplace 
design.

In developing these strategies, working 
groups consisting of subject matter 
experts, elected safety and health 
representatives and representatives from 
the various OSH committees, reviewed 
data to understand causation and identify 
priorities for controlling and managing 
these risks. 

Strategic priority: Engage, develop 
and provide opportunities for  
our workforce 
Winner of the SMHS Excellence Award for 
Excellence in Developing and Engaging 
Staff/Team

The tribe has spoken –  
unique education approach

A popular reality television program, Survivor, 
was the inspiration for an innovative staff 
engagement and clinical education program 
developed by Medical Imaging at FSH. The 
‘Survivor’ education program was introduced 
as a way to deliver relevant, high quality 
clinical education to a diverse group of more 
than 75 medical imaging technologists and 
students.

It is a challenge in busy 24/7 clinical 
environments for staff to incorporate 
additional clinical education and professional 
development into their schedules. 
Incorporating a popular culture theme 
encouraged staff to not only engage with 
the structured program, but to undertake 
additional professional development 
opportunities and share their learning 
experiences with others.

Games and challenges were used to improve 
staff engagement, productivity and learning. 
Clinical material was presented in a fun, 
interactive way using Survivor-style reward 
auctions, immunity idols and hidden clues, 
concluding with a final challenge to determine 
the 'sole survivor'.

Members of the award winning 'Survivor' 
education program, Fiona Stanley Hospital.
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VIDEO

Visit our 2019 SMHS Excellence Awards  
video playlist at www.youtube.com – search  
‘south metropolitan health service’

Partnering with GPs
Primary health providers are important 
stakeholders in the delivery of health care to 
the community. SMHS continues to engage 
with the WA Primary Health Alliance (WAPHA) 
and GPs on several initiatives:

 � The development of Health Pathways, 
a web-based portal with information on 
referral and management pathways, is 
helping GPs to navigate the complex 
primary, community and acute health 
care system in WA. In 2018/19, SMHS 
neurologists, rheumatologists, urologists 
and mental health clinicians have been 
engaged in working groups with GPs to 
develop and publish Health Pathways. 
More than 500 localised pathways were 
developed during the year and over  
1,500 GPs or primary care providers have 
accessed the system.

 � SMHS co-sponsored GP education events 
at FSH and in partnership with Perth 
Children’s Hospital (PCH). These events 
provided opportunities for GPs and FSH 
specialist staff to share information and 
build relationships to improve access to 
clinical support and care. Seventy one GPs 
attended the FSH event in May 2019 and 
more than 100 GPs attended the event at 
PCH. 

Strategic priority: Strengthen 
relationships with our 
community and partners 
Winner of the SMHS Excellence Award 
for Excellence in Strengthening 
Partnerships

Engaging with our consumers 
to strengthen services 

Consumer Advisory Groups (CAG) and 
Councils (CAC) at hospitals are important 
in connecting the health service to the 
community and to ensure there is a 
consumer voice in decision-making 
processes and activities. The CAG within 
FSH’s ED exemplifies how consumers can 
be involved to ensure services are meeting 
the health and wellbeing needs of the 
community. 

This group provides a platform for senior 
clinical staff and consumers to share ideas 
and information, and discuss problems 
and consider different approaches to 
patient care.

The ED CAG is particularly focused 
on enhancing the non-clinical factors 
that contribute to an improved patient 
experience in the ED. This focus has led 
to several initiatives that incorporate the 
perspective of patients as well as family 
members, friends and carers, whose 
support is critical in ensuring positive 
outcomes for patients.

Thanks to the ED CAG, the consumer 
voice and perspective is now evident in the 
department’s decision-making processes 
and firmly embedded in the planning and 
provision of care.

Members of the Fiona Stanley Hospital 
Emergency Department Consumer 
Advisory Group with Head of 
Department (left).

37

O
V

ER
V

IE
W

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLx2_lDXYPfIYMwoZHbqCndoUe0rhc3yOk


Visit our Open Days video playlist at 
www.youtube.com – search ‘south 
metropolitan health service’

VIDEO

More than 600 community members attended 
the Fiona Stanley Hospital Open Day. 
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Find all our lecture podcasts at 
www.southmetropolitan.health.
wa.gov.au/FionaWoodLectures

Public Lecture Series

PODCAST

Engaging the community 
through public open days
Opening SMHS hospitals to the public is a key 
community engagement strategy supported 
by the SMHS Board. The open days provide 
people with a unique opportunity to see 
‘behind the scenes’ areas not usually open 
to the public. The public could also meet the 
people who deliver the care and find out more 
about the services and programs provided.

On Saturday 17 November 2018, more 
than 200 people visited RGH, taking tours 
of the operating theatres, led by nurses 
and surgeons, and the outpatient clinics 
including chemotherapy, fracture clinic and 
the Day Therapy Unit. Displays throughout 
the hospital included highlights of research 
being undertaken at RGH and a gallery of 
photographs taken by clients of the RkPG 
Mental Health Service.

An estimated 600 people came along to the 
FSH Open Day on Sunday 19 May 2019. 
Tours of theatres, the Intensive Care Unit and 
the Angiography Suite were hugely popular  
as were the tours which showcased the 
logistics of running WA’s largest tertiary 
hospital. Members of the public also enjoyed 
a series of FSH short talks from medical, 
pharmacy and emergency response subject 
experts. 

Introducing the Fiona Wood Public Lecture Series
Named in honour of Professor Wood AM, the Fiona Wood Public Lecture Series provides a 
platform to share knowledge, inform and educate the community on health issues, and lead  
open discussion.

Professor Wood delivered the first lecture in the series in September 2018, which attracted  
an audience of more than 250 people. Subsequent lecture topics have included: 

 � Have a heart for your heart with FSH cardiothoracic surgeon Dr Nikki Stamp. 
 � Demystifying mental health: causes, treatment and recovery with  

Anthony Collier and Steve Batson from RkPG Mental Health service.
 � Gut health, delivered by FSH gastroenterologist  

Dr Oliver Waters – the most popular yet with an audience  
in excess of 300.

In total, more than 1,000 people from across the metropolitan area 
have attended the lecture series. To further increase the reach of 
the lectures, each presentation is recorded and made available as 
a podcast and a typed transcript on the SMHS website.

More than 200 people 
attended the Rockingham 
General Hospital Open Day.

39

O
V

ER
V

IE
W

https://ww2.health.wa.gov.au/About-us/South-Metropolitan-Health-Service/Involving-our-community/Fiona-Wood-Public-Lecture-Series


Kaartdijin brings 
innovation to the fore 
To be a health service of the future, to be 
transformational and daring, SMHS needs to 
look within to develop ground-breaking ways 
forward in the delivery of care. In May 2019, 
Kaartdijin – the SMHS innovation space – 
opened for new ideas.

Inspired by the Nyoongar phrase ‘Goombah 
Kaartdijin’ meaning Big Dreaming, Kaartdijin 
is a unique and distinctive space where 
SMHS intrapeneurs can escape the 
workplace, push boundaries and test ideas 
towards realising innovations back in the 
workplace. Staff are supported throughout 
the process by innovation, informatics and 
research and development staff. 

Several ideas have been pitched to the 
SMHS Innovation Pitch Panel are being 
supported by the innovation team through 
next steps. Some will be quick wins, some 
have a longer trajectory, but all are inspiring 
and demonstrate the exceptional passion, 
skill and knowledge within SMHS.

Creating an 
environmentally 
sustainable future 
With input from clinical and non-clinical 
staff, SMHS developed its Sustainability 
Framework to help drive opportunities to 
reduce its carbon footprint and work towards 
financial and environmental sustainability. 
This framework aligns with the SHR 
recommendations and the Chief Health 
Officer’s inquiry into the impacts of climate 
change on health in Western Australia.

Endorsed in April 2019, the framework is 
based on the Global Green and Healthy 
Hospitals (GGHH) Agenda. SMHS became 
members of the GGHH Network in May 
2019. Membership is global recognition 
of SMHS’ commitment to reduce the 
environmental impacts contributed by the 
healthcare sector and aligns SMHS with best 
practice approaches.

SMHS is initially focusing on four 
sustainability goals – leadership, chemicals, 
waste, and purchasing. This approach will 
assist in ensuring measurable and achievable 
implementation initiatives are progressed.

South Metropolitan Health Service Board 
Chair Rob McDonald and Chief Executive 
Paul Forden, Director General Department of 
Health Dr David Russell-Weisz and Minister 
for Health Roger Cook visit Kaartdijin. 
Turtles artwork by Nola Naylor.
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Visit our 2019 SMHS Excellence Awards video 
playlist at www.youtube.com  – search ‘south 
metropolitan health service’

VIDEO

Strategic priority: Achieve a 
productive and innovative 
organisation which is financially 
sustainable 
Winner of the SMHS Excellence Award 
for Excellence in Innovation 

Innovation at the forefront of 
quality care 

True productivity is achieved through 
solutions that are both innovative and 
financially sustainable. Across SMHS, 
teams are constantly assessing their 
resources and processes to improve 
productivity and quality of care.

One such team is the Rapid Access for 
Patient’s Imminent Delivery (RAPID) project 
group which is implementing a series 
of sustainable changes to improve the 
safety and quality of care given to women 
requiring an emergency caesarean section.

The project improved safety and quality 
outcomes through multiple channels, 
including implementing two new 
emergency response codes for emergency 
C-sections and creating a designated 
obstetrics bay in theatre with all required 
equipment. The project demonstrated 
efficiencies in staff time by streamlining 
and redesigning several processes that 
have now become embedded into normal 
practice.

Members of the award winning RAPID 
project, Rockingham General Hospital.
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Towards zero harm 
– year in review

113 
SAC1s 

2017/18

113 
SAC1s 

2018/19

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Total confirmed 116 84 108 113 113

Source: 
2014-15 to 2016-17 - SAC1 Annual Trend Report
2017-18 & 2018-19 - SMHS SAC1 Register

Note

by supporting the learning from clinical incidents and near misses, investigating errors to understand their causes, developing 
strategies to prevent recurrence, and sharing the lessons learned with staff so they recognise the value of reporting their 
concerns.
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 SMHS FHHS FSH RkPG PHC WA Benchmark ≤1.0 Natl. Benchmark ≤2.00
Oct–Dec 
2017 1.14 0.00 1.72 0.00 1.29 1.00 2.00
Jan–Mar 
2018 0.67 0.00 1.16 0.00 0.00 1.00 2.00
Apr–Jun 
2018 0.64 0.00 0.85 0.00 0.63 1.00 2.00
Jul–Sep 
2018 0.55 0.00 0.82 0.64 0.00 1.00 2.00
Oct–Dec 
2018 0.88 0.00 1.24 0.00 1.23 1.00 2.00
Jan–Mar 
2019 0.84 0.51 1.18 0.00 0.00 1.00 2.00

0.79

Graph for Infographic:

Source: 
SMHS Monthly SQ Dashboard
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Healthcare-associated infections

0.58 
average 

pressure 
injury rate 

July 2018 to 
March 2019

0.45 
average 

pressure 
injury rate 

2017/2018

SMHS FHHS FSH RkPG PHC Benchmark ≤0.73
Oct–Dec 
2017 0.41 0.67 0.49 0.08 0.12 0.73
Jan–Mar 
2018 0.45 0.35 0.6 0.16 0.25 0.73
Apr–Jun 
2018 0.47 0.11 0.7 0.08 0.42 0.73
Jul–Sep 
2018 0.52 0.26 0.78 0.23 0.17 0.73
Oct–Dec 
2018 0.67 0.6 0.77 0.32 0.41 0.73
Jan–Mar 
2019 0.54 0.52 0.73 0.17 0.25 0.73

0.51

Source: 
SMHS Monthly SQ Dashboard
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SMHS FH FSH RkPG PHC Benchmark ≤3.50
Oct–Dec 
2017 4.11 3.73 4.90 2.68 3.50 FALLS - Qtrly
Jan–Mar 
2018 4.27 4.19 4.39 5.77 2.77 3.50
Apr–Jun 
2018 3.98 4.80 4.15 4.18 2.33 3.50
Jul–Sep 
2018 4.17 5.17 4.12 4.06 3.32 3.50
Oct–Dec 
2018 4.66 7.34 4.11 4.22 3.91 3.50
Jan–Mar 
2019 3.87 6.35 3.18 4.95 2.90 3.50
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Graph for Infographic:

Source: 
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Counting what 
counts for patient 
safety

SMHS continues to establish a patient safety 
culture across the health service by striving to 
achieve zero-harm patient outcomes through 
the use of safety and quality systems, and 
implementing strategies that improve the 
reliability, safety and quality of health care 
provision. Building such a culture is reliant on 
effectively monitoring and measuring the safety 
and quality of services provided to patients 
and the community.

Actively managing patient 
safety and quality risks
Clinical incident management is an essential 
component of quality patient care and the 
towards zero harm approach at SMHS. 
SMHS acknowledges that serious clinical 
incidents may impact patients, their families 
and carers, and our staff in a variety of adverse 
ways. As such, SMHS remains committed to 
learning from clinical incidents and supporting 
families, carers and staff after the incident, 
especially through the investigation and open 
disclosure process. This process is undertaken 
in accordance with the WA Clinical Incident 
Management Policy and the WA Open 
Disclosure Policy Statement. 

A severity assessment code or SAC rating is 
applied to clinical incidents as an indicator of 
the actual or potential harm caused. SAC1 
clinical incidents are those where serious harm 
or death was, or could have been, caused 
by the health care provided, rather than the 
patient’s underlying condition or illness.  

There were 166 SAC1 clinical incidents notified 
within SMHS during 2018/19. At the time of 
reporting (1 July 2019), the investigation of 145 
incidents had been completed and 21 were in 
progress. 

Of the 145 clinical incidents investigated:

 � 113 cases were confirmed as SAC1 
clinical incidents

 � 32 were declassified after investigations 
determined the health care provided did 
not contribute to the patient’s outcome.

Of the 113 SAC1 clinical incidents where health 
care was found to be a contributing factor:

 � 19 were associated with a patient’s death
 � 40 with serious harm
 � 34 with minor to moderate harm
 � 20 with no harm.

For the 20 clinical incidents where no harm 
occurred, these were considered to have had 
the potential for serious harm and as such 
were investigated as SAC1 clinical incidents to 
prevent recurrence.

Measuring for patient safety
Clinical incidents are costly to patients, 
hospitals and the community as they may 
result in protracted hospital stays, slower 
recovery times, increased patient pain, stress 
and anxiety, and increased use of antibiotics 
or other therapies. While these clinical incident 
types can occur in any hospital setting, 
effective prevention and control strategies 
can significantly reduce their occurrence and 
improve patient outcomes.

Three of the most commonly reported clinical 
incident types are:

 � healthcare-associated infections
 � pressure injuries 
 � inpatient falls. 

NEWS 

www.southmetropolitan.health.wa.gov.au – search 
‘safety and quality of clinical care at SMHS’
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Graph 2: Quarterly rate of pressure injuries stage ≥2 per 1000 occupied 
bed-days by SMHS hospital, October 2017 to March 2019

Graph 3: Quarterly rate of falls per 1000 occupied bed-days by 
SMHS hospital, October 2017 to March 2019 
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 Graph 1: Quarterly healthcare-associated Staphylococcus aureus blood stream 
infections per 10,000 bed-days in SMHS hospitals, October 2017 to March 2019 
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Note: where no bar is shown for a hospital a rate of '0' was recorded for these periods.

Healthcare-associated 
infections
Healthcare-associated infections (HAIs) are 
one of the most common complications 
that affect patients whilst in hospital. For an 
infection to qualify as ‘healthcare-associated’ 
there must be no evidence it was present or 
developing at the time of hospital admission.

The nationally agreed benchmark is currently 
no more than 2.0 cases of healthcare-
associated Staphylococcus aureus 
bloodstream infections (HA-SABSI) per 10,000 
occupied bed-days. Occupied bed-days are 
the number of beds in a hospital occupied by 
patients each day. The WA health system has 
adopted a lower benchmark of less than or 
equal to 1.0 healthcare-associated SABSIs per 
10,000 occupied bed-days. 

To prevent, manage or control HAIs, each 
SMHS hospital participates in a statewide 
surveillance program which assists them to 
closely monitor infection rates and evaluate the 
effectiveness of the strategies used to prevent, 
treat and control HAIs. For the period October 
2017 to March 2019, the overall SMHS rate 
of HA-SABSI remained below both state and 
national benchmarks (refer to Graph 1).

Whilst these infection rates are often related to 
a small number of cases, when a HA-SABSI 
occurs in a SMHS hospital or when the HAI 
rate does not meet the agreed benchmark, a 
review is undertaken to identify the factors that 
contributed to both the individual case and the 
increased rate. Once these factors have been 
established actions are developed to address 
the issue(s). 

For example, in early 2019 two SMHS 
hospitals reviewed the care of a number of 
patients with HA-SABSI due to an elevated 
rate. Both hospitals identified that a number 
of cases involved invasive devices such as 
intravenous (IV) cannulas and indwelling urinary 
catheters. Reviews determined that for the 
majority of cases no clinical issues contributed 
to the incidents; however, in one case staff 
were unfamiliar with the new dressing being 
used and education was subsequently 
provided.

Pressure injuries 
Pressure injuries are localised injuries to the 
skin and/or underlying tissue, as a result of 
pressure, or pressure in combination with 
shear or friction factors. Although pressure 
injuries are largely preventable, it is recognised 
that they are potentially life threatening, often 
take a long time to heal and can cause severe 
pain. Consequently, pressure injuries adversely 
affect a patient’s rehabilitation, mobility and 
long-term quality of life. 

All SMHS patients are screened for pressure 
injuries on presentation to the emergency 
department and on admission to hospital. 
Patients are then risk assessed regularly 
throughout their admission to ensure pressure 
injury prevention strategies are in place 
and treatment is implemented as required. 
Pressure injury-related clinical incidents are 
reported for those pressure injuries that 
were not present on a patient’s admission 
to hospital and for those injuries that have 
deteriorated since the patient was admitted.
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Graph 2: Quarterly rate of pressure injuries stage ≥2 per 1000 occupied 
bed-days by SMHS hospital, October 2017 to March 2019

Graph 3: Quarterly rate of falls per 1000 occupied bed-days by 
SMHS hospital, October 2017 to March 2019 
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As there is no national or state agreed 
inpatient pressure injury rate benchmark, 
SMHS uses the ACHS annual peer rate (2015) 
of less than or equal to 0.73 inpatient pressure 
injuries per 1,000 occupied bed-days as the 
benchmark. The total SMHS rate of inpatient 
pressure injuries averaged 0.51 from October 
2017 to March 2019 which is below the 
agreed benchmark (refer to Graph 2).

The pressure injury rates for FSH increased 
to above the benchmark in the Jul–Sep 2018 
quarter and remained there for the following 
quarter. A review was undertaken in the 
unit where increased pressure injuries were 
reported and an action plan developed. Whilst 
the patients involved were at high risk for 
pressure injuries due to their critical conditions 
and immobility, a number of strategies were 
implemented to reduce and prevent such 
injuries. The pressure injury rate subsequently 
reduced in the Jan to Mar 2019 quarter and 
additional interventions are being considered 
to reduce this rate further.  

Falls
Falls are often caused by multiple risk factors, 
which  can vary across different settings, such 
as the community, hospitals and residential 
aged care. Different strategies can be put in 
place in each setting to reduce the risk of falls, 
based on the risk factors involved.

To prevent falls in hospitals, SMHS patients are 
assessed for the risk of a fall and the potential 
to be harmed from falls on presentation to 
the emergency department and on admission 
to hospital. A combination of falls prevention 

and harm minimisation strategies are used 
for those patients assessed as a falls risk. 
Patients and carers are also informed of the 
identified risks from falls and are encouraged 
to participate in the development of their falls 
prevention plan. A patient’s falls prevention 
plan is monitored regularly to ensure its 
effectiveness and appropriateness.

As there is no national or state agreed falls 
rate benchmark, SMHS uses the ACHS 
annual peer rate (2015) of ≤3.5 falls per 1,000 
occupied bed-days as the benchmark. The 
overall falls rate for SMHS has remained above 
the benchmark rate, with an average of 4.12 
patient falls per 1000 occupied bed-days from 
October 2017 to March 2019 (refer to Graph 
3). A review of the outcome of patient falls for 
this time period demonstrates that 97 per cent 
of falls had a patient outcome of no or minor 
harm.

When a falls rate does not meet the agreed 
benchmark, or a fall occurs which resulted in 
serious harm, a review is undertaken and falls 
prevention initiatives are implemented specific 
to the identified issues. For example, although 
FH remained above the benchmark for 
October 2017 to December 2018, the rate fell 
following the implementation of a number of 
actions between December 2018 and January 
2019. FH’s falls rate continues to be impacted 
by high numbers of falls in rehabilitation 
and gerontology wards, so additional work 
has been undertaken to identify any further 
causative factors and preventative measures 
that may address these.
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Graph 2: Quarterly rate of pressure injuries stage ≥2 per 1000 occupied 
bed-days by SMHS hospital, October 2017 to March 2019

Graph 3: Quarterly rate of falls per 1000 occupied bed-days by 
SMHS hospital, October 2017 to March 2019 
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 Graph 1: Quarterly healthcare-associated Staphylococcus aureus blood stream 
infections per 10,000 bed-days in SMHS hospitals, October 2017 to March 2019 
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Making patient experience 
feedback count
Understanding how patients experience care 
and services is essential. Feedback from 
patients, their families and carers provides 
SMHS with the opportunity to:

 � gain an understanding of the issues 
impacting on the patient experience

 � identify areas where there is 
underperformance and implement changes 
to improve

 � highlight positive experiences across the 
health service 

 � celebrate staff and departments working 
together to provide excellent care.

SMHS collects feedback from patients, carers 
and their families through:

 � the Patient Evaluation of Health Services 
(PEHS) survey conducted on randomly-
selected adult admitted patients, child 
admitted patients, adult emergency 
attendees and maternity patients

 � the Your Experience of Service (Yes) mental 
health patient experience survey

 � compliments and complaints, which are 
managed in accordance with the DoH 
Complaints Management Policy 2015

 � Patient Opinion, an online social media 
platform where consumers can share their 
experience, positive and negative, with our 
health services.

Analysis of the feedback data indicates 
the key health service-wide themes are 
communication, care, respect, and teamwork. 
SMHS aims to develop long-term solutions 
and initiatives across these themes to help 
improve the overall patient experience. 

Examples of where services have been 
improved at a local level as a result of patient, 
carer and family feedback include:

 � The introduction of a ‘distraction box’ 
in the FSH emergency department as 
a diversion for children and adults with 
autism, other intellectual disabilities and 
mental health issues whilst they wait to be 
assessed and treated.

 � Implementation of the ‘Emergency 
department – your journey’ project at 
RkPG following feedback received from 
patient experience surveys. The project 
aims to improve the information provided 
to patients to reduce their anxiety and 
increase their understanding of the journey 
through the ED. 

 � PHC adopting the 'Hello my name is…' 
program, which was introduced following 
feedback received from a family member 
of a patient who was concerned that staff 
did not introduce themselves. 
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Neonatal Unit, Rockingham General Hospital.
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To comply with its legislative obligation as 
a Western Australian government agency, 
SMHS operates under the Outcome Based 
Management (OBM) Framework determined 
by DoH. This framework describes how 
outcomes, services and key performance 
indicators (KPIs) are used to measure agency 
performance towards achieving the relevant 
overarching whole-of-government goals.  

This framework is underpinned  
by key principles of: 

Transparency: transparent reporting of 
performance against agreed outcome targets. 

Accountability: clearly defined roles and 
responsibilities to achieve agreed outcome 
targets. 

Recognition: acknowledgment of 
performance against agreed outcome targets. 

Consistency: consistent systems to support 
the achievement of agreed outcome targets. 

Integration: integrated systems and policies 
to support the achievement of agreed 
outcome targets. 

The 2018/19 KPIs measure the 
effectiveness and efficiency of SMHS 
in achieving the health outcomes of: 

Outcome one:  
public hospital-based services that enable 
effective treatment and restorative health care 
for Western Australians. 

SMHS activities that support outcome one:

1. Public hospital admitted services 

2. Public hospital emergency services 

3. Public hospital non-admitted services 

4. Mental health services. 

Outcome two:  
prevention, health promotion and aged 
continuing care services that help Western 
Australians to live healthy and safe lives. 

SMHS activities that support outcome two:

6. Public and community health services. 

The Figure 1 aligns the SMHS KPIs to the WA 
health system outcomes and WA Government 
goals. 

Performance against these activities and 
outcomes is summarised in the Summary of 
KPIs (page 53) and described in detail within 
the Disclosure and Compliance section  
(page 67) of this report. 

Changes to OBM Framework
DoH introduced a new OBM Framework, 
which came into effect in 2017/18.  
Implementation of this new framework resulted 
in the re-alignment of costs and KPIs between 
hospitals and non-hospital services. This 
framework remains in place in 2018/19. 

Shared responsibility with 
other agencies
Central to the success of SMHS in delivering 
health services is the ability to partner with 
others – government and non-government 
agencies. In delivering care SMHS works 
closely with DoH and other health service 
providers, plus various human service 
agencies.
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Figure 1:  Services delivered by SMHS to achieve outcomes

WA Government goal: Strong Communities – Safe communities 
and supported families.

WA Health agency goal: Delivery of safe, quality, financially sustainable  
and accountable healthcare for all Western Australians.

Outcome 1:  
Public hospital based services that enable effective treatment  
and restorative health care for Western Australians.

Outcome 2: 
Prevention, health 
promotion and aged 
and continuing care 
services that help Western 
Australians to live healthy 
and safe lives.

Key effectiveness  
indicators contributing to 
Outcome 1

Key efficiency 
indicators within 
Outcome 1

Key efficiency  
indicators within 
Outcome 2

 � Unplanned hospital readmissions of 
public hospital patients within 28 days 
for selected surgical procedures:(a) knee 
replacement; (b) hip replacement; (c) 
tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy; (d) 
hysterectomy; (e) prostatectomy;  
(f) cataract surgery; (g) appendicectomy

 � Percentage of elective wait list patients 
waiting over boundary for reportable 
procedures: (a) % Category 1 over  
30 days, (b) % Category 2 over 90 days, 
(c) % Category 3 over 365 days

 � Healthcare-associated Staphylococcus 
aureus bloodstream infections (HA-
SABSI) per 10,000 occupied bed-days

 � Survival rates for sentinel conditions

 � Percentage of admitted patients who 
discharged against medical advice: A) 
Aboriginal patients; and b) Non-Aboriginal 
patients

 � Percentage of live-born term infants with 
an Apgar score of less than 7 at  
5 minutes post delivery

 � Readmissions to acute specialised mental 
health inpatient services within 28 days of 
discharge

 � Percentage of post discharge community 
care within 7 days following discharge 
from acute specialised mental health 
inpatient services

 � Average admitted 
cost per weighted 
activity unit

 � Average Emergency 
Department cost per 
weighted activity unit

 � Average non-admitted 
cost per weighted 
activity unit

 � Average cost 
per bed-day in 
specialised mental 
health inpatient 
services

 � Average cost per 
treatment day of 
non-admitted care 
provided by public 
clinical mental health 
services

 � Average cost per person of 
delivering population health 
programs by population 
health units

Source: Extracted from Outcome Based Management (OBM) Policy 2018–19, 2018/19 OBM KPI Data Definition 
Manual and Addendum 2 OBM Framework.
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Pharmacy, Fremantle Hospital
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Financial targets

The total cost of SMHS providing health services in 2018/19 was $1.835 billion. Results for 2018/19 
against the initial financial estimates (based on Budget statements) are presented in Table 1.

Full details of SMHS’s financial performance during 2018/19 are provided in the financial statements 
(page 74).

Table 1: Financial results 2018/19

2018/19 estimates 
($ ‘000)

2018/19 actual 
($ ‘000)

Variation (+/-) 
($ ‘000)

Total cost of services 1,791,646  1,834,547 42,901 

Net cost of services 974,456  993,353 18,897 

Total equity 2,523,916 2,521,567 2,349 

Net increase/decrease in cash held 14,028 20,302 6,274 

Approved salary expense level 955,398 982,687  27,289 

Explanation

Total cost of services variation

There were several issues contributing to 
the $43 million variation in cost of services, 
and these largely relate to funding changes 
occurring after the 2018/19 estimate was 
developed. Typically these are for program 
funding not confirmed or provided at the 
time of developing the estimates, revisions to 
activity based funding (ABF) pricing or activity 
settings during the year, or adjustments to 
financial products due to revaluations. Specific 
examples in 2018/19 include recognition of 
higher pricing for delivering ABF services and 
the purchase of additional waitlist activity; late 
confirmation of funding for the spinal outreach 
program; additional support for the mental 
health program (revised activity and block 
funding); increases in the supply of antiviral 
drugs; late confirmation of the Commonwealth 
component of the aged care assessment 
program; increase in depreciation costs; and 
higher expenses from the asset investment 
program.

Net cost of service variation

The variance of $19 million, similar to the 
above, is due to the additional funding to/from 
Government sources to support the higher 
pricing for delivering the hospital services, 

transfer in of the spinal outreach program, 
increases in depreciation costs and higher 
expenses from the asset investment program.

Total equity variation

Total equity improved by $2 million. This is 
attributed to a net income surplus for the 
period and an improvement in the net asset 
position, being offset by a decrease in the 
asset revaluation reserve.

Net increase/decrease in cash held 
variation

The improvement in the cash balances by 
$6 million is due to increases in restricted cash 
balances and higher net receivables outcomes 
than was originally estimated.

Approved salary expense level 
variation

As described in the ‘Total cost of services 
variation’ section, the variance in the salary 
expenses of $27 million reflects the higher 
funding levels to support price increases in 
delivering hospital services; the spinal outreach 
program; the mental health program; and the 
aged care assessment program.
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Summary of key performance 
indicators 

A summary of SMHS key performance indicators and variations from the targets are given in 
Table 2. This is to be read in conjunction with the detailed information of each key performance 
indicator (page 122) found in the Disclosure and Compliance section of this report. 

Key performance indicators assist SMHS to assess and monitor the extent to which WA 
Government outcomes are being achieved:

 � Effectiveness indicators provide information that aid with assessment of the extent to 
which outcomes have been achieved through the resourcing and delivery of services to the 
community.

 � Efficiency indicators monitor the relationship between service delivery and the resources 
used to produce the service. 

Intensive Care Unit, Fiona Stanley Hospital
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Table 2: Summary of KPIs 2018/19

Calendar year

Key Performance Indicator (KPI)
 2018 

Target 
2018 

Actual Variation

Outcome 1: Public hospital based services that enable effective treatment and restorative healthcare 
for Western Australians.

Key Effectiveness Indicators

Unplanned hospital readmissions of patients within 28 days  
for selected surgical procedures: (a) knee replacement;  
(b) hip replacement; (c) tonsillectomy & adenoidectomy;  
(d) hysterectomy; (e) prostatectomy; (f) cataract surgery;  
(g) appendicectomy (represented as per 1,000 separations)

Knee replacement ≤  26.2  25.5  0.7 

Hip replacement ≤  17.2  18.3 -1.1 

Tonsillectomy & adenoidectomy ≤  61.0  109.4 -48.4 

Hysterectomy ≤  41.3  69.0 -27.7 

Prostatectomy ≤  38.8  40.2 -1.4 

Cataract surgery ≤  1.1  3.7 -2.6 

Appendicectomy ≤  32.8  26.0  6.8 

Healthcare-associated Staphylococcus aureus bloodstream 
infections (HA-SABSI) per 10,000 occupied bed-days

≤  1.0  0.7  0.3 

Survival rates for sentinel conditions

Survival rate for stroke, by age group

0–49 ≥ 94.4% 97.1% 2.7%

50–59 ≥ 93.3% 98.7% 5.4%

60–69 ≥ 92.9% 96.5% 3.6%

70–79 ≥ 90.0% 92.4% 2.4%

80 and above ≥ 82.2% 87.9% 5.7%

Survival rate for acute myocardial infarction, by age group

0–49 ≥ 99.1% 97.9% -1.2%

50–59 ≥ 98.9% 97.0% -1.9%

60–69 ≥ 98.0% 97.8% -0.2%

70–79 ≥ 96.3% 97.4% 1.1%

80 and above ≥ 91.9% 96.0% 4.1%

Survival rate for fractured neck of femur, by age group

70–79 ≥ 98.7% 99.1% 0.4%

80 and above ≥ 95.3% 98.3% 3.0%

Percentage of admitted patients who discharged against medical 
advice: a) Aboriginal patients; and b) Non-Aboriginal patients

Aboriginal ≤ 0.77% 2.73% -1.96%

Non-Aboriginal ≤ 0.77% 0.74% 0.03%

Percentage of live-born term infants with an Apgar score of less 
than 7 at 5 minutes post delivery

≤ 1.8% 1.4% 0.4%

Readmissions to acute specialised mental health inpatient 
services within 28 days of discharge

≤ 12% 19% -7%

Percentage of post-discharge community care within 7 days 
following discharge from acute specialised mental health 
inpatient services

≥ 75% 79% 4%
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Financial year

Key Performance Indicator (KPI)
 2018 

Target 
2018 

Actual Variation

Outcome 1: Public hospital based services that enable effective treatment and restorative healthcare 
for Western Australians.

Key Effectiveness Indicators

Percentage of elective wait list patients waiting over 
boundary for reportable procedures (a) % Category 1 over 
30 days (b) % Category 2 over 90 days (c) % Category 3 
over 365 days

Urgency Category 1 0.0% 17.6% -17.6%

Urgency Category 2 0.0% 16.4% -16.4%

Urgency Category 3 0.0% 2.9% -2.9%

Key Efficiency Indicators

Average admitted cost per weighted activity unit ≤ $6,948 $7,056 -$108

Average Emergency Department cost per weighted activity 
unit

≤ $7,072 $6,427 $645

Average non-admitted cost per weighted activity unit ≤ $7,136 $7,028 $108

Average cost per bed-day in specialised mental health 
inpatient services

≤ $1,523 $1,590 -$67

Average cost per treatment day of non-admitted care 
provided by mental health services

≤ $535 $500 $35

Outcome 2: Prevention, health promotion and aged and continuing care services that help Western 
Australians to live healthy and safe lives.

Key Efficiency Indicators

Average cost per person of delivering population health 
programs by population health units

≤ $15 $17 -$2
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Emergency Department, Rockingham General Hospital
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Emergency department  
access performance

Emergency departments are specialist 
multidisciplinary units with expertise in 
providing health care to acutely unwell  
patients in their first few hours in hospital.  
With the increasing demand on EDs and 
health services, it is essential the provision 
of health services is continually monitored to 
ensure the effective and efficient delivery of 
safe high-quality care. This in turn can enable 
the development of improvement strategies 
to ensure optimal service delivery and patient 
outcomes.

When patients first enter an ED they are 
assessed on how urgently treatment should 
be provided. A patient is allocated a triage 
category between 1 (immediate) and 5 (least 
urgent). Treatment should commence within 
the recommended time of the triage category 

allocated (refer to Table 3). The aim of this 
process is to ensure treatment is given in the 
appropriate time to prevent adverse outcomes 
arising from deterioration in the patient’s 
condition.  

SMHS hospitals strive to treat all ED patients 
within the recommended period (refer to Table 
4). In 2018/19 SMHS hospitals achieved 
target for triage categories one and five. It is 
recognised that SMHS hospitals did not meet 
the recommended times for the remaining 
categories. 

For further information on SMHS improvement 
programs and SMHS hospital performance 
against the WEAT please refer to the 
Significant Issues section (page 62).

Table 3: Triage category, treatment acuity and WA performance targets

Triage 
category Description Treatment acuity Target

1 Immediate life-threatening Immediate (≤2 minutes) 100%

2 Imminently life-threatening ≤10 minutes ≥80%

3
Potentially life-threatening or important time-critical 
treatment or severe pain

≤30 minutes ≥75%

4
Potentially life-serious or situational urgency or significant 
complexity

≤60 minutes ≥70%

5 Less urgent ≤120 minutes ≥70%

Note: The triage process and scores are recognised by the Australasian College for Emergency Medicine. 

Table 4: Percentage of SMHS emergency department patients seen within  
recommended times, by triage category, 2018/19

Tr
ia

ge
 

1 

Tr
ia

ge
 2

 

Tr
ia

ge
 3

 

Tr
ia

ge
 4

 

Tr
ia

ge
 5

 

Fiona Stanley Hospital 100.0% 69.3% 24.3% 49.4% 85.2%

Rockingham General Hospital 100.0% 82.1% 42.3% 61.8% 90.0%

Peel Health Campus 100.0% 67.3% 37.0% 53.4% 90.8%

SMHS total 100.0% 72.1% 31.7% 53.9% 87.5%

Data source: Emergency department data collection
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Patient Support Services, Rockingham General Hospital
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Significant 
issues
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Si
g

n
ifi

ca
n

t 
is

su
es The SMHS population is estimated at 

approximately 647,574 in 2018, representing 
25 per cent of WA's population. This 
population is projected to increase by 2 
per cent per year from 2018 to 2028, with 
the highest population growth projected in 
Rockingham of 3.3 per cent per year followed 
by the Peel/Mandurah area at 2.7 per cent per 
year.

Older adults are typically higher users of 
health services as many health conditions 
become more prevalent with age. The SMHS 
population is ageing, with the projected 
population of older adults aged 65 year or over 
growing at a faster rate – 3.9 per cent per year 
– than people under 65, which will grow at 1.7 
per cent per year. The Peel/Mandurah area 
has the highest proportion of residents aged 
65 years and over accounting for 21 per cent 
of the total Peel/Mandurah population. 

The overall socio-economic status of the 
SMHS population is similar to rest of WA; 
however, there are areas of high disadvantage 
within the region including Kwinana, 
Mandurah, Murray and Waroona.

Leading causes of death in SMHS are 
cardiovascular disease, various cancers and 
stroke. 

The main lifestyle factors associated with 
poor health outcomes are being overweight 
or obese, smoking (including past history of 
smoking), excessive alcohol consumption, 
poor nutrition and insufficient physical activity. 
These behavioural risk factors contribute to 
high blood pressure, high cholesterol and a 
range of chronic diseases. 

The major impacts likely to effect future service 
demand within SMHS are population growth, 
population ageing, increasing incidence of 
preventable lifestyle diseases and mental 
health conditions, and rising community 
expectations. To address these impacts SMHS 
needs to:

 � keep the community well and out of 
hospital through population-based 
prevention programs

 � manage the increasing demand for 
services within existing resources through 
efficient and effective hospital systems 
and integrating care between acute and 
primary care services

 � identify and leverage, where appropriate, 
new treatments and broader changes to 
health policy and legislation.

Elective surgery

Hospitals across Australia actively manage 
waitlists to provide patients with timely and 
appropriate access to elective surgery. A 
person requiring elective surgery is prioritised 
based on their assigned clinical urgency 
category: 

 � Category 1 – urgent: procedures that are 
clinically indicated within 30 days

 � Category 2 – semi-urgent: procedures 
that are clinically indicated within 90 days

 � Category 3 – non-urgent: procedures 
that are clinically indicated within 365 days.

SMHS endeavours to meet the clinically 
recommended times for elective surgery as it 
understands and acknowledges that delays 
have the potential to impact a patient’s quality 
of life and surgical outcomes. 

A patient who has been waiting more than the 
recommended timeframe in one of the three 
clinical urgency categories is defined as over 
boundary. 

In 2017/18 SMHS commenced a project to 
reduce over boundary waitlisted cases and 
over a two year period significant progress 
has been made. At the end of June 2019, 
a total of 7,765 ready for care (RFC) cases 
were waitlisted to receive an elective surgical 
procedure at a SMHS hospital. Of this total, 
492 or 6.3 per cent were over boundary (refer 
to Graph 5).

A key focus in 2018/19 (and ongoing) was 
on Category 1 over boundary case reduction 
(refer to Graph 5).
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Note: Data captures RFC cases only.
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Graph 4: Over boundary cases as a percentage of total SMHS waitlist 

Graph 5: Over boundary cases by urgency 

Graph 6: 2018/19 Monthly WEAT performance 
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Graph 4: Over boundary cases as a percentage of total SMHS waitlist 

Graph 5: Over boundary cases by urgency 

Graph 6: 2018/19 Monthly WEAT performance 

Note: The data reflects both reportable and 
non-reportable procedures.

A significant reduction of over boundary 
elective surgery waitlist cases achieved at 
RGH in 2017/18 has been consolidated, with 
close to zero over boundary cases recorded 
across the majority of weeks in 2018/19. 
This provided SMHS with greater flexibility to 
service its catchment by allowing the transfer 
of some cases from other sites to RGH to 
provide more timely service overall.

The commencement of plastic surgery 
services at RGH in February 2019, providing 
low to medium complexity surgery including 
a significant number of skin cancer surgeries, 
has resulted in a reduction of the overall 
number of over boundary cases from 120 at 
30 June 2018 to 67 at 30 June 2019. This 
result includes the reduction of the number of 
over boundary category 1 cases from 38 to 
zero by 30 June 2019. This change in service 
delivery has enabled patients with urgent 
plastic surgery procedural needs to receive 
their surgery sooner. 

A further success during the year for  
SMHS has been the reduction of urology over 
boundary cases from 207 to 62, including 
reducing the over boundary category 1 cases 
from 74 to 7 at 30 June 2019. This result 
follows the reconfiguration of the SMHS 
urology service. Under the new model, 
services are distributed across FSH, FH and 
RGH with:

 � complex services, oncology, spinal and 
robotics at FSH

 � high volume, low to moderate complexity 
procedures at FH

 � diagnostic and some low complexity 
procedures at RGH. 

SMHS will continue to focus on reducing 
over boundary cases across all categories in 
2019/20. 
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Emergency access

Managing demand for emergency care 
continues to be an area of focus for the health 
service. Almost 212,000 people presented to 
the three emergency departments within the 
south metropolitan region during the year. This 
is close to 7,000 more people seen than for 
the 2017/18 period. Fifty two per cent of these 
presentations were seen at FSH and 79 per 
cent were triage two and three patients (refer 
to Table 5). 

Managing wait times in EDs at FSH, RGH 
and PHC is critical. Throughout 2018/19, 
SMHS hospitals continued to focus on the 
entire patient journey, from the ED to the 
wards through to discharge, to improve WEAT 
performance. 

Overall, SMHS performance remained below 
the 90 per cent emergency target; however, 
the trend shows improvements over the year 
(refer to Graph 6) due to a significant program 
of work implemented at all sites.

At FSFHG, the continuous improvement 
program was supported and driven by a WEAT 
Program Board consisting of key clinical and 
executive staff committed to improving the 
experience of emergency care. Key initiatives 
implemented included the establishment of 
a Frailty Assessment Unit; expanded scope 
for the Ambulatory Care Unit (AMAC); and 
implementation of Consider Home Over 
Inpatient Care Everytime (CHOICE), which 
aims to minimise hospital stay and maximise 
a patient's independence with care at home, 
wherever possible. 

RGH’s WEAT performance, supported by the 
Patient Flow Committee, was driven with the 
implementation of the discharge stream in the 
fast track area of the ED.  In addition a review 
of the Urgent Care Clinic (UCC) recognised 
there was capacity to increase the scope of 
the types of patient cohorts that could be 
referred to the clinic, and the addition of a 
further nurse helped with ‘pulling’ patients from 
ED to the UCC. This work resulted in RGH’s 
high performance across the year including 
several months above 80 per cent.

PHC’s WEAT performance continues to be in 
the mid to high 60 per cent. During the year, 
PHC continually reviewed its processes in 
an effort to improve performance. A number 
of strategies were introduced as a result, 
including the establishment of a new team 
based model of care in the ED and improved 
early discharge planning which resulted in 
PHC having a high ‘discharge by 10am’ rate. 
PHC has also created additional short stay 
admission capacity, which helped with patient 
flow. 

In September 2018, the WA Government 
announced a $5 million investment to upgrade 
the PHC ED. The project will ensure PHC 
remains in a strong position to deliver hospital 
emergency services to the Peel region and is 
able to respond to the needs of the growing 
local community. 

Table 5:  ED presentations by triage category.

Hospital
Presentations by triage

Total
1 2 3 4 5

Fiona Stanley 
Hospital

1,356 18,844 41,239 43,616 6,299 111,354
1% 17% 37% 39% 6%

Rockingham 
General Hospital

339 7,769 21,096 25,682 2,397 57,283
Less than 1% 14% 37% 45% 4%

Peel Health 
Campus

196 5,137 14,107 21,264 2,548 43,252
Less than 1% 12% 33% 49% 6%

SMHS total
1,891 31,750 76,442 90,562 11,244 211,889

1% 15% 36% 43% 5% 100%

Note: The percentages above have been rounded to the fullest number. 
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Graph 5: Over boundary cases by urgency 

Graph 6: 2018/19 Monthly WEAT performance 

Designed to improve patient flow and provide 
greater privacy, the PHC upgrades will include:  

 � a new fast-track patient triage zone
 � a redesigned and refurbished waiting room
 � new holding bays
 � reconfiguration of the existing triage area.

Access to emergency care was impacted in 
May 2019 with an earlier onset of the influenza 
illness season than in previous years. There 
was a significant increase in the number of 
people attending EDs with flu-like symptoms; 
however, RGH and FSH, overall, continued to 
perform above 70 per cent WEAT. 

Outpatient reform

Significant reform in the delivery of health 
services in recent years has focused on 
emergency demand, hospital admissions and 
elective surgery access; however, reform is 
also required of public outpatient services 
as demand continues to grow. The SHR 
final report identified a number of issues that 
impact on the delivery of outpatient services 
and opportunities to improve access to care, 
including the introduction of innovative and 
contemporary models of care such as the use 
of telehealth/digital health.

Late in 2018/19 SMHS committed to 
comprehensively review outpatient services 
with the aim of ensuring timely and equitable 
access in accordance with DoH policy, clinical 
need and urgency priority. 

The focus will be on four work streams 
targeting processes and service redesign: 

 � demand including existing over-boundary 
referrals 

 � access to specialist services including 
nursing and allied health 

 � operational processes and efficiencies 
 � developing and implementing effective and 

efficient service models.

Telehealth consultation, Fiona Stanley Hospital

NEWS 

Read more at www.southmetropolitan.health.wa.gov.au 
– search ‘information for GPs referring to SMHS’ 63
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Rehabilitation in the Home (RITH),  
South Metropolitan Health Service
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Post Anaesthetic Care Unit,  
Rockingham General Hospital

66



Disclosure and 
compliance

67



A
u

d
it

 o
p

in
io

n

68

D
IS

C
LO

SU
R

E 
A

N
D

 C
O

M
P

LI
A

N
C

E



69

D
IS

C
LO

SU
R

E 
A

N
D

 C
O

M
P

LI
A

N
C

E



70

D
IS

C
LO

SU
R

E 
A

N
D

 C
O

M
P

LI
A

N
C

E



71

D
IS

C
LO

SU
R

E 
A

N
D

 C
O

M
P

LI
A

N
C

E



Emergency Department, Rockingham General Hospital
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Certification of financial statements

SOUTH METROPOLITAN HEALTH SERVICE 
CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR  
ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

The accompanying financial statements of South Metropolitan Health Service have been prepared 
in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and 
records to present fairly the financial transactions for the reporting period ended 30 June 2019 and 
the financial position as at 30 June 2019.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Mr Rob McDonald 
Chair 
South Metropolitan  
Health Service Board 
16 September 2019

Mr David Rowe 
Board Member 
South Metropolitan  
Health Service Board 
16 September 2019

Mr Mark Cawthorne 
Chief Finance Officer 
South Metropolitan  
Health Service 
16 September 2019
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ts South Metropolitan Health Service

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Restated
Note 2019 2018

$000 $000
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense 3.1 (a) 982,687 956,808 (a)

Fees for visiting medical practitioners 13,222 11,888
Contracts for services 3.3 137,350 140,411
Patient support costs 3.2 357,318 351,346
Finance costs 7.3 7,680 10,516
Depreciation and amortisation expense 5.1.1, 5.2.1 102,557 106,176
Asset revaluation decrement 9.11 (54) 2,990
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 4.7 176 240
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment 3.4 51,399 49,479
Other supplies and services 3.5 58,764 57,067
Other expenses 3.6 123,448 129,362

Total cost of services 1,834,547 1,816,283 (a)

INCOME
Revenue

Patient charges 4.2 100,542 93,073
Other fees for services 4.3 69,531 70,227
Commonwealth grants and contributions 4.4(i) 558,872 547,686
Other grants and contributions 4.4(ii) 93,783 91,657
Donation revenue 4.6 101 608
Interest revenue 10 9
Commercial activities 4.5 87 -
Other revenue 4.6 18,268 12,099

Total revenue 841,194 815,359

Total income other than income from State Government 841,194 815,359

NET COST OF SERVICES 993,353 1,000,924 (a)

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations 4.1 939,678 914,400
Assets (transferred)/assumed 4.1 16 33
Services received free of charge 4.1 71,301 76,557

Total income from State Government 1,010,995 990,990

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 17,642 (9,934) (a)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation reserve 9.11 (26,439) 30,736
Total other comprehensive income (26,439) 30,736

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (8,797) 20,802 (a)

Refer also to note 2.2 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'.
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

(a) Restated amounts for 2018 financial year. See note 9.2 Prior years' restatements.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2019

Restated
Note 2019 2018

$000 $000
ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7.4 33,888 19,353
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 7.4 11,755 9,688
Receivables 6.1 61,997 53,284
Inventories 6.3 5,270 5,208
Other current assets 6.4 4,664 4,949

Total Current Assets 117,574 92,482

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 7.4 10,848 7,148
Amounts receivable for services 6.2 827,859 723,685
Property, plant and equipment 5.1 2,005,520 2,093,730
Intangible assets 5.2 27,064 23,709

Total Non-Current Assets 2,871,291 2,848,272

Total Assets 2,988,865 2,940,754

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 6.5 104,821 92,996
Borrowings 7.1 40,946 52,894
Provisions 3.1 (b) 188,478 177,765 (a)

Other current liabilities 6.6 274 283
Total Current Liabilities 334,519 323,938 (a)

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 7.1 77,046 117,993
Provisions 3.1 (b) 55,733 48,609

Total Non-Current Liabilities 132,779 166,602

Total Liabilities 467,298 490,540 (a)

NET ASSETS 2,521,567 2,450,214 (a)

EQUITY
Contributed equity 9.11 2,433,935 2,353,568
Reserves 9.11 64,882 91,321
Accumulated surplus 9.11 22,750 5,325 (a)

TOTAL EQUITY 2,521,567 2,450,214 (a)

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

(a) Restated amounts for 2018 financial year. See note 9.2 Prior years' restatements.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Restated
     Note 2019 2018

$000 $000
CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 9.11

2,353,568 2,308,640

80,960 65,628
(256) (27)
(337) (20,673)

2,433,935 2,353,568

9.11

91,321 60,585
(26,439) 30,736
64,882 91,321

9.11

5,325 15,259
9.3 (217) -  

17,642 (9,934) (a)

22,750 5,325 (a)

2,450,214 2,384,484
Remeasurement under AASB 9 9.3 (217) -  

(8,797) 20,802 (a)

80,367 44,928
2,521,567 2,450,214 (a)

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

(a) Restated amounts for 2018 financial year. See note 9.2 Prior years' restatements.

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

Balance at start of period
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Other contributions by owners
Distributions to owners
Balance at end of period

RESERVES
Asset Revaluation Reserve
Balance at start of period
Other Comprehensive income
Balance at end of period

Balance at end of period

Balance at start of period

Surplus/(deficit) for the period
Balance at end of period

TOTAL EQUITY
Balance at start of period

Total comprehensive income for the period
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners

Remeasurement under AASB 9
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2019 2018
$000 $000

Inflows Inflows
(Outflows) (Outflows)

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
 Service appropriations 835,361 801,284
 Capital appropriations 78,214 45,250

Net cash provided by State Government 7.4.2 913,575 846,534

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

 Employee benefits (961,667) (940,689)
 Supplies and services (657,388) (662,204)
 GST payments on purchases (1,033) (1,150)

Receipts
 Receipts from customers 91,810 85,555
 Commonwealth grants and contributions 558,872 547,686
 Other grants and contributions 93,783 91,657
 Donations received 56 275
 Interest received 10 9
 Other receipts 84,756 86,916

Net cash used in operating activities 7.4.2 (790,801) (791,945)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments

(44,766) (6,738)

Receipts
 Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets (15) 87

Net cash used in investing activities (44,781) (6,651)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Repayment of finance lease liabilities (57,691) (67,863)
Net cash used in financing activities (57,691) (67,863)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 20,302 (19,925)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 36,189 56,114

7.4.1 56,491 36,189

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Payment for purchase of non-current physical and intangible 
assets

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

1. Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with: 

1) The Financial Management Act 2006  (FMA)
2) The Treasurer's Instructions (the Instructions or TI)
3) Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) including applicable interpretations
4) Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for not-for-profits entities have been applied. 

Basis of preparation

Judgements and estimates

Contributed equity

The Health Service is a WA Government entity and is controlled by the State of Western Australia, which is the ultimate parent. The entity is a not-
for-profit entity.

A description of the nature of its operations and its principle activities have been included in the 'Overview' which does not form part of these
financial statements.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer's Instructions take precedence over AAS. Several AAS are modified by the Instructions to
vary application, disclosure format and wording. Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the
reported results details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual basis of accounting and using the historical cost convention.
Certain balances will apply different measurement basis (such as fair value basis). Where this is the case the different measurement basis is
disclosed in the associated note. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000).

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information being presented. The significant judgements and
estimates made in the preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts effected by those judgements and/or
estimates are disclosed. Estimates and associated assumptions are based on the professional judgements derived from historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities ’ requires transfers in the nature of equity
contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as
contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior, to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations
have been designated as contributions by owners by Treasurer's Instruction 955 ‘Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector
Entities ’ and have been credited directly to Contributed equity.

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as
contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. 

The annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable Authority of the Health Service on 16 September 2019.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2. Health Service outputs

Notes
Health Service objectives 2.1
Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service 2.2

2.1 Health Service objectives

Services

Public Hospital Admitted Patient

Public Hospital Emergency Services

Public Hospital Non-Admitted Services

Mental Health Services

Aged and Continuing Care Services

Public and Community Health Services

The provision of aged and continuing care services and community based palliative care services. Aged and continuing care services include
programs that assess the care needs of older people, provide functional interim care or support for older, frail, aged and younger people with
disabilities to continue living independently in the community and maintain independence, inclusive of the services provided by the WA Quadriplegic
Centre. Aged and Continuing Care Services is inclusive of community based palliative care services that are delivered by private facilities under
contract to the WA health system, which focus on the prevention and relief of suffering, quality of life and the choice of care close to home for
patients.

This section includes information regarding the nature of funding the Health Service receives and how this funding is utilised to achieve the Health
Service's objectives:

The provision of health care services to patients in metropolitan and major rural hospitals that meet the criteria for admission and receive treatment
and/or care for a period of time, including public patients treated in private facilities under contract to WA Health. Admission to hospital and the
treatment provided may include access to acute and/or sub-acute inpatient services, as well as hospital in the home services. Public Hospital
Admitted Services includes teaching, training and research activities provided by the public health service to facilitate development of skills and
acquisition or advancement of knowledge related to admitted services. This service does not include any component of the Mental Health Services
reported under ‘Service 4 - Mental Health Services’.

To comply with its legislative obligation as a WA Government agency, the Health Service operates under an Outcome Based Management
framework (OBM). The OBM framework is determined by WA Health and replaces the former activity based costing framework for annual reporting
from 2017-18 and beyond. This framework describes how outcomes, activities, services and key performance indicators (KPIs) are used to
measure agency performance towards achieving the relevant overarching whole of government goal of strong communities, safe communities and
supported families and the WA health system agency goal of delivery of safe, quality, financially sustainable and accountable healthcare for all
Western Australians. 

The provision of health care services and programs delivered to increase optimal health and wellbeing, encourage healthy lifestyles, reduce the
onset of disease and disability, reduce the risk of long-term illness as well as detect, protect and monitor the incidence of disease in the population.
Public and Community Health Services includes public health programs, Aboriginal health programs, disaster management, environmental health,
the provision of grants to non-government organisations for public and community health purposes, emergency road and air ambulance services,
services to assist rural-based patients travel to receive care, and state-wide pathology services provided to external Western Australian agencies.

The six key services of the Health Service under the OBM framework are listed below.

The provision of services for the treatment of patients in emergency departments of metropolitan and major rural hospitals, inclusive of public
patients treated in private facilities under contract to WA Health. The services provided to patients are specifically designed to provide emergency
care, including a range of pre-admission, post-acute and other specialist medical, allied health, nursing and ancillary services. Public Hospital
Emergency Services includes teaching, training and research activities provided by the public health service to facilitate development of skills and
acquisition or advancement of knowledge related to emergency services. This service does not include any component of the Mental Health
Services reported under ‘Service 4 - Mental Health Services’. 

The provision of metropolitan and major rural hospital services to patients who do not undergo a formal admission process, inclusive of public
patients treated by private facilities under contract to WA Health. This service includes services provided to patients in outpatient clinics, community-
based clinics or in the home, procedures, medical consultation, allied health or treatment provided by clinical nurse specialists. Public Hospital Non-
Admitted Services includes teaching, training and research activities provided by the public health service to facilitate development of skills and
acquisition or advancement of knowledge related to non-admitted services. This service does not include any component of the Mental Health
Services reported under ‘Service 4 - Mental Health Services’.

The provision of inpatient services where an admitted patient occupies a bed in a designated mental health facility or a designated mental health
unit in a hospital setting; and the provision of non-admitted services inclusive of community and ambulatory specialised mental health programs
such as prevention and promotion, community support services, community treatment services, community bed-based services and forensic
services. This service includes the provision of state-wide mental health services such as perinatal mental health and eating disorder outreach
programs as well as the provision of assessment, treatment, management, care or rehabilitation of persons experiencing alcohol or other drug use
problems or co-occurring health issues. Mental Health Services includes teaching, training and research activities provided by the public health
service to facilitate development of skills and acquisition or advancement of knowledge related to mental health or alcohol and drug services. This
service includes public patients treated in private facilities under contract to WA Health.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2.2 Schedule of income and expenses by 
service

Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES 
Expenses

611,638 608,456 (a) 93,955 84,064 (a) 136,638 129,589 (a) 113,121 113,002 8,412 7,867 (a) 18,923 13,829 (a) 982,687 956,808 (a)

9,300 8,379 1,429 1,158 2,077 1,784 - 269 128 108 288 190 13,222 11,888
96,606 101,240 14,840 13,987 21,581 21,563 5 11 1,329 1,309 2,989 2,301 137,350 140,411

245,905 247,917 37,594 34,258 54,969 53,288 8,512 7,571 3,181 3,014 7,157 5,298 357,318 351,346
5,154 7,563 792 1,045 1,152 1,611 352 27 71 98 159 172 7,680 10,516

66,607 73,209 8,808 7,010 15,173 16,486 5,189 8,977 1,849 198 4,931 296 102,557 106,176
(38) 2,156 (6) 298 (8) 459 - - (1) 28 (1) 49 (54) 2,990
124 173 19 24 27 37 - - 2 2 4 4 176 240

34,598 35,125 5,315 4,853 7,729 7,481 2,212 768 475 454 1,070 798 51,399 49,479
41,334 41,150 6,349 5,685 9,234 8,764 - - 568 532 1,279 936 58,764 57,067

Employee benefits expense
Fees for visiting medical practitioners
Contracts for services
Patient support costs
Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Asset revaluation decrement
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment 
Other supplies and services
Other expenses

84,018 87,656 12,453 12,126 18,927 19,810 5,597 6,557 750 1,249 1,703 1,964 123,448 129,362
Total cost of services 1,195,246 1,213,024 

(a)
181,548 164,507 (a) 267,499 260,873 (a) 134,988 137,182 16,764 14,860 (a) 38,502 25,837 (a) 1,834,547 1,816,282 

(a)
Income

70,720 67,113 10,863 9,272 15,798 14,294 - - 973 868 2,188 1,526 100,542 93,073
48,907 50,640 7,513 6,996 10,926 10,785 - - 672 655 1,513 1,151 69,531 70,227

371,227 371,768 57,026 51,364 82,931 79,179 31,098 32,118 5,105 4,807 11,485 8,450 558,872 547,686
1,388 1,524 213 211 310 325 91,810 89,544 19 19 43 34 93,783 91,657

71 438 11 61 16 93 - - 1 6 2 10 101 608
7 7 1 1 2 1 - - 0 - 0 - 10 9

61 - 9 - 14 - - - 1 - 2 - 87 -

Patient charges
Other fees for services
Commonwealth grants and contributions 
Other grants and contributions Donation
revenue
Interest revenue
Commercial activities
Other revenue

12,849 8,724 1,974 1,205 2,870 1,858 - - 177 113 398 199 18,268 12,099
505,230 500,214 77,610 69,110 112,867 106,535 122,908 121,662 6,948 6,468 15,631 11,370 841,194 815,359

690,016 712,810 (a) 103,938 95,397 (a) 154,632 154,338 (a) 12,080 15,520 9,816 8,391 (a) 22,871 14,467 (a) 993,353 1,000,923 
(a)

Total income other than income from State Government 
NET COST OF SERVICES
INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

657,303 652,886 100,970 90,203 146,840 139,051 5,189 8,977 9,040 8,443 20,336 14,840 939,678 914,400
12 24 2 3 2 5 - - 0 - 0 1 16 33

Service appropriations
Assets (transferred)/assumed 
Services received free of charge 45,358 50,432 6,968 6,968 10,132 10,741 6,816 6,618 624 652 1,403 1,146 71,301 76,557

702,673 703,342 107,940 97,174 156,974 149,797 12,005 15,595 9,664 9,095 21,739 15,987 1,010,995 990,990Total income from State Government 
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 12,657 (9,468) (a) 4,002 1,776 (a) 2,342 (4,541) (a) (75) 75 (153) 704 (a) (1,132) 1,519 (a) 17,642 (9,934) (a)

(a) Restated amounts for 2018 financial year. See note 9.2 Prior years' 
restatements.

Public Hospital
Admitted
Patient

Public Hospital 
Emergency Services

Public Hospital Non-
Admitted Services

Mental Health
Servic

es

Public and Community 
Health Services

TotalAged and Continuing 
Care Services

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2.2 Schedule of income and expenses by 
service

Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES 
Expenses

611,638 608,456 (a) 93,955 84,064 (a) 136,638 129,589 (a) 113,121 113,002 8,412 7,867 (a) 18,923 13,829 (a) 982,687 956,808 (a)

9,300 8,379 1,429 1,158 2,077 1,784 - 269 128 108 288 190 13,222 11,888
96,606 101,240 14,840 13,987 21,581 21,563 5 11 1,329 1,309 2,989 2,301 137,350 140,411

245,905 247,917 37,594 34,258 54,969 53,288 8,512 7,571 3,181 3,014 7,157 5,298 357,318 351,346
5,154 7,563 792 1,045 1,152 1,611 352 27 71 98 159 172 7,680 10,516

66,607 73,209 8,808 7,010 15,173 16,486 5,189 8,977 1,849 198 4,931 296 102,557 106,176
(38) 2,156 (6) 298 (8) 459 - - (1) 28 (1) 49 (54) 2,990
124 173 19 24 27 37 - - 2 2 4 4 176 240

34,598 35,125 5,315 4,853 7,729 7,481 2,212 768 475 454 1,070 798 51,399 49,479
41,334 41,150 6,349 5,685 9,234 8,764 - - 568 532 1,279 936 58,764 57,067

Employee benefits expense
Fees for visiting medical practitioners
Contracts for services
Patient support costs
Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Asset revaluation decrement
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment 
Other supplies and services
Other expenses

84,018 87,656 12,453 12,126 18,927 19,810 5,597 6,557 750 1,249 1,703 1,964 123,448 129,362
Total cost of services 1,195,246 1,213,024 

(a)
181,548 164,507 (a) 267,499 260,873 (a) 134,988 137,182 16,764 14,860 (a) 38,502 25,837 (a) 1,834,547 1,816,282 

(a)
Income

70,720 67,113 10,863 9,272 15,798 14,294 - - 973 868 2,188 1,526 100,542 93,073
48,907 50,640 7,513 6,996 10,926 10,785 - - 672 655 1,513 1,151 69,531 70,227

371,227 371,768 57,026 51,364 82,931 79,179 31,098 32,118 5,105 4,807 11,485 8,450 558,872 547,686
1,388 1,524 213 211 310 325 91,810 89,544 19 19 43 34 93,783 91,657

71 438 11 61 16 93 - - 1 6 2 10 101 608
7 7 1 1 2 1 - - 0 - 0 - 10 9

61 - 9 - 14 - - - 1 - 2 - 87 -

Patient charges
Other fees for services
Commonwealth grants and contributions 
Other grants and contributions Donation
revenue
Interest revenue
Commercial activities
Other revenue

12,849 8,724 1,974 1,205 2,870 1,858 - - 177 113 398 199 18,268 12,099
505,230 500,214 77,610 69,110 112,867 106,535 122,908 121,662 6,948 6,468 15,631 11,370 841,194 815,359

690,016 712,810 (a) 103,938 95,397 (a) 154,632 154,338 (a) 12,080 15,520 9,816 8,391 (a) 22,871 14,467 (a) 993,353 1,000,923 
(a)

Total income other than income from State Government 
NET COST OF SERVICES
INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

657,303 652,886 100,970 90,203 146,840 139,051 5,189 8,977 9,040 8,443 20,336 14,840 939,678 914,400
12 24 2 3 2 5 - - 0 - 0 1 16 33

Service appropriations
Assets (transferred)/assumed 
Services received free of charge 45,358 50,432 6,968 6,968 10,132 10,741 6,816 6,618 624 652 1,403 1,146 71,301 76,557

702,673 703,342 107,940 97,174 156,974 149,797 12,005 15,595 9,664 9,095 21,739 15,987 1,010,995 990,990Total income from State Government 
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 12,657 (9,468) (a) 4,002 1,776 (a) 2,342 (4,541) (a) (75) 75 (153) 704 (a) (1,132) 1,519 (a) 17,642 (9,934) (a)

(a) Restated amounts for 2018 financial year. See note 9.2 Prior years' 
restatements.

Public Hospital
Admitted
Patient

Public Hospital 
Emergency Services

Public Hospital Non-
Admitted Services

Mental Health
Servic

es

Public and Community 
Health Services

TotalAged and Continuing 
Care Services

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

3. Use of our funding

Expenses incurred in the delivery of services

Restated
2019 2018

Notes $000 $000

Employee benefits expenses 3.1 (a) 982,687 956,808 (a)

Employee benefits provisions 3.1 (b) 244,211 226,374 (a)

Patient support costs 3.2 357,318 351,346
Contracts for services 3.3 137,350 140,411
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment 3.4 51,399 49,479
Other supplies and services 3.5 58,764 57,067
Other expenses 3.6 123,448 129,362

3.1 (a) Employee benefits expenses

Salaries and wages (c) 900,751 874,312 (a)
Termination benefits 345 3,296
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) (c) 81,591 79,200

982,687 956,808 (a)

The Health Service does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities because it has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating
to its employees. The Liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred
from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Health
Service to GESB. 

GESB and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative
requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement and
implementation dates. 

Salaries and wages: Employee expenses include all costs related to employment including salaries and wages, fringe benefits tax (FBT), leave
entitlements, termination payments and WorkCover premiums. 

Termination benefits: Payable when employment is terminated before normal retirement date, or when and employee accepts an offer of benefits
in exchange for the termination of employment. Termination benefits are recognised when the Health Service is demonstrably committed to
terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting
period are discounted to present value. 

(a) See note 9.2 Prior period restatements with respect to the recognition of public holiday time off in lieu provison in the 2017-18 financial year.

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State Superannuation (WSS), Gold State Superannuation (GSS), Government Employees
Superannuation Board (GESB) and other eligible funds.

(c) Includes recoveries of employee benefit expenses through Internal Service Recoup (ISR) accounts of $1,373,229 and External Service Recoup
(ESR) accounts of $5,364,299 .

Employment on-costs expenses (workers' compensation insurance) are included at note 3.6 Other expenses.

Superannuation: Superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS
(concurrent contributions), WSS, GESB, and other superannuation funds. The employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid
back into the consolidated account by GESB. 

GSS (concurrent contributions) is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. It is however, a
defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the Health Service to GESB
extinguishes the Health Service's obligations to the related superannuation liability.

This section provides additional information about how the Health Service's funding is applied and the accounting policies that are relevant for an
understanding of the items recognised in the financial statements. The primary expenses incurred by the Health Service in achieving its objectives
and the relevant notes are:
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

3.1 (b) Employee benefits provisions

Current Restated
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (b) 96,823 81,668
Time off in lieu leave (b) 33,836 44,103 (a)
Long service leave (c) 56,889 50,955
Deferred salary scheme (d) 930 1,039

188,478 177,765 (a)

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (c) 55,733 48,609

55,733 48,609

Total provisions 244,211 226,374 (a)

Restated

82,023 84,591 (a)
48,636 41,180 (a)

130,659 125,771 (a)

14,664 12,562
97,958 87,002

112,622 99,564

155 352
775 687
930 1,039

Key sources of estimation uncertainty - long service leave

(d) Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months
after the end of the reporting period.  Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Other estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Health Service's long service leave provision include expected future salary rates,
discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the
carrying amount of the long service leave provision. Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities is
recognised as employee benefits expense.

  

(c) Unconditional long service leave provision have been classified as current liabilities where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of salaries and wages, annual leave, time off in lieu and long service leave for
services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the services are delivered. 

  
The provision for long service leave liabilities are calculated at present value as the Health Service does not expect to wholly settle the amounts
within 12 months. The present value is measured taking into account the present value of expected future payments to be made in relation to
services provided by employees up to the reporting date. These payments are estimated using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time
of settlement, discounted using the market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match,
as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

  

(b) Annual leave liabilities and time off in lieu leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities where there is an unconditional right to defer the
settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the required years of service. 

  

  

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

The provision for annual leave and time of in lieu leave is calculated at the present value of expected payments to be made in relation to services
provided by employees up to the reporting date.

Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

In estimating the non-current long service leave liabilities, employees are assumed to leave the Health Service each year on account of resignation
or retirement at 6.7 per cent. This assumption was based on an analysis of the turnover rates exhibited by employees over a five year period.
Employees with leave benefits to which they are fully entitled are assumed to take all available leave uniformly over the following five years or to
age 65, if earlier.

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 

(a) See note 9.2 prior period restatements with respect to the recognition of public holiday time off in lieu provison in the 2017-18 financial year.

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

3.2

Medical supplies and services 242,297 238,904
Domestic charges 54,286 53,065
Pathology services provided by PathWest (a) (b) 22,215 22,514
Fuel, light and power 13,608 13,237
Food supplies 16,741 15,693
Patient transport costs 8,170 7,882
Research, development and other grants 1 51

357,318 351,346

3.3

Public patients services (a) 133,657 136,609
Home & Comm Care (HACC) 3,035 2,776
Child, community and primary health 474 767
Chronic Diseases 1 33
Patient Transport Service 179 220
Other contracts 4 6

137,350 140,411

3.4 Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment

Repairs and maintenance 7,817 7,561
Consumable equipment 43,582 41,918

51,399 49,479

3.5 Other supplies and services

Sanitisation and waste removal services 2,533 2,750
Administration and management services 53,403 51,325
Interpreter services 1,911 1,932
Security services 322 281
Other 595 779

58,764 57,067

(a) Pathology services provided by PathWest are in addition to the fee for services (FFS) charges already paid to PathWest, within medical supplies
and services shown above. 

(b) See note 4.1 Income from State Government

Other supplies and services: Other supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

Contracts for services

  

Patient support costs

(a) Private hospitals and non-government organisations are contracted to provide various services to public patients and the community.

  

Contracts for services: Contracts for services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

  

Patient support costs: Patient support costs are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment: Repairs and maintenance costs are recognised as expenses as incurred, except where they
relate to the replacement of a significant component of an asset. In that case, the costs are capitalised and depreciated. 
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

3.6 Other expenses

Communications 5,626 5,571
Computer services 24,137 21,330
Workers compensation insurance 19,084 18,040
Operating lease expenses 3,459 3,453
Other insurances 6,936 8,096

503 948
Other employee related expenses 1,721 1,110
Printing and stationery 2,812 2,850
Doubtful debts expense -  5,930
Expected credit losses expense (a) 3,896 -  
Freight and cartage 390 384
Periodical subscription 2,591 2,572
Services provided by HSS 49,084 54,043
Motor vehicle expenses 809 859
Audit fees 603 499
Other 1,797 3,677

123,448 129,362

(a)

352
251
603

Expected credit losses were not required to be measured in 2017-18

Operating lease expenses are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased asset.

Doubtful debts expense was recognised as the movement in the allowance for doubtful debt. From 2018-19, expected credit losses expense is 
recognised as the movement in the allowance for expected credit losses. The allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables is
measured at the lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date. The Health Service has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and economic environment. Refer to note 6.1.1
Movement in the allowance for impairment of receivables.

Services provided by Health Support Services (HSS) are services received free of charge or for nominal cost and are recognised as expenses
at the fair value of those services that can be reliably measured and which would have been purchased if they were not donated.  

Audit fees include the final audit fee for the previous year's audit and any interim audit fees (if any) for the current year's audit and an accrual for
the current year's final audit fee. A breakdown of which is shown below:

Motor vehicle expenses include expenses associated with the operation , repair and maintenance and management of motor vehicles. 

Employee on-cost include workers' compensation insurance only. Any on costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service
leave liabilities are included in note 3.1 (b) Employee benefits provisions. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave
are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

Write down of non-current assets includes works in progress capitalised in prior years but expensed in the current financial year.

Internal audit fee - PWC internal audit services
External audit fee - accrual 2018/19 SMHS OAG audit fee

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations and are recognised as an expense in the
period it is incurred. 

Consultancy fees
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

4. Our funding sources

How we obtain our funding

2019 2018
Notes $000 $000

Income from State Government 4.1 1,010,995 990,990
Patient charges 4.2 100,542 93,073
Other fees for services 4.3 69,531 70,227
Commonwealth grants and contributions 4.4 652,655 639,343
Commercial activities 4.5 87 -  
Other revenue 4.6 18,369 12,707
Gains 4.7 (176) (240)

4.1 Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation (funding via the Department of Health) (a) 939,678 914,400

939,678 914,400

- Transfer of medical equipment from East Metropolitan Health Service 12 39
- Transfer of medical equipment from Director General HSU -  5
- Transfer of motor vehicles to North Metropolitan Health Service -  (11)
- Transfer of plant equipment from Child and Adolescent Health Service 38 -  
- Transfer of medical equipment to WA Country Health Service (34) -  
Total assets (transferred)/assumed 16 33

Services received free of charge from other State Government agencies during the period: (c)

ICT services 36,599 40,488
Supply chain services 5,171 5,290
Financial services 1,211 1,976
Human resources services 6,103 6,289

PathWest - Pathology Services 22,215 22,514
Department of Finance - Lease Management Services 2 -  
Total services received 71,301 76,557

Total income from State Government 1,010,995 990,990

●   cash component
●   a receivable (asset)

The receivable (holding account - note 6.2 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)) comprises the following:
●   the budgeted depreciation expense for the year
●   any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year. 

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered (as set out in note 2.2 Schedule of income and expenses by service). Appropriation
revenue comprises the following:

(c) Services received free of charge or for nominal cost, that the Health Service would otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised as
income at the fair value of the services where they can be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for services received.

Pathology services provided by PathWest are in addition to the FFS charges already paid to PathWest included in note 3.2 Patient support costs.

Health Support Services (HSS)

(a) Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Health Service gains control of the appropriated
funds. Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. The Health Service gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds
are deposited in the bank account or credited to the 'amounts receivable for services' (holding account) held at Department of Treasury. 

(b) Transfer of assets: Discretionary transfers of net assets and liabilities between State Government agencies free of charge, are reported under
Income from State Government. Transfers of assets and liabilities in relation to a restructure of administrative arrangements are recognised as
distribution to owners by the transferor and contribution by owners by the transferee under AASB 1004 'Contributions'. Other non-discretionary non-
reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities designated as contributions by owners under TI 955 are also recognised directly to equity. 

This section provides additional information about how the Health Service obtains its funding and the relevant accounting policy notes that govern
the recognition and measurement of this funding. The primary income received by the Health Service and the relevant notes are:

  

  

Assets transferred from/(to) other State government agencies during the period: (b)
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

4.2 Patient charges

Inpatient bed charges 82,016 77,522
Inpatient other charges 6,670 7,151
Outpatient charges 11,856 8,400

100,542 93,073

4.3 Other fees for services

Recoveries from the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) 66,811 62,478
Clinical services to other health organisations 24 18
Non clinical services to other health organisations 2,696 7,731

69,531 70,227

4.4   Grants and contributions

i) Commonwealth grants and contributions

  Recurrent Grants:
510,221 481,305

National Health Reform Agreement (funding via Mental Health Commission) (a) 31,098 32,118
Department of Veteran Affairs Program 14,849 24,000
Aged Care Assessment Team Program 2,539 2,589
Sub Acute Care Stroke Services Program -  2,229
NHRA Substituted Funding -  5,316

165 129
558,872 547,686

ii) Other grants and contributions

91,810 89,366
-  178

  Disability Services Commission - community aids & equipment program 1,102 1,214
  Other 871 899

93,783 91,657

652,655 639,343

Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would have been purchased if not
donated. 

  

  

For non-reciprocal grants, the Health Service recognises revenue when the grant is receivable at its fair value as and when its fair value can be
reliably measured

  

  Mental Health Commission – service delivery agreement 
  Mental Health Commission – other      

National Health Reform Agreement (funding via Department of Health) (a)

Other

(a) Activity based funding and block grant funding have been received from the Commonwealth Government under the National Health Reform
Agreement for services, health teaching, training and research provided by local hospital networks (Health Services). The funding arrangement
established under the Agreement requires the Commonwealth Government to make funding payments to the State Pool Account from which
distributions to the local hospital networks (Health Services) are made by the Department of Health and Mental Health Commission.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

4.5 Commercial activities

Sales
Pharmacy clinical trials and research activity revenue 1,168 -  

1,168 -  

Cost of sales 1,081 -  

Profit/(loss) from commercial activities 87 -  

4.6 Other Revenue

Donation revenue

General public contributions 101 608
101 608

Other revenue

Use of hospital facilities 219 204
Rent from commercial properties 2,933 2,838
Rent from residential properties 49 48
Boarders' accommodation 6 16

1,818 611
Parking 6,311 6,238
Research and clinical trial revenue 4,720 1,429
Royalties 1,524 -  
Course fees 117 135
Other 571 580

18,268 12,099

4.7 Gains/(Losses)

Net proceeds from disposal of non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 15 36

Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed:
Property, plant and equipment (191) (276)

  Net gain/(loss) (176) (240)

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some
revaluations of non-current assets. 

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the customer.

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met
before revenue is recognised:

Interest

Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by deducting from the proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of the asset
and related selling expenses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income (from the proceeds of
sale).

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to
the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

  

  

RiskCover insurance premium rebate
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

5. Key assets

Assets the Health Service utilises for economic benefit or service potential.

2019 2018
Notes $000 $000

Property, plant and equipment 5.1 2,005,520 2,093,730
Intangibles 5.2 27,064 23,709
Total key assets 2,032,584 2,117,439

5.1 Property, plant and equipment

Land
At fair value 74,322 74,605

74,322 74,605
Buildings

Clinical:
At fair value 1,649,218 1,721,681
Accumulated depreciation -  -  

1,649,218 1,721,681

Total land and buildings 1,723,540 1,796,286

Site infrastructure
At cost 128,436 128,436
Accumulated depreciation (9,192) (6,128)

119,244 122,308
Computer equipment 
At cost 143,094 117,822
Accumulated depreciation (76,416) (53,031)

66,678 64,791
Furniture and fittings
At cost 14,524 14,100
Accumulated depreciation (6,237) (4,269)

8,287 9,831
Motor vehicles
At cost 73 73
Accumulated depreciation (41) (27)

32 46
Medical equipment
At cost 126,952 120,167
Accumulated depreciation (62,448) (44,075)

64,504 76,092
Other plant and equipment
At cost 29,267 28,945
Accumulated depreciation (7,649) (5,096)

21,618 23,849
Works in progress
Buildings under construction (at cost) 137 294
Other works in progress (at cost) 1,253 6

1,390 300
Artworks
At cost 227 227

Total property, plant and equipment 2,005,520 2,093,730

This section includes information regarding the key assets the Health Service utilises to gain economic benefits or provide service potential. The
section sets out both the key accounting policies and financial information about the performance of these assets.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

5.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliations 

Land
Carrying amount at start of period 74,605 79,645
Transfers from/(to) other reporting entities (337) (2,050)
Revaluation increments/(decrements) 54 (2,990)
Carrying amount at end of period 74,322 74,605

Buildings
Carrying amount at start of period 1,721,681 1,736,867
Additions 242 67
Impairment losses (c) (12,325) -  
Transfers from works in progress 9 340
Transfers from/(to) other reporting entities -  (911)
Disposals -  (122)
Revaluation increments/(decrements) (14,115) 30,886
Depreciation (46,274) (45,446)
Carrying amount at end of period 1,649,218 1,721,681

Site infrastructure
Carrying amount at start of period 122,308 125,480
Transfers from/(to) other reporting entities -  (102)
Depreciation (3,064) (3,070)
Carrying amount at end of period 119,244 122,308

Computer equipment 
Carrying amount at start of period 64,791 88,782
Additions 25,272 49
Depreciation (23,385) (24,040)
Carrying amount at end of period 66,678 64,791

Furniture and fittings
Carrying amount at start of period 9,831 11,517
Additions 431 56
Depreciation (1,975) (1,742)
Carrying amount at end of period 8,287 9,831

Motor vehicles
Carrying amount at start of period 46 71
Transfers from/(to) other reporting entities -  (10)
Depreciation (14) (15)
Carrying amount at end of period 32 46

  

  

  

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out below.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

5.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Medical equipment
Carrying amount at start of period 76,092 97,374
Additions 6,506 2,336
Transfers from works in progress 1,197
Transfers from/(to) other reporting entities (22) 45
Disposals (186) (206)
Depreciation (19,083) (23,457)
Carrying amount at end of period 64,504 76,092

Other plant and equipment
Carrying amount at start of period 23,849 25,637
Additions 341 674
Transfers from works in progress (45) -  
Transfers from/(to) other reporting entities 38 -  
Disposals (5) -  
Depreciation (2,560) (2,462)
Carrying amount at end of period 21,618 23,849

Works in progress
Carrying amount at start of period 300 554
Additions 2,353 88
Transfers from works in progress (1,263) (341)
Carrying amount at end of period 1,390 300

Artworks
Carrying amount at start of period 227 227
Carrying amount at end of period 227 227

Total property, plant and equipment 
Carrying amount at start of period 2,093,730 2,166,154
Additions 35,145 3,269
Impairment losses (c) (12,325) -  
Transfers from works in progress (102) (1)
Disposals (191) (328)
Transfers from/(to) other reporting entities (321) (3,028)
Revaluation increments/(decrements) (14,061) 27,896
Depreciation (96,355) (100,232)
Carrying amount at end of period (b) 2,005,520 2,093,730

  

  

  

(c) Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where an asset measured at cost is written-down to recoverable
amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written down to able amount, the loss is recognised
as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income. Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 8.3.

(a)  Works in progress capitalised in prior years but expensed in the current financial year. Refer to note 3.6 Other expenses.

  

(b) At 30 June 2019, the net carrying amount includes leased medical, computer and other plant and equipment of $104.726 million. Refer details
at note 7.1 Borrowings.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

5.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Initial recognition

Subsequent measurement

● land
● buildings.

Revaluation Model:

1. Fair value where market-based evidence is available

2. Fair value in the absence of market-based evidence

Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2018 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations and Property Analytics). The
valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2019 and recognised at 30 June 2019. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was
determined by reference to market values for land: $2.835 million (2018: $2.811 million) and buildings: $0.87 million (2018: $1.519 million). For the
remaining balance, fair value of buildings was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost and fair value of land was determined on
the basis of comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land).

Assets transferred as part of a machinery of government change are transferred at their fair value. 

The initial cost for a non-financial physical asset under a finance lease is measured at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if
lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. 

Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of:

Items of property, plant and equipment, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost,
the cost is valued at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately
expensed direct to the statement of comprehensive income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in
total).

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations and Property Analytics)
and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of land and buildings (non-clinical sites) is determined on the basis of current market values determined by reference to recent
market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets
and in determining estimated economic life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear
distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.

Fair value for existing use buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in
the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement costs basis,
the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued
amount.

The fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with similar approximate utility (high
restricted use land) or market value of comparable unrestricted land (low restricted use land).

Where buildings are specialised or where land is restricted, the fair value of land and buildings (clinical sites) is determined on the basis of
existing use. 

Land is carried at fair value. Buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of
property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

5.1.1 Depreciation and impairment
Charge for the period
Depreciation
Buildings 46,274 45,446
Site infrastructure 3,064 3,070
Computer equipment 23,385 24,040
Furniture and fittings 1,975 1,742
Motor vehicles 14 15
Medical equipment 19,083 23,457
Other plant and equipment 2,560 2,462

96,355 100,232

During 2018-19 engineering consultants engaged by the Health Service identified significant structural issues in Fremantle Hospital' 'F' Block.   
Due to the extent of potential risk to the Health Service, the building was vacated and rectification work is to be undertaken.  
For this reason Fremantle Hospital 'F' Block was considered an impaired asset and the impairment loss was recognised.  

Fremantle Hospital 'F' Block - Carrying Amount 12,325
Recoverable Amount -  
Impairment Loss (12,325)

Finite useful lives

Asset
Buildings 50 years
Site infrastructure 50 years
Leasehold improvements Term of the lease
Computer equipment 4 to 20 years
Furniture and fittings 2 to 20 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 10 years
Medical equipment 2 to 25 years
Other plant and equipment 3 to 25 years

Impairment

Impairment

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting year, and any adjustments
are made where appropriate. 

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised through profit and loss in statement
of comprehensive income.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by
reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of
impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting
period.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is
falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated
depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk
from declining replacement costs.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2019 have either been classified as assets held for sale or have been written-off. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset's value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated
useful life. 
Estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for current and prior years are included in the table below:

Land and artworks, which are considered to have an indefinite life, are not depreciated. Depreciation is not recognised in respect of these assets
because their service potential had not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period. 

Please refer to note 5.2 for guidance in relation to the impairment assessment that has been performed for intangible assets. 

Where a previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other
comprehensive income.

Useful Life: years

All property, plant and equipment having limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects
the consumption of their future economic benefits. The exceptions to this rule include items under operating leases, assets held for sale, land and
investment properties. 

  

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. However,
this reversal should not increase the asset's carrying amount above what would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised in prior years. 

Non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may
be impaired and at the end of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an
impairment loss is recognised. 

As the Health Service is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
5.2 Intangible assets $000 $000

Computer software
At cost 39,085 34,306
Accumulated amortisation (17,526) (11,324)

21,559 22,982

Works in progress
Computer software under development (at cost) 5,505 727

Total intangible assets 27,064 23,709

Reconciliations:

Computer software
22,982 23,711
4,615 1,675

164 3,540
(6,202) (5,944)
21,559 22,982

Works in progress
727 3,576

4,840 690
(62) (3,539)

5,505 727

Total intangible assets 
23,709 27,287
9,455 2,365

102 1
(6,202) (5,944)
27,064 23,709

Transfers from works in progress

Carrying amount at end of period

Additions

Carrying amount at start of period
Additions 

Reconciliations of the carrying amount of intangible assets at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out below:

(a)  At 30 June 2019, the net carrying amount of leased computer software was $6.363 million. See also note 7.1 Borrowings.

Amortisation expense

Carrying amount at start of period

  

Capitalised to computer software
Carrying amount at end of period

Carrying amount at end of period (a)
Amortisation expense

Carrying amount at start of period
Additions

Transfers from Work in Progress
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

5.2 Intangible assets (continued)

Initial recognition

Subsequent measurement

5.2.1 Amortisation and impairment

Charge for the period
Amortisation
Computer software 6,202 5,944

6,202 5,944

Computer software 5 - 15 years

Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the asset is recognised at its fair value at the
date of acquisition. 

The Health Service held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period
there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight line basis at rates that allocate the asset's value over its estimated useful life.
All intangible assets controlled by the Health Service have a finite useful life and zero residual value.

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $5,000 or more are capitalised. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or when an indication of impairment is identified. 

Estimated useful life of intangible assets is:

Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the statement of comprehensive income. 

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of intangible assets, requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

As at 30 June 2019 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets. 

Computer software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment.  Software that is not an integral 
part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset.  Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.

The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 5.1.1 Depreciation and impairment.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

6. Other assets and liabilities

2019 2018
Notes $000 $000

Receivables 6.1 61,997 53,284
Amounts receivable for services 6.2 827,859 723,685
Inventories 6.3 5,270 5,208
Other current assets 6.4 4,664 10,667
Payables 6.5 104,821 92,996
Other liabilities 6.6 274 283

6.1 Receivables

Current
Patient fee debtors (a) 42,696 31,678
Other receivables 3,533 2,097
Less:  Allowance for impairment of receivables (13,264) (6,871)
Accrued revenue 24,274 22,656
GST Receivables 4,758 3,724

61,997 53,284

6.1.1 Movement in the allowance for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of period 6,871 20,573
Remeasurement under AASB 9 217 -  
Restated Balance at start of period 7,088 20,573
Doubtful debts expense (note 3.6) -  5,930
Expected credit losses expense 3,896 -  
Amounts written off during the period (52) (19,653)
Amounts recovered during the period 660 21
Other receivables adjustments during the period 1,672 -  
Balance at end of period 13,264 6,871

GST receivables on accrued expenses are recognised by the Health Service.  Upon the receipt of tax invoices, GST receivables for the GST group 
are recorded in the accounts of the Department of Health. 

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Health Services controlled operations and includes other assets utilised for
economic benefits and liabilities incurred during normal operations.

Rights to collect amounts receivable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) and responsibilities to make payments for GST have been assigned
to the Department of Health. This accounting procedure was a result of application of the grouping provisions of A New Tax System (Goods and
Services Tax) Act 1999 whereby the Department of Health became the Nominated Group Representative (NGR) for the GST group as from 1 July
2012. The entities in the GST group includes the Department of Health, Mental Health Commission, North Metropolitan Health Service, South
Metropolitan Health Service, East Metropolitan Health Service, Health Support Services, PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA, WA Country Health
Service, QE II Medical Centre Trust, and Health and Disability Services Complaints Office.

  

  

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowance for uncollectible amounts, i.e. impairment. The carrying amount of net
trade receivables is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

The Health Service does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements for receivables.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period for receivables is the carrying amount of the asset inclusive of any allowance
for impairment as shown in the table at Note 8.1'(c) 'Financial instruments disclosures'.

(a) Under the Private Patient Scheme approved by the State Government, the Department of Health provides ex-gratia payments towards private
patient fees not paid in full by health insurance funds. The total amounts of ex-gratia payments is $11.53 million for 2018-19 ($8.94 million for 2017-
18).

Accounting procedure for Goods and Services Tax
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

6.2 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

Non-current 827,859 723,685
827,859 723,685

6.3 Inventories

Current
Pharmaceutical stores - at cost 5,179 5,122
Engineering stores - at cost 91 87

5,270 5,208

6.4 Other assets

Prepayments 4,515 4,794
Other 149 155

4,664 4,949

6.5 Payables
Current
Trade creditors 11,243 14,653
Other creditors (a) 7,462 7,232
Accrued expenses 67,907 55,240
Accrued salaries 18,201 15,856
Accrued interest 8 15

104,821 92,996

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Health Service becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of
assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days. 

Amounts receivable for services are not considered to be impaired (ie there is no expected credit loss of the holding account).

  

    
Amounts receivable for services represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset
replacement or payment of leave liability. 

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of
the reporting period end. The Health Service considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value. 

  

Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they are measured at net realisable value.

(a) Includes $7.4 million PAYG (Pay As You Go) tax due to the ATO for the last pay in 2018-19 and $0.1 million Fringe Benefits Tax due to the ATO 
for 2018-19 Fringe Benefits Tax liability.

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure
made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period. 

  

Current

Total current

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs are assigned on a weighted average cost basis.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

6.6 Other liabilities

Current
Income received in advance (24) 108
Refundable deposits 42 48
Paid parental leave scheme 162 93
Other 94 34

274 283

7. Financing

Notes
Borrowings 7.1
Finance Lease 7.2
Finance costs 7.3
Cash and cash equivalents 7.4
Reconciliation of cash 7.4.1
Reconciliation of operating activities 7.4.2
Commitments 7.5
Operating lease commitments 7.5.1
Capital commitments 7.5.2
Private sector contracts 7.5.3
Other expenditure commitments 7.5.4

7.1 Borrowings

Current
2,881 2,747

38,065 50,147
40,946 52,894

Non-current
-  2,881

77,046 115,112
77,046 117,993

Total borrowings 117,992 170,887

6,363 9,078
41,361 64,733

Leased medical equipment 50,735 66,255
Leased other plant and equipment 12,630 15,484

111,089 155,550

This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing and cash flows of the Health Service

    

Finance lease liabilities - FSH (b)

The carrying amounts of non-current assets pledged as security are:

(a) This debt relates to funds advanced to the Health Service via the now defunct General Loan and Capital Works Fund. Funds advanced and
related interest costs are repaid to the Department of Treasury by the Department of Health on behalf of the Health Service. Interest rates are
linked to the State Government's debt servicing costs.

(b) Equipment and intangible assets for the FSH are procured by a private sector provider through a leasing facility with a bank. Although the
arrangement, that is under a Tripartite Agreement between the Minister for Health, the private sector provider and the bank, is not in the legal form
of a lease, it is accounted for as such based on its terms and conditions. The first finance lease payment (including the finance lease charges) was
made on 1 May 2014.

During 2017-18 and 2018-19, no leased assets were acquired and there were no procurement, bank and legal fees expensed to the statement of
comprehensive income.

Leased computer software
Leased computer equipment

Finance lease liabilities - FSH (b)

Department of Treasury loans (a)

  

Department of Treasury loans (a)
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

7.2 Finance Leases

Finance lease commitments:
Minimum lease payment commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 43,364 57,691
Later than 1 year, and not later than 5 years 76,131 111,038
Later than 5 years 9,687 18,144
Minimum finance lease payments 129,182 186,873
Less future finance charges (14,070) (21,614)
Present value of finance lease liabilities (refer note 7.1) 115,112 165,259

The present value of finance leases payable is as follows:
Within 1 year 38,065 50,147
Later than 1 year, and not later than 5 years 68,317 98,694
Later than 5 years 8,730 16,418
Present value of finance lease liabilities 115,112 165,259

Included in the financial statements as:
Current (note 7.1) 38,065 50,147
Non-current (note 7.1) 77,046 115,112

115,112 165,259

The Health Service has the option to purchase leased assets at their agreed fair value on expiry of the lease. These leasing arrangements do not
have escalation clauses, other than in the event of payment default. There are no restrictions imposed by these leasing arrangements on other
financing transactions. Certain finance leases have a contingent rental obligation; however, these are not material when compared to the total lease
payments made. 

Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease term, as assets and liabilities equal in amount to
the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments determined at the inception of the lease. The assets
are disclosed as leased medical, computer and other plant and equipment and leased computer software, and are depreciated or amortised over
the period during which the Health Service is expected to benefit from their use. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance
charge and the reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.

During the 2011-12 financial year, the ‘Minister for Health in his Capacity as the Deemed Board of the Metropolitan Public Hospitals' entered into a
facilities management contract for a minimum period of 10 years for FSH with Serco Limited, whereby, subject to approval by the Health Service,
Serco is to acquire specified assets for use at the hospital. The specified assets are to be acquired under a lease facility with a bank. Under the
terms of the Facilities Management Contract and the related agreements, an element of the fee paid to Serco is linked to the fixed lease payments
detailed on each leasing schedule for each group of assets, and at the end of the lease period for each group of assets, the Health Service is
required to take ownership directly or dispose of the asset.

Although the arrangement, that is under a Tripartite Agreement between the Minister for Health, the private sector provider and the bank, is not in
the legal form of a lease, the Health Service concluded that the arrangement contains a lease of assets, because fulfilment of the arrangement is
economically dependent on the use of the assets and the Health Service receives the full service potential from the assets through the services
provided at FSH. The leases are classified as finance leases.

The Health Service is able to determine the fair value of the lease element of the Facilities Management Contract with direct reference to the
underlying lease payments agreed on each leasing schedule between Serco and the bank, which has been authorised by the Health Service. 
Therefore, at lease inception, being the various dates on which the leasing schedules for the individual assets are entered into, the Health Service
recognises the leased asset and liability at the lower of the fair value or present value of future lease payments. The imputed finance costs on the
liability were determined based on the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Leases of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets, where the Health Service has substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership, are
classified as finance leases.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

7.3

Finance lease charges 7,543 10,303
Interest expense 137 213

7,680 10,516

Finance costs expensed

7.4 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Current 33,888 19,353

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 

Current
Restricted cash assets held for other specific purposes (a) 11,282 9,300
Fiona Stanley Hospital - Upgrade Works Account (b) 473 462
Mental Health Commission Funding (c) -  (75)

11,755 9,688
Non Current
Accrued salaries suspense account (d) 10,848 7,148

22,603 16,836

7.4.1 Reconciliation of cash

Cash and cash equivalents 33,888 19,353
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 22,603 16,836

56,491 36,189

Cash assets at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows are reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial
position as follows.

Finance costs

Restricted cash and cash equivalents are assets, the uses of which are restricted by specific legal or other externally imposed requirements.  
  

Finance Costs' includes interest costs associated with the FSH Finance Lease Payments and WA Treasury Loan.

Includes cash assigned to meet ongoing internal obligations arising from allocated donations, research program commitments, education and
training grants, funds directed and quarantined under medical industrial agreement and funds directed and quarantined under previous Ministerial
Directive. 

(b) The moneys deposited to the Fiona Stanley Hospital Upgrade Works Account must be used for the purposes of the upgrade works in respect of
the building and site services assets.

(c)  See note 9.9 'Special purpose accounts'

(d) Funds held in the suspense account at the Department of Treasury will be used only for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year
that occurs every 11 years. In a normal year there are 26 payroll periods where cash is outlaid. Every 11 years, however, there is an additional
fortnightly payroll to the standard 26. This additional pay period is termed the '27th pay' and the next occurrence is in the year 2027/28. To ensure
sufficient cash resources are available, it is prudent to reserve a portion of cash funds towards this event each year. The value reserved represents
an estimated payroll amount for one day.

  

(a) These include medical research grants, donations for the benefits of patients, medical education, scholarships, capital projects, employee
contributions and staff benevolent funds.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand,
cash at bank and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and
which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Restated
2019 2018
$000 $000

7.4.2 Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities (statement of cash flows) (790,801) (791,945)

Increase/(decrease) in assets:
GST receivable 1,033 1,150
Other current receivables 14,072 (16,612)
Inventories 62 (69)
Prepayments and other current assets (285) 3,217

Decrease/(increase) in liabilities:
Payables (11,811) (1,367)
Current provisions (10,714) (11,347) (a)
Non-current provisions (7,124) (1,384)
Other current liabilities 9 (113)

Non-cash items:
Doubtful debts expense 3.6 -  (5,930)
Expected credit losses expense 3.6 (3,896) -  
Write off of receivables 6.1.1 52 19,653
Receivables amount recovered during the period 6.1.1 (660) (21)
Other receivables adjustments during the period 6.1.1 (1,672) -  
Depreciation and amortisation expense 5.1.1, 5.2.1 (102,557) (106,176)
Net gain/(loss) from disposal of non-current assets 4.7 (176) (240)
Interest paid by Department of Health (143) (222)
Capitalisation of finance lease charges (7,543) (10,304)
Net donation of non-current assets 45 333
Services received free of charge 4.1 (71,301) (76,557)
Revaluation decrement - land 9.11 54 (2,990)
Adjustment for other non-cash items 3 -  
Net cost of services (statement of comprehensive income) (993,353) (1,000,924) (a)

Notional cash flows
Service appropriations as per statement of comprehensive income 939,678 914,400
Capital contributions credited directly to Contributed equity (Refer note 9.11 Equity) 80,960 65,628

1,020,638 980,028
Less notional cash flows:

Items paid directly by the Department of Health for the Health Service
and are therefore not included in the statement of cash flows:

Interest paid to Department of Treasury (143) (222)
Repayment of interest-bearing liabilities to Department of Treasury (2,746) (2,626)
Transfer of FSH construction savings to Department of Treasury -  (17,752)
Accrual appropriations (104,174) (112,894)

(107,063) (133,494)

Cash Flows from State Government as per statement of cash flows 913,575 846,534
  

At the end of the reporting period the Health Service had fully drawn on all financing facilities, details of which are disclosed in the financial
statements.

(a) See note 9.2 prior period restatements with respect to the recognition of public holiday time off in lieu provison in the 2017-18 financial year.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

7.5 Commitments

7.5.1 Operating lease commitments

Restated
Within 1 year 2,324 2,445 (a)
Later than 1 year, and not later than 5 years 2,422 2,484 (a)
Later than 5 years 89 31 (a)

4,835 4,959
(a) Prior period restatement to recognise State Fleet Motor Vehicle Operating Lease commitments in the 2017-18 financial year.

7.5.2 Capital expenditure commitments

Within 1 year 6,813 6,432
Later than 1 year, and not later than 5 years 397 -  
Later than 5 years -  -  

7,210 6,432

7.5.3 Private sector contracts for the provision of health services:

173,726 174,189
541,693 698,328

9,280 34,800
724,699 907,317

7.5.4 Other expenditure commitments:

Within 1 year 201,689 201,465
Later than 1 year, and not later than 5 years 221,359 427,299
Later than 5 years 53,006 56,076

476,054 684,840

Within 1 year

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial statements are payable
as follows.

Expenditure commitments in relation to private sector organisations contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities,
are payable as follows.
       

Leases in which the lessor retains significantly all of the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases.  

Later than 1 year, and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant.

Commitments in relation to non-cancellable leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities are payable as
follows.

Operating lease commitments predominantly consist of contractual agreements for office accommodation and residential accommodation. The
basis of which contingent operating leases payments are determined is the value for each lease agreement under the contract terms and conditions
at current values. Operating leases are expenses on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from
the leased properties. 

Other expenditure commitments contracted for at the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

8. Risk and Contingencies

Notes
Financial risk management 8.1
Contingent assets 8.2.1
Contingent liabilities 8.2.2
Fair value measurements 8.3

8.1 Financial risk management

(a) Summary of risks and risk management

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Market risk

(b) Categories of financial instruments

2019 2018
$000 $000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 33,888 19,353
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 11,755 9,688
Loans and receivables (a) 885,098 773,244
Financial assets at amortised cost (a) -  -  
Total financial assets 930,741 802,285

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 222,814 263,883
Total financial liability 222,814 263,883

(a) The amount of Loans and receivables / Financial assets at amortised cost excludes GST recoverable from ATO (statutory receivable).

This section sets out the key risk management policies and measurement techniques of the Health Service.

Financial instruments held by the Health Service are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, borrowings, finance leases,
receivables and payables. The Health Service has limited exposure to financial risks. The Health Service’s overall risk management program
focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Health Service’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to the Health Service. 

Credit risk associated with the Health Service’s financial assets is generally confined to patient fee debtors (see note 6.1 Receivables). The main
receivable of the Health Service is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than government agencies and
patient fee debtors, the Health Service trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Health Service has policies in place to ensure
that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis with the result that the Health Service’s exposure to bad debts is minimised. Debt will be written-off against the allowance account
when it is improbable or uneconomical to recover the debt. At the end of the reporting period, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk arises when the Health Service is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Health Service is exposed to liquidity
risk through its normal course of operations.

The Health Service has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to
ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Health Service’s income or the
value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Health Service does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price
risks. The Health Service’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the long-term debt obligations. The Health 
Service's borrowings include the Department of Treasury loans and finance leases (fixed rates with varying maturities). The interest rate risk for the
loans is managed by Department of Treasury through portfolio diversification and variation in maturity dates.

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

8.1 Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Credit risk exposure

The following table details the credit risk exposure on the Health Service's receivables using a provision matrix. 

<30 31-60 61-90 >91
Total Current days days days days

30 June 2019 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Expected credit loss rate 19% 1% 9% 12% 11% 46%
Estimated total gross carrying amount at default 70,503 32,145 5,424 4,504 3,187 25,243
Expected credit losses 13,264 412 461 528 361 11,502

<30 31-60 61-90 >91
Total Current days days days days

1 July 2018 (Remeasurement) $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Expected credit loss rate 13% 1% 7% 13% 15% 31%
Estimated total gross carrying amount at default 56,431 27,094 4,555 3,676 2,372 18,734
Expected credit losses 7,088 200 296 464 361 5,767

(d) Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

 

% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
2019

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents -    33,888 -  -  33,888 33,888 33,888 -  -  -  
Restricted cash and cash equivalents -    11,755 -  -  11,755 11,755 11,755 -  -  -  
Receivables (a) -    57,239 -  -  57,239 57,239 57,239 -  -  -  
Loans and Advances -    -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  
Amounts receivable for services -    827,859 -  -  827,859 827,859 -  -  -  827,859

930,741 -  -  930,741 930,741 102,882 -  -  827,859

Financial Liabilities
Payables -    104,821 -  -  104,821 104,821 104,821 -  -  -  
Department of Treasury Loans 3.25% 2,881 -  2,881 -  2,975 744 2,231
Finance Lease - Data Centres -  -  -  -  
Finance Lease - Fiona Stanley Hospital 5.85% 115,112 115,112 -  -  129,183 10,841 32,524 76,131 9,687
Finance Lease - Other -  -  -  -  -  

222,814 115,112 2,881 104,821 236,979 116,406 34,755 76,131 9,687

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from ATO (statutory receivable)

Days past due

Days past due

Carrying  
amount

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non-
interest 
bearing

1-5 years
More 

than 5 
years

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

The following table details the Health Service's interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial
liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying
amounts of each item.

Nominal 
amount

Up to 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year

Weighted
average
effective

interest rate
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

8.1 Financial risk management (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure (continued)

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

 

% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
2018

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents -    19,353 -  -  19,353 19,353 19,353 -  -  -  
Restricted cash and cash equivalents -    9,688 -  -  9,688 9,688 9,688 -  -  -  
Receivables  (a) -    49,560 -  -  49,560 49,560 49,560 -  -  -  
Loans and advances -    -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  
Amounts receivable for services -    723,685 -  -  723,685 723,685 -  -  -  723,685

802,286 -  -  802,286 802,286 78,601 -  -  723,685

Financial Liabilities
Payables -    92,996 -  -  92,996 92,996 92,996 -  -  -  
Department of Treasury Loans 3.15% 5,628 -  5,628 -  5,896 730 2,191 2,975 -  
Finance Lease - Data Centres -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  
Finance Lease - Fiona Stanley Hospital 5.40% 165,259 165,259 -  -  186,873 14,423 43,268 111,038 18,144
Finance Lease - Other -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

263,883 165,259 5,628 92,996 285,765 108,149 45,459 114,013 18,144

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from ATO (statutory receivable)

(e) Interest rate sensitivity analysis

Carrying
Amount Surplus Equity Surplus Equity

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
2019

Financial Liabilities
2,881 29 29 (29) (29)

Total Increase/(Decrease) 29 29 (29) (29)

Financial Liabilities
5,628 56 56 (56) (56)

Total Increase/(Decrease) 56 56 (56) (56)

Fair values

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Health Service’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the
reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1 per cent change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates
is held constant throughout the reporting period.

effective
interest rate

Weighted
average Carrying  

amount

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non-
interest 
bearing

Nominal 
amount

-100 basis points +100 basis points

Up to 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year 1-5 years

Department of Treasury Loans

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at
amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

Department of Treasury Loans

2018

More 
than 5 
years
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

8.2 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets  

8.2.1 Contingent assets

8.2.2 Contingent liabilities

Other

17,284 23,878
15 16

8.3  Fair value measurements

Fair value hierarchy

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2019. $000 $000 $000 $000

-  -  
-  -  
-  2,835 71,487 74,322

-  57,816 57,816
-  870 1,590,532 1,591,402
-  3,705 1,719,835 1,723,540

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2018. $000 $000 $000 $000

-  -  -  -  
-  -  -  -  
-  2,811 71,794 74,605

-  -  59,927 59,927
-  1,519 1,660,235 1,661,754
-  4,330 1,791,956 1,796,286

   Specialised

Land

At the reporting date, the Health Service is not aware of any contingent assets.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, are
measured at the best estimate.

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable retrospectively. 

In addition to the liabilities included in the financial statements, the Health Service has the following contingent liabilities.

Hospital cladding
The Department of Health is conducting a review of all Health Service's hospitals that have aluminium composite panels (ACPs), following concerns
about the potential fire risk associated with the use of some ACP cladding products. The review has identified the Fiona Stanley Hospital (FSH) and
Rockingham General Hospital (RGH) sites where ACPs may not meet the requirements of the amended building code of Australia. The cladding at
these sites is undergoing additional testing to determine the need for remediation work. Any costs associated with the potential remediation work
cannot be reliably estimated at this time and we await advice from the system manager as to quantum and source.

There are facilities management matters under negotiation that may or may not become liabilities. The
negotiations are an ongoing part of contract management processes invoking formal contractual dispute
mechanisms. These matters have not progressed to the ‘litigation in process’ stage. 
Number of disputes

Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003 the Health Service is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites to the Department of
Water and Environmental Regulation. In accordance with the Act, the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation classifies these sites on
the basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified as contaminated – remediation
required or possibly contaminated – investigation required , the Health Service may have a liability in respect of investigation or remediation
expenses.

At the reporting date, the Health Service does not have any suspected contaminated sites reported under the Act.

   Specialised

   Residential 

   Residential and commercial car park

   Vacant land

Buildings

   Residential and commercial car park
Buildings

2) input other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset either directly or indirectly (level 2)
3) inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (unobservable input) (level 3).

AASB 13 requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy: 
1) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (level 1) 

   Specialised

   Specialised

Land
   Vacant land
   Residential 
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

8.3  Fair value measurements (continued)

a)
b)

c)
d)
e)

The maximum effective age used in the valuation of specialised buildings is 50 years. The effective age of buildings is initially calculated from the
commissioning date, and is reviewed after the buildings have undergone substantial renewal, upgrade or expansion. 

For current use land assets, fair value is measured firstly by establishing the opportunity cost of public purpose land, which is termed the
hypothetical alternate land use value. This approach assumes unencumbered land use based upon potential highest and best alternative use as
represented by surrounding land uses and market analysis. 

The techniques involved in the determination of the current replacement costs include:

In some instances the legal, physical, economic and socio political restrictions on a land results in a minimal or negative current use land value. In
this situation the land value adopted is the higher of the calculated rehabilitation amount or the amount determined on the basis of comparison to
market corroborated evidence of land with low level utility. Land of low level utility is considered to be grazing land on the urban fringe of the
metropolitan area with no economic farming potential or foreseeable development or redevelopment potential at the measurement date.

measurement of the general floor areas
application of the BUC cost rates per square meter of general floor areas

The Health Service’s hospitals and medical centres are specialised buildings valued under the cost approach. Staff accommodation on hospital
grounds is also considered as specialised buildings for valuation purpose. This approach uses the depreciated replacement cost method which
estimates the current cost of reproduction or replacement of the buildings, on its current site, less deduction for physical deterioration and relevant
forms of obsolescence. Depreciated replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an asset less, where applicable, accumulated depreciation
calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired future economic benefits of the asset.

review and updating of the ‘as-constructed’ drawing documentation

Fair value of the land is then determined on the assumption that the site is rehabilitated to a vacant marketable condition. This requires costs
associated with rehabilitation to be deducted from the hypothetical alternate land use value of the land. Costs may include building demolition,
clearing, planning approvals and time allowances associated with realising that potential. 

categorisation of the drawings using the Building Utilisation Categories (BUC) which designate the functional areas typically provided by the
following types of clinical facilities. Each BUC has different cost rates which are calculated from the historical construction costs of similar
clinical facilities and are adjusted for the year-to-year change in building costs using building cost index
• nursing posts and medical centres
• metropolitan secondary hospitals

For properties with buildings and other improvements, the land value is measured by comparison and analysis of open market transactions on the
assumption that the land is in a vacant and marketable condition. The amount determined is deducted from the total property value and the residual
amount represents the building value.

Cost Approach

The valuation under cost approach commences in the fourth year subsequent to the building commissioning, as the actual construction cost, with
adjustment of the annual movement in building cost index, is an approximation of current replacement cost in the first three years. The building cost
index is published by the Department of Finance’s Building Management and Works.

The Health Service's residential properties mainly consist of residential buildings that have been re-configured to be used as health centres or
clinics.

Properties of a specialised nature that are rarely sold in an active market or are held to deliver public services are referred to as non-market or
current use type assets. These properties do not normally have a feasible alternative use due to restrictions or limitations on their use and disposal.
The existing use is their highest and best use.

The Health Service’s residential properties, commercial car park and vacant land are valued under the market approach. This approach provides
an indication of value by comparing the asset with identical or similar properties for which price information is available. Analysis of comparable
sales information and market data provides the basis for fair value measurement. 

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market for similar properties. Where such information is not available, Landgate
Valuation Services considers current prices in an active market for properties of different nature or recent prices of similar properties in less active
markets, and adjusts the valuation for differences in property characteristics and market conditions.

The Health Service obtains independent valuations of land and buildings from the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate
Valuation Services) annually. Two principal valuation techniques are applied to the measurement of fair values:

Market Approach (Comparable Sales)

application of the applicable regional cost indices, which are used throughout the construction industry to estimate the additional costs
associated with building construction in locations outside of the Perth area.

Valuation techniques used to derive level 2 and level 3 fair values
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

8.3  Fair value measurements (continued)

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

The following table represents the changes in level 3 items for the period ended 30 June 2019
Land Buildings
$000 $000

Fair value at start of period 71,794 1,720,162
Additions -  250
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in profit or loss 30 -  

-  (26,072)
Transfers from/(to) (337) -  
Depreciation -  (45,992)
Fair value at end of period 71,487 1,648,348

Land Buildings
$000 $000

Fair value at start of period 76,744 1,735,897
Additions -  (174)
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in profit or loss (2,900) -  

-  30,887
Transfers from/(to) (2,050) -  
Disposals -  (1,090)
Depreciation -  (45,358)
Fair value at end of period 71,794 1,720,162

Valuation processes

The straight line method of depreciation is applied to derive the depreciated replacement cost, assuming a uniform pattern of consumption over the
initial 37 years of asset life (up to 75 per cent of current replacement costs). All specialised buildings are assumed to have a residual value of 25
per cent of their current replacement costs.

Valuation techniques used to derive level 2 and level 3 fair values (continued)

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 

2019

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 

The following table represents the changes in level 3 items for the period ended 30 June 2018

2018

Landgate Valuation Service determines the fair values of the Health Service's land and building. A quantity surveyor is engaged by the Health
Service to provide an update of the current replacement costs for specialised buildings. The Landgate Valuation Services endorses the current
replacement costs calculated by the quantity surveyor for specialised buildings and calculates the depreciated replacement costs.  

The Health Service manages its own valuation processes. This includes the provision of property information to a quantity surveyor, Landgate
Valuation Services, and the review of valuation reports. Valuation processes and results are discussed with the chief finance officer at least once
every year.

The valuations are prepared on a going concern basis until the year in which the current use is discontinued.

Buildings with definite demolition plan are not subject to annual revaluation. The depreciated replacement costs at the last valuation dates for these
buildings are written down to the statement of comprehensive income as depreciation expenses over their remaining useful life.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

9. Other disclosures

Notes
Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 9.1
Correction of prior period errors 9.2
Initial application of Austrailian Accounting Standards 9.3
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 9.4
Compensation of  Key management personnel 9.5
Related party transactions 9.6
Related bodies 9.7
Affiliated bodies 9.8
Special purpose accounts 9.9
Remuneration of auditors 9.10
Equity 9.11
Supplementary financial information 9.12
Explanatory statement 9.13

9.1 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

9.2 Correction of Prior Period errors

TOIL provison recognition

30 June 2018 Comparative Year

Note

2018 
(Previously 

stated)

Increase/ 
(decrease) due 
to prior period 

restatements

2018 
(Restated)

Statement of Comprehensive Income (Extract) $000 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICE
Expenses
Employee benefits expense

Salaries and wages 3.1(a) 873,049 1,263 874,312
Total Employee benefits expense 3.1(a) 955,545 1,263 956,808

Total cost of services 1,815,020 1,263 1,816,283

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (8,671) (1,263) (9,934)

Statement of Financial Position (Extract)

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Provisions

Time off in lieu 3.1(b) 42,840 1,263 44,103
Total Provisions 3.1(b) 176,502 1,263 177,765

Total Current Liabilities 322,675 1,263 323,938

Statement of Changes in Equity (Extract)

Equity
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 9.11

Balance at the start of the period 1 July 2017 15,259 -  15,259
Result for the period (8,671) (1,263) (9,934)
Balance at the end of the period 30 June 2018 6,588 (1,263) 5,325

Total Equity 2,451,477 (1,263) 2,450,214

The impact of the prior years' restatements on the Health Services individual line items in the financial statements is summarised below:

A review of the interpretation of the industrial instruments related to the accumulation of the time off in lieu (TOIL), for working during a public
holiday, indicated that there were some variations in the application with in the payroll systems. Health Support Services (HSS) undertook an audit
of the public holiday TOIL entitlements accrued by currently employed, part-time and full-time nurses under WA Health System - Australian Nursing
Federation - Registered Nurses, Midwives, Enrolled (Mental Health) and Enrolled (Mothercraft Nurses - Industrial agreement 2016 (ANF
Agreement). The audit identified inconsistencies in the way public holiday TOIL had historically been calculated and awarded and has resulted in
some entitlements being over awarded and under awarded within the Health Service. The overall impact on the Health Service was an under
accrual of $1,262,630.

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other pronouncements, for the understanding of this
financial report. 

There were no events occurring after the reporting period which had significant financial effects on these financial statements.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

9.3 Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

Adjustments 1 July 2018
$000

Assets
Receivables (a), (b) (217)
Total Assets (217)

Total adjustments on Equity 
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (a), (b) (217)

(217)

The nature of these adjustments are described below:
(a) Classification and measurement

Amortised Fair value Fair value 
Cost through through

OCI P/L
$000 $000 $000

AASB 139 category $000
Trade Receivables (*) 49,560 49,343 -  -  

49,343 -  -  

Impairment
under ECL under

AASB 139 as AASB 9 as
at at

30 June 2018 1 July 2018
$000 $000

6,871 217 7,088

6,871 217 7,088

(b) Impairment

Remeasurement
$000

Loans and Receivables under 
AASB 139/ Financial assets at 
amortised cost under AASB 9

In summary, upon the adoption of AASB 9, the Health Service had the following reclassifications as at 1 July 2018:

AASB 9 category

(*) The change in carrying amount is a result of additional impairment allowance.  See notes on impairment below.

Under AASB 9, financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (fair value through
OCI) or fair value through profit or loss (fair value through P/L). The classification is based on two criteria: the Health Service's business model for
managing the assets; and whether the assets’ contractual cash flows represent ‘solely payments of principal and interest’ on the principal amount
outstanding.

The assessment of the Health Service's business model was made as of the date of initial application, 1 July 2018. The assessment of whether
contractual cash flows on financial assets are solely comprised of principal and interest was made based on the facts and circumstances as at the
initial recognition of the assets.

The classification and measurement requirements of AASB 9 did not have a significant impact to the Health Service. The following are the changes
in the classification of the Health Service's financial assets:
• Trade receivables and Loans and advances (i.e. Other debtors) classified as Loans and receivables as at 30 June 2018 are held to collect
contractual cash flows and give rise to cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest. These are classified and measured as
Financial assets at amortised cost beginning 1 July 2018.
• The Health Service did not designate any financial assets as at fair value through P/L.

The adoption of AASB 9 has fundamentally changed the Health Service's accounting for impairment losses for financial assets by replacing AASB
139’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach. AASB 9 requires the Health Service to recognise an
allowance for ECLs for all financial assets not held at fair value through P/L.

Upon adoption of AASB 9, the Health Service recognised an additional impairment on Trade receivables of $0.2 million which resulted in a
decrease in Accumulated surplus/(deficit) of $0.2 million as at 1 July 2018.

Set out below is the reconciliation of the ending impairment allowances in accordance with AASB 139 to the opening loss allowances determined in
accordance with AASB 9.

The effect of adopting AASB 9 as at 1 July 2018 was, as follows:

AASB 9 Financial Instruments replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurements for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: classification and measurement;
impairment; and hedge accounting.  

The Health Service applied AASB 9 prospectively, with an initial application date 1 July 2018. The adoption of AASB 9 has resulted in changes in
accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised in the financial statements. In accordance with AASB 9.7.2.15, the Health Service
has not restated the comparative information which continues to be reported under AASB 139. Differences arising from adoption have been
recognised directly in Accumulated surplus/(deficit).
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

9.4 Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

Title

AASB 15 1 Jan 2019

Nature of Change

Impact

Transition

AASB 16 1 Jan 2019

Nature of Change

Impact

The above assessment is based on the following accounting policy positions:

Transition

AASB 1058 1 Jan 2019

Nature of Change

Impact

Transition

 - Land, buildings and investment property ROU assets are measured under the fair 
value model, subsequent to initial recognition; and

 - Option 1/Option 2 of the modified retrospective approach in transition;
 - The 'low value asset' threshold set at AUD $5,000 (unless GROH, GOA or State Fleet);

This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless
the underlying asset is of low value. 

The Health Service cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 'Application of Australian
Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements' or by an exemption from TI 1101. There has been no early adoption of any other Australian
Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Health Service for the annual reporting period ended 30 June
2018. Where applicable, the Health Service plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.

The Health Sevices income is primarily derived from the appropriations which will be
measured under AASB 1058 and thus will not be materially affected by this change.
Although the recognition of 'user charges and fees' and 'sales' revenues will be deferred
until the Health Service has discharged its performance obligations, these revenues are
expected to be fully recognised at year end and no contract liability will exist. 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers    

Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after

This Standard clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to
not-for-profit (NFP) entities, more closely reflecting the economic reality of NFP entity
transactions that are not contracts with customers. Timing of income recognition is
dependent on whether such a transaction gives rise to a liability or other performance
obligation (a promise to transfer a good or service), or a contribution by owners, related
to an asset (such as cash or another asset) received by the Health Service.

Income of Not-for-Profit Entities

Leases

This Standard establishes the principles that the Health Service shall apply to report
useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.
The mandatory effective date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2019 after being
amended by AASB 2016-7.

The Health Service will adopt the modified retrospective approach on transition to AASB
15. No comparative information will be restated under this approach, and the Health 
Service will recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the Standard as an
adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated surplus/(deficit) at the date of initial
application.

The recognition of additional assets and liabilities, mainly from operating leases, will
increase the Health Service's total assets by $30,601 million and total liabilities by
$31,094 million. This will have an equity impact of $493 million on 1 July 2019. In
addition, interest and depreciation expenses will increase, offset by a decrease in rental
expense for the year ending 30 June 2020 and beyond.

 - For leases classified as 'short term' (12 months or less), these are not recognised    
under AASB 16 (unless GROH, GOA or State Fleet);

 - Discount rates are sourced from WA Treasury Corporation (WATC).

AASB 1058 will have no impact on appropriations and recurrent grants received by the
Health Service - they will continue to be recognised as income when funds are deposited
in the bank account or credited to the holding account.  

The Health Service will adopt the modified retrospective approach on transition to AASB
16. No comparative information will be restated under this approach, and the Health 
Service will recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the Standard as an
adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated surplus/deficit at the date of initial
application.

The Health Service will adopt the modified retrospective approach on transition to AASB
1058. No comparative information will be restated under this approach, and the Health
Service will recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the Standard as an
adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated surplus/(deficit) at the date of initial
application.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

9.4 Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)

Title

AASB 1059 1 Jan 2020

Nature of Change

Impact

AASB 2016-8 1 Jan 2019

Nature of Change

AASB 2018-4 1 Jan 2019

Nature of Change

AASB 2018-5 1 Jan 2019

Nature of Change

AASB 2018-7 1 Jan 2020

Nature of Change

AASB 2018-8 1 Jan 2019

Nature of Change

Impact The Health Service will elect to apply the option to measure right of use assets under
peppercorn leases at cost (which is generally about $1). As a result, the financial impact
of this Standard is not material.

Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Definition of Material

This standard clarifies the definition of material and its application by improving the
wording and aligning the definition across AASB Standards and other publications.
There is no financial impact.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Right of Use Assets of Not for Profit 
Entities

This standard provides a temporary option for not for profit entities to apply the fair value
initial measurement requirements for right of use assets arising under leases significantly
below market terms and conditions principally to enable the entity to further its objectives.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance
for Not-for-Profit Entities

Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors

This Standard inserts Australian requirements and authoritative implementation guidance
for not-for-profit entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. This guidance assists not-for-profit
entities in applying those Standards to particular transactions and other events. There is
no financial impact. 

This Standard addresses the accounting for a service concession arrangement (a type of
public private partnership) by a grantor that is a public sector entity by prescribing the
accounting for the arrangement from the grantors perspective. Timing and measurement
for the recognition of a specific asset class occurs on commencement of the
arrangement and the accounting for associated liabilities is determined by whether the
grantee is paid by the grantor or the users of the public service provided. 

The mandatory effective date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2020 after being
amended by AASB 2018-5.

This Standard amends AASB 15 to add requirements and authoritative implementation
guidance for application by not-for-profit public sector licensors to transactions involving
the issue of licences. There is no financial impact as the Health Service does not issue
licences. 

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 1059 so that AASB 1059 is
required to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
instead of 1 January 2019. There is no financial impact. 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Deferral of AASB 1059

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Australian Implementation Guidance
for Not-for-Profit Public Sector Licensors
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

9.5 Compensation of Key Management Personnel

Compensation of members of the accountable authority

Compensation band ($) 2019 2018
70,001 - 80,000 1 1
60,001 - 70,000 - -
50,001 - 60,000 - -
40,001 - 50,000 9 9
30,001 - 40,000 - -
20,001 - 30,000 - -

Compensation of Senior Officers

Compensation band ($)
580,001 - 590,000 - 1
520,001 - 530,000 1 -
480,001 - 490,000 1 -
460,001 - 470,000 - 1
400,001 - 410,000 - 1
240,001 - 250,000 1 -
230,001 - 240,000 - 2
220,001 - 230,000 2 1
210,001 - 220,000 1 2
200,001 - 210,000 - 1
190,001 - 200,000 3 1
170,001 - 180,000 1 -
160,001 - 170,000 - 2
140,001 - 150,000 2 -
110,001 - 120,000 - 1
70,001 - 80,000 - 1
10,001 - 20,000 - 1

$000 $000
Short term employee benefits 3,108 3,513
Post employment benefits 293 347
Other long term benefits 54 125
Total compensation of key management personnel 3,455 3,985

9.6 Related Party Transactions

Related parties of the Health Service include:

•
•
•
•
•

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Health Service in respect of senior officers. 

associates and joint ventures, that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements
other departments and public sector entities, including related bodies included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements

the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

The Health Service is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia. In conducting its activities, the Health Service is
required to pay various taxes and levies to the State and entities related to the State. The payment of these taxes and levies, is based on the
standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and levy payers.

The total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for senior officers of the for the reporting period are presented
within the following bands:

The Health Service has determined that key management personnel include Ministers, members and senior officers of the Authority. However, the
Health Service is not obligated to compensate Ministers and therefore disclosures in relation to Ministers’ compensation may be found in the
Annual Report on State Finances.

all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities
all cabinet ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities

113

D
IS

C
LO

SU
R

E 
A

N
D

 C
O

M
P

LI
A

N
C

E



South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

9.6 Related Party Transactions (continued)

Significant transactions with government-related entities

• Income from State Government (note 4.1)
• capital appropriations (note 9.11)
• superannuation payments to GESB (note 3.1(a))
• lease rentals payments for accommodation and fleet leasing to the Department of Finance (note 3.6)
• commitments for future lease payments to the Department of Finance  (note 7.5)
• insurance transactions with the Insurance Commission (note 3.1(a) and Riskcover fund note 3.6)
• remuneration for services provided by the Office of the Auditor General (note 9.10)
• utility payments to Water Corporation (note 3.2)
• utility payments to Electricity Generation and Retail Corporation (Synergy) (note 3.2)
• payments for legal advice to Department of  the Attorney General (note 3.6)
• maintenance transactions with the Department of  Fire and Emergency Services (note 3.4 and note 3.5)
• funding agreement with Disability Services Commision (note 3.3)
• transactions with the Department of Health and other Metropolitan and Country Health Services. 

Material transactions with related parties

9.7 Related bodies

9.8 Affiliated bodies

9.9 Special purpose accounts

Balance at the start of period (75) -  
Add Receipts

Service delivery agreement
     Commonwealth contributions (31,098) (32,118)
     State contributions (91,810) (89,366)
Other -  (178)

(122,908) (121,662)

Payments 122,983 121,587
Balance at the end of period -  (75)

9.10 Remuneration of auditor

251 236

251 236

In conducting its activities, the Health Service is required to transact with the State and entities related to the State. These transactions are
generally based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all agencies. Such transactions include:

A related body is a body which receives more than half its funding and resources from the Health Service and is subject to operational control by the
Health Service.

Auditing the accounts, financial statements controls and key performance indicators 

The purpose of the special purpose account is to receive funds from the Mental Health Commission, to fund the provision of mental health services
as jointly endorsed by the Department of Health and the Mental Health Commission, in the South Metropolitan Health Service, in accordance with
the annual Service Agreement and subsequent agreements.

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current reporting period is as follows:

Mental Health Commission Fund (South Metropolitan Health Service) Account

The Health Service had no related bodies during the financial year.

An affiliated body is a body which receives more than half its funding and resources from the Health Service but is not subject to operational control
by the Health Service.

The Health Service had no affiliated bodies during the financial year.

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm's length basis. 

The Health Service had no material related party transaction with Ministers/senior officers or their close family members or their controlled (or jointly
controlled) entities for disclosure.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

9.11 Equity

Contributed Equity

Balance at start of period 2,353,568 2,308,640

Contributions by owners (b) 
Capital appropriation (a) 80,960 65,628
Transfer of other trust monies to EMHS as part of the Opening Balances (256) -  
Transfer of assets -  (27)

80,704 65,601

Distributions to owners (b) (c) (d) (e)
Transfer of FSH construction savings to Department of Treasury (e) -  (17,752)
Transfer of net assets (other than cash) to other agencies (d) (337) (2,921)

(337) (20,673)

Balance at end of period 2,433,935 2,353,568

(337) -  
-  (2,921)

(337) (2,921)

(e) In October 2007, the FSH construction account was established under the FSH Construction Account Act 2007. The construction account is a
Department of Treasury administered special purpose account (SPA) established for the purchase of land, and construction and establishment of
the FSH. In 2014-15 a cash surplus resulted in the FSH construction project, with the return of savings from the managing contractor. As these
residual funds were considered special purpose funds under the FSH Construction Account Act 2007, plus the hospital was declared operational in
December 2013 and there were no additional construction or establishment costs anticipated, the funds were returned to the Department of
Treasury during the year. 

The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Health Service on behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual
interest in the net assets of the Health Service. The asset revaluation reserve represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-
current assets.

Transfer of Land to Ministerial Body for sale

(b) AASB 1004 'Contributions' requires transfers of net assets as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements to be accounted for as
contributions by owners and distributions to owners.

TI 955 designates non-discretionary and non-reciprocal transfers of net assets between state government agencies as contributions by owners in
accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038. Where the transferee agency accounts for a non-discretionary and non-reciprocal transfer of net assets
as a contribution by owners, the transferor agency accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owners.

(c) TI 955 requires non-reciprocal transfers of net assets to Government to be accounted for as distribution to owners in accordance with AASB
Interpretation 1038.

(a) TI 955 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities' designates capital appropriations as contributions by owners in
accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities'.

(d) Transfer of net assets (other than cash) to other agencies is made up of the following items :-

  

Transfer of Land & Buildings to CAHS
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000

Reserves
`Asset revaluation reserve (a)

Balance at start of period 91,321 60,585

Net revaluation increments/(decrements) (b):
   Land -  -  
   Buildings (26,439) 30,736
Balance at end of period 64,882 91,321

Asset revaluation decrements recognised as an expense (b):
   Land (54) 2,990

(54) 2,990

Accumulated deficit Restated

Balance at start of period 5,325 15,259
Remeasurement under AASB 9 (note 9.3) (217) -  
Result for the period 17,642 (9,934) (a)

Balance at end of period 22,750 5,325 (a)

9.12 Supplementary financial information

(a) Revenue, public and other property written off

Revenue and debts written off under the authority of the Accountable Authority 52 16,065

Public and other property written off under the authority of the Accountable Authority 61 75

Revenue and debts written off under the authority of the Minister -  231

113 16,371

(b) Losses of public moneys and other property

Losses of public moneys and public or other property through theft or default -  -  

Less amount recovered -  -  

Net losses -  -  

(c) Gifts of public property

Gifts of public property provided by the Health Service. -  -  

(b) Any increment is credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve, except to the extent that any increment reverses a revaluation decrement
previously recognised as an expense.

(a)  The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets. 
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

9.13 Explanatory statement

Variance Variance
9.13.1 Statement of Comprehensive Income 2019 2019 2018 estimates actual 2018 and

Estimates Actual Actual and actuals actual 2019
COST OF SERVICES $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Employee benefits expense 955,398 982,687 956,808 27,289 25,879
Fees for visiting medical practitioners 10,348 13,222 11,888 2,874 1,334
Contracts for services 141,731 137,350 140,411 (4,381) (3,061)
Patient support costs 1 318,051 357,318 351,346 39,267 5,972
Finance costs 7,744 7,680 10,516 (64) (2,836)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 101,097 102,557 106,176 1,460 (3,619)
Asset revaluation decrement -  (54) 2,990 (54) (3,044)
Loss on disposal of non-current assets -  176 240 176 (64)
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment 48,573 51,399 49,479 2,826 1,920
Other supplies and services 64,617 58,764 57,067 (5,853) 1,697
Other expenses 144,087 123,448 129,362 (20,639) (5,914)

1,791,646 1,834,547 1,816,283 42,901 18,264

INCOME
Revenue

Patient charges 100,510 100,542 93,073 32 7,469
Other fees for services 63,915 69,531 70,227 5,616 (696)
Commonwealth grants and contributions 553,097 558,872 547,686 5,775 11,186
Other grants and contributions 89,833 93,783 91,657 3,950 2,126
Donation revenue 732 101 608 (631) (507)
Interest revenue -  10 9 10 1
Commercial activities -  87 -  87 87
Other revenue 9,103 18,268 12,099 9,165 6,169

817,190 841,194 815,359 24,004 25,835

Gain
Gain on disposal of non-current assets -  -  -  -  -  

-  -  -  -  -  

817,190 841,194 815,359 24,004 25,835

NET COST OF SERVICES 974,456 993,353 1,000,924 18,897 (7,571)

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations 897,687 939,678 914,400 41,991 25,278
Assets (transferred)/assumed -  16 33 16 (17)
Services received free of charge 76,498 71,301 76,557 (5,197) (5,256)

Total income from State Government 974,185 1,010,995 990,990 36,810 20,005

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (271) 17,642 (9,934) 17,913 27,576

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation reserve 2 -  (26,439) 30,736 (26,439) (57,176)
Total other comprehensive income / (loss) -  (26,439) 30,736 (26,439) (57,176)

(271) (8,797) 20,802 (8,526) (29,600)

Total cost of services

Total Revenue

Total Gains

All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2019, and between the actual results for 2019 and 2018 are shown
below. Narratives are provided for selected significant variances, which are generally greater than 5% and $25.0 million.

Expenses

Total income other than income from State 
Government

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR
THE PERIOD
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

9.13.1 Statement of Comprehensive Income

Significant variances between estimated and actual for 2019

1. Patient support costs

2. Changes in asset revaluation reserve

Significant variances between actual for 2018 and 2019

2. Changes in asset revaluation reserve
As per note 5.1 Property, plant and equipment. The decrease in the reserve relates to the devaluation of building assets.

As per note 5.1 Property, plant and equipment. The decrease in the reserve relates to the devaluation of building assets.

The results were $39 million higher than the estimates due to various factors including increases in Medical Surgical and Diagnostic
Supplies ($7 million), dispensing of higher level of high cost antiviral drugs ($7 million), higher outsourced services costs ($2 million), and
the share of pathology shared services costs being reclassified from the 'Other Expenses' line ($22 million).
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Variance Variance
2019 2019 2018 estimates actual 2018 and

9.13.2 Statement of Financial Position Estimates Actual Actual and actuals actual 2019
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 33,381 33,888 19,353 507 14,535
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 9,688 11,755 9,688 2,067 2,067
Receivables 45,925 61,997 53,284 16,072 8,713
Inventories 5,209 5,270 5,208 61 62
Other current assets 4,948 4,664 4,949 (284) (285)

Total Current Assets 99,151 117,574 92,482 18,423 25,092

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 10,848 10,848 7,148 -  3,700
Amounts receivable for services 3 824,931 827,859 723,685 2,928 104,174
Property, plant and equipment 2,011,759 2,005,520 2,093,730 (6,239) (88,210)
Intangible assets 23,709 27,064 23,709 3,355 3,355

Total Non-Current Assets 2,871,247 2,871,291 2,848,272 44 23,019

Total Assets 2,970,398 2,988,865 2,940,754 18,467 48,111

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 92,946 104,821 92,996 11,875 11,825
Borrowings 40,946 40,946 52,894 -  (11,948)
Provisions 186,502 188,478 177,765 1,976 10,713
Other current liabilities 433 274 283 (159) (9)

Total Current Liabilities 320,827 334,519 323,938 13,692 10,581

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 4 77,046 77,046 117,993 0 (40,947)
Provisions 48,609 55,733 48,609 7,124 7,124

Total Non-Current Liabilities 125,655 132,779 166,602 7,124 (33,823)

Total Liabilities 446,482 467,298 490,540 20,816 (23,242)

NET ASSETS 2,523,916 2,521,567 2,450,214 (2,349) 71,353

EQUITY
Contributed equity 2,426,146 2,433,935 2,353,568 7,789 80,367
Reserves 5 90,762 64,882 91,321 (25,880) (26,439)
Accumulated deficit 7,008 22,750 5,325 15,742 17,425

TOTAL EQUITY 2,523,916 2,521,567 2,450,214 (2,349) 71,353

9.13.2 Statement of Financial Position

Significant variances between estimated and actual for 2019

5. Reserves

Significant variances between actual for 2018 and 2019

3. Amounts receivable for services

4. Borrowings

5. Reserves

Refer to note 5.1 Property, plant and equipment. The movement in the reserve relates to the devaluation of building assets.

Refer to note 6.2 Amounts receivable for services. The movement between the years is due to the accrual funding received from
Government in 2018-19.

Refer to note 7.1 Borrowings. The reduction in balances is largely due to the principal repayment of the FSH finance lease liabilities in
2018-19.

Refer to note 5.1 Property, plant and equipment. The movement in the reserve relates to the devaluation of building assets.
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Variance Variance
2019 2019 2018 estimates actual 2018 and

9.13.3 Statement of Cash Flows Estimates Actual Actual and actuals actual 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Inflows Inflows
(Outflows) (Outflows)

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
 Service appropriations 796,440 835,361 801,284 38,921 34,077
 Capital appropriations 6 69,832 78,214 45,250 8,382 32,964

-  -  -  -  -  

Net cash provided by State Government 866,272 913,575 846,534 47,303 67,041

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
 Employee benefits (945,398) (961,667) (940,689) (16,269) (20,978)
 Supplies and services (642,909) (657,388) (662,204) (14,479) 4,816
 Finance costs 2,708 -  -  (2,708) -  
 GST payments on purchases -  (1,033) (1,150) (1,033) 117

Receipts
 Receipts from customers 100,510 91,810 85,555 (8,700) 6,255
 Commonwealth grants and contributions 553,097 558,872 547,686 5,775 11,186
 Other grants and contributions 89,833 93,783 91,657 3,950 2,126
 Donations received 732 56 275 (676) (219)
 Interest received -  10 9 10 1
 Other receipts 73,019 84,756 86,916 11,737 (2,160)
Net cash used in operating activities (768,408) (790,801) (791,945) (22,393) 1,144

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments

7 (23,386) (44,766) (6,738) (21,380) (38,028)
Receipts
 Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets -  (15) 87 (15) (102)
Net cash used in investing activities (23,386) (44,781) (6,651) (21,395) (38,130)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Repayment of finance lease liabilities (60,450) (57,691) (67,863) 2,759 10,172
Net cash used in financing activities (60,450) (57,691) (67,863) 2,759 10,172

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 14,028 20,302 (19,925) 6,274 40,227

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 36,189 36,189 56,114 0 (19,925)

Cash transferred to Department of Treasury 3,700 -  -  (3,700) -  

53,917 56,491 36,189 2,574 20,302

Payment for purchase of non-current physical and 

 Cash transferred from Metropolitan Health Service  
(abolished)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF
PERIOD 
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South Metropolitan Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

9.13.3 Statement of Cash Flows

Significant variances between actual for 2018 and 2019

7. Payment for purchase of non-current physical and intangible assets
Increased capital outlays occurred during 2018-19, supported by drawdowns from the Asset Investment Program. The main area of
investment during the year was at FSH and largely related to ICT matters.

Increased capital outlays occurred during 2018-19, supported by drawdowns from the Asset Investment Program. The main area of
investment during the year was at FSH and largely related to ICT matters.

6.  Capital appropriations
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Certification of key performance indicators

SOUTH METROPOLITAN HEALTH SERVICE 
CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

We hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant  
and appropriate for assisting users to assess South Metropolitan Health Service’s performance and 
fairly represent the performance of South Metropolitan Health Service for the financial year ended  
30 June 2019.

Mr Rob McDonald 
Chair 
South Metropolitan Health Service Board 
16 September 2019

Mr David Rowe 
Board Member 
South Metropolitan Health Service Board 
16 September 2019
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sOutcome 1 – Effectiveness KPI

 � Unplanned hospital readmissions for patients within 28 days 
for selected surgical procedures: (a) knee replacement;  
(b) hip replacement; (c) tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy;  
(d) hysterectomy; (e) prostatectomy; (f) cataract surgery;  
(g) appendicectomy................................................................................................................ 124

 � Percentage of elective wait list patients waiting over boundary for 
reportable procedures (a) % Category 1 over 30 days (b) % Category 2 
over 90 days (c) % Category 3 over 365 days ............................................................ 126

 � Healthcare-associated Staphylococcus aureus bloodstream  
infections (HA-SABSI) per 10,000 occupied bed-days ....................................... 127

 � Survival rates for sentinel conditions  .......................................................................... 128

 � Percentage of admitted patients who discharged against medical 
advice: a) Aboriginal patients; and b) Non-Aboriginal patients .................. 130

 � Percentage of live-born term infants with an Apgar score of less 
than 7 at 5 minutes post delivery .................................................................................... 131

 � Readmissions to acute specialised mental health inpatient services 
within 28 days of discharge ............................................................................................... 132

 � Percentage of post-discharge community care within 7 days  
following discharge from acute specialised mental health  
inpatient services ..................................................................................................................... 133

Outcome 1 – Eff iciency KPI
 � Average admitted cost per weighted activity unit.............................................. 134

 � Average Emergency Department cost per weighted activity unit .......... 135

 � Average non-admitted cost per weighted activity unit ................................... 136

 � Average cost per bed-day in specialised mental health  
inpatient services ..................................................................................................................... 137

 � Average cost per treatment day of non-admitted care provided by 
mental health services .......................................................................................................... 138

Outcome 2 – Eff iciency KPI
 � Average cost per person of delivering population health programs  

by population health units ................................................................................................. 139
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Outcome 1 – 
Effectiveness KPI

Unplanned hospital readmissions 
for patients within 28 days for 
selected surgical procedures:  
(a) knee replacement; (b) hip 
replacement; (c) tonsillectomy 
and adenoidectomy; (d) 
hysterectomy; (e) prostatectomy; 
(f) cataract surgery; (g) 
appendicectomy

Rationale

Higher hospital readmission rates may be the 
result of patients being discharged prematurely 
and/or ineffective discharge planning and 
communication1. Many unplanned hospital 
readmissions are associated with the original 
reason for hospitalisation1. These readmissions 
necessitate patients spending additional 
periods of time in hospital as well as utilising 
additional hospital resources.

Readmission rate is considered a global 
performance measure, as it potentially points 
to deficiencies in the functioning of the overall 
healthcare system. Along with the provision 
of appropriate interventions, good discharge 
planning can help to decrease the likelihood of 
unplanned hospital readmissions by providing 
patients with the care instructions they need 
after a hospital stay and helping patients 
recognise symptoms that may require medical 
attention.

The surgeries selected to be measured by 
this indicator are based on the seven surgery 
types in the current National Health Agreement 
Unplanned Readmission performance 
indicator (NHA PI 23).

1  Pearson, B., Skelly, R., Wileman, D., Masud, T. (2002). Unplanned readmission to hospital: a comparison of the views of general practitioners and 
hospital staff. Age and Ageing, Vol. 31 No. 2, 141-143

Target

The target is represented as the upper limit per 
1,000 separations.  Improved or maintained 
performance is demonstrated by a result 
below or equal to the target. 

Results

For the period January to December 2018, 
unplanned readmission rates for selected 
surgical procedures to the SMHS are 
presented in Table 6.   

The hospital readmission rates for patients 
undergoing knee replacement and 
appendicectomy have remained within the 
target range between 2016 and 2018, with 
readmissions for appendicectomy showing a 
significant fall between 2017 and 2018. 

All unplanned readmissions are reviewed on a 
case-by-case basis, with the aim of identifying 
and addressing any system issues that may 
be adversely affecting the care provided to 
patients before the procedure, intraoperatively, 
in preparation for discharge or during 
outpatient follow-up.

Hip replacement

The readmission rate for hip replacement 
exceeded the target for the first time in 2018.  
Clinical review of these cases identified the 
overall number of readmissions was small 
and primarily associated with post-operative 
pain and wound infections. One patient 
required a return to theatre for management 
of infection and the remainder were managed 
conservatively, requiring only short hospital 
stays.  Case reviews have prompted positive 
changes in patient care including policy 
changes to improve discharge medication 
management.
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Tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy

The readmission rate for tonsillectomy and 
adenoidectomy has remained above the target 
increasing from 30 readmissions in 2017 to 
36 in 2018. Clinical review of cases identified 
the majority were due to small post-operative 
bleeds requiring conservative treatment and a 
single overnight stay. A number of cases were 
adult patients readmitted for post-operative 
bleeding. This cohort of patients is considered 
to be at higher risk of bleeding due to the 
severity, frequency and duration of their pre-
operative symptoms, which contribute to their 
complexity of care.

Hysterectomy

Readmission rates following hysterectomy 
increased in 2018. A number of these patients 
had undergone hysterectomy as a secondary 
procedure to other complex surgery, with 
the subsequent readmission not directly 
related to the hysterectomy. Clinical review 
of the remaining cases identified the majority 
of the readmissions were as a result of 
minor bleeding and wound infections, which 
were treated appropriately with the patient 

discharged the following day. A small number 
of patients also had multiple co-morbidities 
including a raised body mass index (BMI) 
and multiple previous surgeries with related 
associated complications. There was no 
indication of any system or clinical care issues. 

Prostatectomy

The readmission rate for patients undergoing 
prostatectomy fell in 2018, but remains above 
target. A clinical review of each readmission 
identified all readmissions were due to known 
post-surgical complications for this surgery, 
such as urinary or blood clot retention.  

Cataract surgery

Although the rate of readmission has remained 
the same and above the target for the last 
two reported years, the actual number of 
readmissions fell by one in 2018. A clinical 
review of the readmissions identified each case 
had been readmitted due to recognised post-
cataract surgery complications. No adverse 
clinical care or system issues were identified. 

Table 6: Rate of unplanned readmissions within 28 days for selected surgical procedures 

Surgical Procedure

Calendar Year

2016  
(part year) actual 

(per 1,000)

2017 
actual 

(per 1,000)

2018 
actual 

(per 1,000)

2018 
Target 

(per 1,000)

Knee replacement 21 19.2 25.5 ≤26.2

Hip replacement 10 13.1 18.3 ≤17.2

Tonsillectomy and 
adenoidectomy

97 82.6 109.4 ≤61.0

Hysterectomy 49 61.5 69.0 ≤41.3

Prostatectomy 30 53.1 40.2 ≤38.8

Cataract surgery 1 3.7 3.7 ≤1.1

Appendicectomy 32 32.1 26.0                                                                                                                                              ≤32.8

Data source: Hospital Morbidity Data Collection.

Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to date information reported refers to the 2018 calendar year results.
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Outcome 1 – 
Effectiveness KPI

Percentage of elective wait list 
patients waiting over boundary 
for reportable procedures  
(a) % Category 1 over 30 days  
(b) % Category 2 over 90 days 
(c) % Category 3 over 365 days 

Rationale

Elective surgery refers to planned surgery that 
can be booked in advance following specialist 
assessment that results in placement on an 
elective surgery waiting list.

Elective surgery wait lists should be actively 
managed by hospitals to ensure fair and 
equitable access to the limited elective 
services available within the public health 
system.

Elective services delivered in the WA health 
system are those deemed to be clinically 
necessary procedures, and potential negative 
impacts of excessive waiting times for these 
services include the likelihood of a worsening 
of the patient’s condition and/or quality of life 
or even death2. Therefore, waiting lists must 
be actively managed by hospitals to ensure 
all patients are treated in clinically appropriate 
timeframes. Patients are prioritised based on 
their assigned clinical urgency category:

 � Category 1 – procedures that are clinically 
indicated within 30 days

 � Category 2 – procedures that are clinically 
indicated within 90 days

 � Category 3 – procedures that are clinically 
indicated within 365 days.

On 1 April 2016, the WA health system 
introduced a new statewide performance 
target for the provision of elective services. 
For reportable procedures, the target requires 
that no patients (0 per cent) on the elective 
waiting lists wait longer than the clinically 

2 Derrett, S., Paul, C., Morris, J.M. (1999). Waiting for Elective Surgery: Effects on Health-Related Quality of Life, International Journal of Quality in 
Health Care, Vol 11 No. 1, 47-57.  

recommended time for their procedure, 
according to their urgency category.

Target

The target requires that no patients (0 per 
cent) on elective waiting lists for reportable 
procedures wait longer than the clinically 
recommended time, according to their 
urgency category.

Results

The 2018/19 financial year saw marked 
reductions in the percentage of over boundary 
reportable procedures listed as urgency 
category 1 and 2, and an increase for 
reportable urgency category 3 procedures. 
SMHS continued to work actively to improve 
the timeliness of treatment for elective 
waitlisted patients by implementing a range of 
initiatives under the governance of a SMHS-
wide elective surgery steering committee. 
Further significant progress towards the target 
of 0 per cent of patients waiting longer than 
clinically recommended according to urgency 
category was inhibited by challenges across 
key specialties, most particularly ear, nose and 
throat, general surgery and ophthalmology. 

While it is recognised further work is required, 
specialties such as urology, plastic surgery 
and gynaecology made significant progress 
in 2018/19 toward the reduction of over 
boundary reportable procedures.

Table 7: Percentage of elective wait 
list patients waiting over boundary for 
reportable procedures 

2016/17 
actual 

(%)

2017/18 
actual 

(%)

2018/19 
actual 

(%)
Target 

(%)

Urgency 
Category 1

22.6 25.3 17.6 0

Urgency 
Category 2

30.9 20.6 16.4 0

Urgency 
Category 3

4.8 1.9 2.9 0

Data source: Elective Services Wait List Data Collection.
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Outcome 1 – 
Effectiveness KPI

Healthcare-associated 
Staphylococcus aureus 
bloodstream infections  
(HA-SABSI) per 10,000  
occupied bed-days

Rationale

Staphylococcus aureus bloodstream 
infection is a serious infection that may be 
associated with the provision of health care. 
Staphylococcus aureus is a highly pathogenic 
organism and even with advanced medical 
care, infection caused by this organism is 
associated with prolonged hospital stays, 
increased healthcare costs and a marked 
increase in morbidity and mortality – mortality 
estimated at 20–25 per cent.

HA-SABSI is generally considered to be a 
preventable adverse event associated with the 
provision of health care.

This KPI has been selected for inclusion as it 
is a robust measure of the safety and quality of 
WA public hospitals, and aligns to the principle 
of increased transparency and accountability 
of performance information provided to the 
public. A low or decreasing HA-SABSI rate 
is desirable and a target for WA based on 
historical data has been set.

Target

The target is an infection rate of ≤1.0 per 
10,000 occupied bed days in public hospitals.

Improved or maintained performance is 
demonstrated by a result below or equal to the 
target.

Results

The rate of HA-SABSI continues to fall with 
the 2018 rate of 0.7 per 10,000 occupied bed 
days the second year in succession SMHS 
achieved the target. A continued focus on the 
care, use and maintenance of intravenous 
cannulas across SMHS sites, with a particular 
emphasis on medical management, has 
contributed to this positive result. 

 Table 8: Hospital infection rate

Calendar 
year 
2017

Calendar 
year 
2018 Target

Infection rate 
per 10,000 
bed days

0.9 0.7 ≤1.0

Data source: Healthcare Infections Surveillance WA Data 
Collection (HISWA).

Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to 
date information reported refers to the 2018 calendar year 
results.
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OUTCOME 1 – 
EFFECTIVENESS KPI

Survival rates for sentinel 
conditions

Rationale

This indicator measures performance in 
relation to restoring the health of people who 
have suffered a sentinel condition - specifically 
a stroke, acute myocardial infarction (AMI), or 
fractured neck of femur (FNOF).

These three conditions have been chosen as 
they are particularly significant for the health 
care of the community and are leading causes 
of death and hospitalisation in Australia. 
Patient survival after being admitted for one of 
these three sentinel conditions can be affected 
by many factors including the diagnosis, the 
treatment given or procedure performed, age, 
co-morbidities at the time of the admission 
and complications which may have developed 
while in hospital. However, survival is more 
likely when there is early intervention and 
appropriate care on presentation to an 
emergency department and on admission to 
hospital.

By reviewing and analysing survival rates, 
targeted strategies can be developed that 
aim to increase patient survival after being 
admitted for a sentinel condition. Therefore, 
this indicator can potentially assist hospitals 
in monitoring changes over time to facilitate 
effective restoration of patients’ health.

Target

The target is based on the state average result 
for the previous five calendar years excluding 
the most recent calendar year. An improved or 
maintained performance is demonstrated by a 
result exceeding or equal to the target.

The following table illustrates the target for 
each condition by age group.

Table 9: Survival target rates for sentinel 
conditions, by age group

Age 
group 
(years)

Sentinel conditions

Stroke 
(%)

AMI 
(%)

FNOF 
(%)

0–49 ≥94.4 ≥99.1 Not reported

50–59 ≥93.3 ≥98.9 Not reported

60–69 ≥92.9 ≥98.0 Not reported

70–79 ≥90.0 ≥96.3 ≥98.7

80+ ≥82.2 ≥91.9 ≥95.3

Results

A review is undertaken of all in-hospital 
deaths resulting from stroke, AMI or FNOF 
in order to determine if the care delivered to 
patients was appropriate or could have been 
delivered differently, and to identify any areas 
for improvement. The survival rates of patients 
admitted for stroke and FNOF in all age groups 
remained above target across SMHS for 2018. 

The survival rates for patients diagnosed with 
AMI in the age ranges 0–49, 50–59 and 60–69 
fell below the target in 2018. There were 729 
patients diagnosed with an AMI across these 
three age ranges in 2018 and a total of 711 
survived. 

Of the 18 patients who did not survive, almost 
half suffered an out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. 
The patients were known to have multiple 
co-morbidities such as diabetes mellitus, 
hypertension, ischaemic heart disease and 
end stage renal failure. Despite the provision of 
all available in-hospital interventions and high 
level care in ICU/CCU, the complications that 
arose from the AMI resulted in the death of 
these patients.
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Table 10: Survival rate for stroke, by age group

Age group 
(years)

Calendar year

2016  
(part year) 

(%)
2017 
(%)

2018 
(%)

Target 
(%)

0–49 96.5 96.8 97.1 ≥94.4

50–59 98.8 95.2 98.7 ≥93.3

60–69 91.2 97.4 96.5 ≥92.9

70–79 93.4 92.9 92.4 ≥90.0

80+ 86.7 88.5 87.9 ≥82.2

Data source: Hospital Morbidity Data Collection.

Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to date information reported refers to the 2018 calendar year results.

Table 11: Survival rate for acute myocardial infarction, by age group

Age group 
(years)

Calendar year

2016  
(part year) 

(%)
2017 
(%)

2018 
(%)

Target 
(%)

0–49 98.7 99.4 97.9 ≥99.1

50–59 100.0 98.8 97.0 ≥98.9

60–69 100.0 97.2 97.8 ≥98.0

70–79 97.2 97.6 97.4 ≥96.3

80+ 94.3 93.4 96.0 ≥91.9

Data source: Hospital Morbidity Data Collection.

Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to date information reported refers to the 2018 calendar year results.

Table 12: Survival rate for fractured neck of femur, by age group

Age group 
(years)

Calendar year

2016  
(part year) 

(%)
2017 
(%)

2018 
(%)

Target 
(%)

70–79 100.0 100.0 99.1 ≥98.7

80+ 97.1 98.1 98.3 ≥95.3

Data source: Hospital Morbidity Data Collection.

Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to date information reported refers to the 2018 calendar year results.
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OUTCOME 1 – 
EFFECTIVENESS KPI

Percentage of admitted patients 
who discharged against medical 
advice: a) Aboriginal patients; and  
b) Non-Aboriginal patients

Rationale 

Discharge against medical advice (DAMA) 
refers to patients leaving hospital against 
the advice of their treating medical team or 
without advising hospital staff (i.e. absconding 
or missing and not found). Patients who 
DAMA have a higher risk of readmission and 
mortality3 and have been found to cost the 
health system 50 per cent more than patients 
who are discharged by their physician.4

Between July 2013 and June 2015 Aboriginal 
patients in WA were almost 12.7 times more 
likely than non-Aboriginal patients to discharge 
against medical advice, compared with 7 
times nationally5. This statistic indicates a need 
for improved responses by the health system 
to the needs of Aboriginal patients.

This indicator provides a measure of the safety 
and quality of inpatient care. Reporting the 
results by Aboriginality assists in measuring the 
effectiveness of initiatives within the WA health 
system to deliver culturally secure services to 
Aboriginal people and addressing underlying 
factors in achieving an equitable treatment 
outcome for Aboriginal patients compared with 
non-Aboriginal patients.

Target

The target was developed using WA historical 
data from Non-Aboriginal DAMA for 2013/14, 
2014/15 and 2015/16 and is ≤0.77 per cent.

An improved or maintained performance is 
demonstrated by a result below or equal to the 
target.

3 Yong et al. Characteristics and outcomes of discharges against medical advice among hospitalised patients. Internal medicine journal 
2013:43(7):798-802.  

4 Aliyu ZY. Discharge against medical advice: sociodemographic, clinical and financial perspectives. International journal of clinical practice 
2002;56(5):325-27.  

5 Commonwealth of Australia. (2017). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Performance Framework 2017 Report, Commonwealth of Australia, 
Canberra.  

Results

Results show the 2018 rate of Non-Aboriginal 
DAMA remains within target. The Aboriginal 
DAMA rate improved in 2018, but remains 
above target.  

All Aboriginal DAMA cases are reviewed on an 
individual basis to assist in identifying common 
themes and trends that may have contributed 
towards the unplanned discharge of this 
vulnerable patient group. An outcome of this 
case review process includes the formation 
of DAMA working groups across SMHS sites. 
These groups work in close collaboration 
with the Aboriginal Hospital Liaison Officers 
(AHLO) Service and the SMHS Aboriginal 
Health Strategy Unit on the application of the 
SMHS Aboriginal Community and Consumer 
Engagement Framework. 

These collaborations have resulted in a range 
of strategies including the extension of an on-
call weekend AHLO service at FSH and FH as 
well as increasing the availability of AHLOs to 
clinical areas with higher numbers of Aboriginal 
patients. The aim is to establish contact early 
in the hospital admission in order to provide 
support and assistance to Aboriginal patients 
and their families, and reduce the incidence of 
DAMA.

Table 13: Percentage of patients who 
discharge against medical advice  

Discharge against 
medical advice

Calendar year

2017 
(%)

2018 
(%)

Target 
(%)

Aboriginal 2.89 2.73 ≤0.77

Non-Aboriginal 0.60 0.74 ≤0.77

Data source: Hospital Morbidity Data Collection.

Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to 
date information reported refers to the 2018 calendar year 
results.
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OUTCOME 1 – 
EFFECTIVENESS KPI

Percentage of live-born term 
infants with an Apgar score of less 
than 7 at 5 minutes post delivery

Rationale 

This indicator of the condition of newborn 
infants immediately after birth provides an 
outcome measure of intrapartum care and 
newborn resuscitation.

The Apgar score is an assessment of an 
infant’s health at birth based on breathing, 
heart rate, colour, muscle tone and reflex 
irritability. An Apgar score is applied at one, 
five and (if required by the protocol) ten 
minutes after delivery to determine how well 
the infant is adapting outside the mother’s 
womb. Apgar scores range from zero to two 
for each condition with a maximum final total 
score of ten. The higher the Apgar score the 
better the health of the newborn infant.

This outcome measure can lead to the 
development and delivery of improved care 
pathways and interventions to improve the 
health outcomes of Western Australian 
infants and aligns to the National Core 
Maternity Indicators (2018) Health, Standard 
06/09/2018.

Target

The target for live born infants with an Apgar 
score of seven or less at five minutes post-
delivery is 1.8 per cent and is based on the 
2015 national average published by Australian 
Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW).6

Improved or maintained performance is 
demonstrated by a result below or equal to the 
target.

6  Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2017, Australia’s mothers and babies 2015 - in brief. Perinatal statistics series no. 33. Cat no. PER 91. 
Canberra: AIHW

Results

An Apgar score of less than seven at five 
minutes after birth is considered to be an 
indicator of complications and compromise for 
the infant.  

The result has been positive across SMHS 
between 2016 and 2018 with the percentage 
of live born term infants at SMHS with an 
Apgar below 7 remaining below the target rate 
of 1.8 per cent. 

Table 14: Percentage of live-born term 
infants with an Apgar score of less than 
seven, five minutes post-delivery

Calendar year

2016  
(%)

2017 
(%)

2018 
(%)

Target 
(%)

Percentage 
of live born 
infants

1.1 1.3 1.4 ≤1.8

Data source: Midwives Notification System.

Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to 
date information reported refers to the 2018 calendar year 
results.
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OUTCOME 1 – 
EFFECTIVENESS KPI

Readmissions to acute specialised 
mental health inpatient services 
within 28 days of discharge

Rationale 

Readmission rate is considered to be a global 
performance measure as it potentially points 
to deficiencies in the functioning of the overall 
mental health care system.

While multiple hospital admissions over 
a lifetime may be necessary for someone 
with ongoing illness, a high proportion of 
readmissions shortly after discharge may 
indicate that inpatient treatment was either 
incomplete or ineffective, or that follow-up care 
was not adequate to maintain the patient’s 
recovery out of hospital7. These readmissions 
mean that patients spend additional time 
in hospital and utilise additional resources. 
A low readmission rate suggests that good 
clinical practice is in operation. This indicator 
is reported at the facility at which the initial 
admission occurred rather than the facility at 
which the patient was readmitted.

International literature identifies the concept 
of one month as an appropriate defined time 
period for the measurement of readmissions 
following separation from an acute inpatient 
mental health service. Based on this a 
timeframe of 28 days for this indicator has 
been set and endorsed by the Australian 
Health Ministers’ Advisory Council (AHMAC) 
Mental Health Information Strategy Standing 
Committee (as at 24 March 2011).

By measuring and monitoring this indicator, 
key areas for improvement can be identified. 
This in turn can facilitate the development 
and delivery of targeted care pathways 
and interventions, which aim to improve 
mental health and quality of life of Western 
Australians.

7 Pearson, B., Skelly, R., Wileman, D., Masud, T. (2002). Unplanned readmission to hospital: a comparison of the views 
of general practitioners and hospital staff. Age and Ageing, Vol. 31 No. 2, 141-143.  

Target

The target is ≤12 per cent. The source of the 
target is the Fourth National Mental Health 
Plan Measurement Strategy (May 2011) 
produced by the Mental Health Information 
Strategy Subcommittee, AHMAC, Mental 
Health Standing Committee. 

Improved or maintained performance is 
demonstrated by a result below or equal to the 
target.

Results

This indicator is impacted by readmissions for 
patients with emotionally unstable personality 
disorders who may find themselves in a 
situational crisis and feel unsafe. Much is 
being done across all SMHS sites to provide 
this vulnerable patient group with additional 
supports following discharge. Liaison with 
external healthcare agencies, who can provide 
additional resources and support, and the 
introduction of community based treatment 
groups are two initiatives aimed at reducing 
readmission rates. Most crises develop over 
a period of days or weeks, and patients have 
crisis management plans in place allowing 
them to return to hospital following discharge 
if management strategies fail or certain criteria 
are met. The aim of care is to empower 
patients to recognise triggers and adverse 
situations before they become overwhelming, 
thereby avoiding acute admissions requiring 
prolonged and complex interventions. 

Table 15: Rate of readmissions to acute 
specialised mental health inpatient services 
within 28 days of discharge

Calendar Year

2017  
(%)

2018 
(%)

Target 
(%)

Readmissions rate 19 19 ≤12

Data source: Hospital Morbidity Data System.

Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to 
date information reported refers to the 2018 calendar year 
results.
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OUTCOME 1 – 
EFFECTIVENESS KPI

Percentage of post-discharge 
community care within seven 
days following discharge from 
acute specialised mental health 
inpatient services

Rationale 

In 2014/15 there were 4.0 million Australians 
(17.5 per cent) who reported having a mental 
or behavioural condition8.Therefore, it is crucial 
to ensure effective and appropriate care is 
provided not only in a hospital setting but also 
in the community.

Discharge from hospital is a critical transition 
point in the delivery of mental health care. 
People leaving hospital after an admission for 
an episode of mental illness have heightened 
levels of vulnerability and, without adequate 
follow up, may relapse or be readmitted. This 
KPI measures the performance of the overall 
health system in providing continuity of mental 
health care.

A responsive community support system for 
persons who have experienced a psychiatric 
episode requiring hospitalisation is essential 
to maintain their clinical and functional 

8  National Health Survey 2014-15  

stability and to minimise the need for hospital 
readmissions. Patients leaving hospital after a 
psychiatric admission with a formal discharge 
plan, involving linkages with public community 
based services and support, are less likely to 
need avoidable readmission.

The standard underlying the measure is that 
continuity of care involves prompt community 
follow-up in the vulnerable period following 
discharge from hospital. Overall, the variation 
in post-discharge follow-up rates suggests 
important differences between mental health 
systems in terms of their practices.

Target

The target is ≥75 per cent.

This target was endorsed by the AHMAC 
Mental Health Standing Committee in May 
2011.

Improved or maintained performance is 
demonstrated by a result greater than or equal 
to the target.

Results

The results indicate 79 per cent of all SMHS 
mental health patients in 2018 received 
community follow-up within seven days of 
discharge from hospital. This is the third 
consecutive year that SMHS has performed 
above the target for this indicator.  

Table 16: Percentage of post-discharge community care within seven days following discharge 
from acute specialised mental health inpatient services

Calendar Year

2016  
(%)

2017  
(%)

2018 
(%)

Target 
(%)

Post discharge community based 
contact

79 80 79 ≥75

Data sources: Mental Health Information Collection, Hospital Morbidity Data Collection.

Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to date information reported refers to the 2018 calendar year results.
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OUTCOME 1 – 
EFFICIENCY KPI

Service 1: Public 
Hospital Admitted

Average admitted cost per 
weighted activity unit

Rationale 

This indicator is a measure of the cost per 
weighted activity unit compared with the 
state (aggregated) target, as approved by the 
Department of Treasury and published in the 
2018/19 Budget Paper No. 2, Volume 1.

The measure ensures a consistent 
methodology is applied to calculating and 
reporting the cost of delivering inpatient 
activity against the state’s funding allocation. 
As admitted services received nearly half of 
the overall 2018/19 budget allocation, it is 
imperative that efficiency of this service delivery 
is accurately monitored and reported.

Target

The target for this KPI is $6,948 per weighted 
activity unit (WAU). 

A result on or below the target is desirable.

Results

The 2017/18 result was updated from $7,273 
to $7,279 to capture a revision in the employee 
entitlements relating to public holiday claims.  
This change does not impact the explanations 
provided for 2017/18.

For 2018/19, while the average admitted cost 
per WAU is above the target of $6,948 it has 
decreased significantly from the prior year’s 
average cost and is showing a convergence to 
target.

As the activity based funding models continue 
to be refined nationally and SMHS patient level 
cost allocations are further refined, over time it 
would be expected that the average costs per 
WAU across admitted, ED and non-admitted 
groups to converge towards a single cost 
value. The 2018/19 KPIs for these groups all 
show this trend.  

Table 17: Average admitted cost per 
weighted activity unit 

2017/18  
($)

2018/19 
($)

Target 
($)

Average cost 7,279 7,056 6,948

Data source: Hospital Morbidity Data Collection, Oracle 11i 
financial system, OBM Allocation Application.

Note: This key performance indicator includes Peel Health 
Campus.
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OUTCOME 1 – 
EFFICIENCY KPI

Service 2: Public 
Hospital Emergency 
Services

Average Emergency Department 
cost per weighted activity unit

Rationale 

This indicator is a measure of the cost per 
WAU compared with the state (aggregated) 
target as approved by the Department of 
Treasury, which is published in the 2018/19 
Budget Paper No. 2, Volume 1.

The measure ensures a consistent 
methodology is applied to calculating and 
reporting the cost of delivering ED activity 
against the state’s funding allocation. With 
the increasing demand on EDs and health 
services, it is imperative ED service provision 
is monitored to ensure the efficient delivery of 
safe and high quality care.

Target

The target for this KPI is $7,072 per WAU. 

A result on or below the target is desirable.

Results

The 2017/18 result was updated from 
$6,132 to $6,137 to capture a revision in 
the employee entitlements relating to public 
holiday claims. This change does not impact 
the explanations provided for 2017/18.

The average ED cost per WAU is below the 
target of $7,072. The below target position 
was achieved as the result of higher activity 
levels and tight budgetary control.

As the activity based funding models continue 
to be refined nationally and SMHS patient level 
cost allocations are further refined, over time it 
would be expected that the average costs per 
WAU across admitted, ED and non-admitted 
groups to converge towards a single cost 
value. The 2018/19 KPIs for these groups all 
show this trend.  

Table 18: Average Emergency Department 
cost per weighted activity unit 

2017/18  
($)

2018/19 
($)

Target 
($)

Average cost 6,137 6,427 7,072

Data sources: Emergency Department Data Collection, 
Oracle 11i financial system, OBM Allocation Application.

Note: This key performance indicator includes Peel Health 
Campus.
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OUTCOME 1 – 
EFFICIENCY KPI

Service 3: Public 
Hospital Non-
Admitted Services

Average non-admitted cost per 
weighted activity unit

Rationale 

This indicator is a measure of the cost per 
WAU compared with the state (aggregated) 
target, as approved by the Department of 
Treasury, which is published in the 2018/19 
Budget Paper No. 2, Volume 1.

The measure ensures a consistent 
methodology is applied to calculating and 
reporting the cost of delivering non-admitted 
activity against the state’s funding allocation. 
Non-admitted services play a pivotal role within 
the spectrum of care provided to the WA 
public; therefore, it is imperative non-admitted 
service provision is monitored to ensure the 
efficient delivery of safe and high quality care.

Target

The target for this KPI is $7,136 per WAU. 

A result on or below the target is desirable.

Results

The 2017/18 result was updated from 
$7,024 to $7,030 to capture a revision in 
the employee entitlements relating to public 
holiday claims. This change does not impact 
the explanations provided for 2017/18.

The average non-admitted cost per WAU is 
below the target of $7,136 and has decreased 
from last year as a result of continued activity 
growth and refinements in costing and data. 

As the activity based funding models continue 
to be refined nationally and SMHS patient level 
cost allocations are further refined, over time it 
would be expected that the average costs per 
WAU across admitted, ED and non-admitted 
groups to converge towards a single cost 
value. The 2018/19 KPIs for these groups all 
show this trend.  

Table 19: Average non-admitted cost per 
weighted activity unit 

2017/18  
($)

2018/19 
($)

Target 
($)

Average cost 7,030 7,028 7,136

Data sources: Non Admitted Patient Activity and Wait List 
Data Collection, Interim Collection of Aggregate Data, Oracle 
11i financial system, OBM Allocation Application.

Note: This key performance indicator includes Peel Health 
Campus.
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OUTCOME 1 – 
EFFICIENCY KPI

Service 4: Mental 
Health Services

Average cost per bed-day in 
specialised mental health 
inpatient services

Rationale 

Specialised mental health inpatient services 
provide patient care in authorised hospitals 
and designated mental health units located 
within hospitals. In order to ensure quality of 
care and cost effectiveness, it is important to 
monitor the unit cost of admitted patient care 
in specialised mental health inpatient services. 
The efficient use of hospital resources can help 
minimise the overall costs of providing mental 
health care and enable the reallocation of 
funds to appropriate alternative non-admitted 
care.

9 As per 2018/19 OBM KPI Definition Manual HSP specific target. Overall target in 2018/19 Budget Statements. Budget Paper No. 2 - Volume 1 is 
$1,545.

Target

The target for this KPI is $1,5239 per bed-
day in specialised mental health inpatient 
services. 

A result on or below the target is desirable.

Results

The average cost per bed-day in specialised 
mental health inpatient services is above 
the target of $1,523, but showing slight 
improvement over last year’s cost.   

Introduction of the Outcome Based 
Management model in 2017/18 has impacted 
the calculations underpinning this KPI. The 
2016/17 results were generated using different 
outcome structures and assumptions leading 
to significant variation in the results. As a 
consequence comparison and interpretation of 
2016/17 with future years are not appropriate.

Table 20: Average cost per bed-day in specialised mental health inpatient units

2016 /17 
($)

2017/18 
($)

2018/19 
($)

Target 
($)

Average cost per bed day 2,098 1,594 1,590 1,523

Data sources: Bed State, Oracle 11i financial system, OBM Allocation Application.
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OUTCOME 1 – 
EFFICIENCY KPI

Service 4: Mental 
Health Services

Average cost per treatment day 
of non-admitted care provided by 
mental health services

Rationale 

Public community mental health services 
consist of a range of community-based 
services such as emergency assessment 
and treatment, case management, day 
programs, rehabilitation, psychosocial, 
residential services, and continuing care. The 
aim of these services is to provide the best 
health outcomes for the individual through 
the provision of accessible and appropriate 
community mental health care. Efficient 
functioning of public community mental 
health services is critical to ensure that finite 
funds are used effectively to deliver maximum 
community benefit.

Public community-based mental health 
services are generally targeted towards people 
in the acute phase of a mental illness who 
are receiving post-acute care. This indicator 
provides a measure of the cost effectiveness 
of treatment for public psychiatric patients 
under public community mental healthcare 
(non-admitted/ambulatory patients).

10  As per 2018/19 OBM KPI Definition Manual HSP specific target. Overall target in 2018/19 Budget Statements. Budget 
Paper No. 2 - Volume 1 is $491.

Target

The target for this KPI is $53510 per treatment 
day of non-admitted care provided by mental 
health services. 

A result on or below the target is desirable. 

Results

The average cost per treatment day of non-
admitted care provided by mental health 
services is below the target of $535 and has 
decreased significantly from last year.

Table 21: Average cost per treatment day 
of non-admitted care provided by mental 
health services 

2017/18  
($)

2018/19 
($)

Target 
($)

Average cost 584 500 535

Data sources: Mental Health Information Data Collection, 
Oracle 11i financial system, OBM Allocation Application.
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OUTCOME 2 – 
EFFICIENCY KPI

Service 6: Public and 
Community Health 
Services

Average cost per person of 
delivering population health 
programs by population health 
units

Rationale 

Population health units support individuals, 
families and communities to increase control 
over and improve their health.

With the aim of improving health, population 
health works to integrate all activities of the 
health sector and link them with broader social 
and economic services and resources by 
utilising the WA Health Promotion Strategic 
Framework 2017–2021. This is based on the 
growing understanding of the social, cultural 
and economic factors that contribute to a 
person’s health status.

Target

The target for this KPI is $15 per person of 
delivering health programs by population 
health units.

A result below the target is desirable. 

Results

The average cost per person of delivering 
population health programs by population 
health units is above the target of $15. This 
is consistent with 2016/17 and represents no 
increase in costs.

The average cost shown is based on 
population forecasts utilising the 2011 
ABS Census as per the target calculation. 
Since the target calculation was completed, 
Census 2016 data has become available 
and is showing reduced forecast numbers. 
Calculation using the 2016 Census forecasts 
increase the average cost to $18.

Table 22: Average cost per person of delivering programs by Population Health Units

2016 /17 
($)

2017/18 
($)

2018/19 
($)

Target 
($)

Average cost per person 25 17 17 15

Data sources: 2018 calendar year population projected by the Epidemiology Branch, Oracle 11i financial system, OBM Allocation 
Application.
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Ministerial 
directives

SMHS did not receive any ministerial  
directives in 2018/19.

Pricing policy

The National Health Reform Agreement sets 
the policy framework for the charging of 
public hospital fees and charges. Under the 
Agreement, an eligible person who receives 
public hospital services as a public patient in 
a public hospital or a publicly contracted bed 
in a private hospital is treated ‘free of charge’. 
This arrangement is consistent with the 
Medicare principles which are embedded in 
the Health Services Act 2016 (WA). 

The majority of hospital fees and charges for 
public hospitals are set under Schedule 1 of 
the Health Services (Fees and Charges) Order 
2016 and are reviewed annually. The following 
informs WA public hospital patients’ fees and 
charges for: 

 � Nursing home type patients 

The State charges public patients 
who require nursing care and/or 
accommodation after the 35th day of their 
stay in hospital, providing they no longer 
need acute care and they are deemed to 
be Nursing Home Type Patients. The total 
daily amount charged is no greater than 
87.5 per cent of the current daily rate of 
the single aged pension and the maximum 
daily rate of rental assistance. 

 � Compensable or Medicare ineligible 
patients 

Patients who are either ‘private’ or 
‘compensable’ and Medicare ineligible 
(overseas residents) may be charged an 
amount for public hospital services as 
determined by the State. The setting of 
compensable and Medicare ineligible 
hospital accommodation fees is set close 
to, or at, full cost recovery. 

 � Private patients (Medicare eligible 
Australian residents) 

The Commonwealth Department of Health 
regulates the Minimum Benefit payable by 
health funds to privately insured patients 
for private shared ward and same day 
accommodation. The Commonwealth 
also regulates the Nursing Home Type 
Patient ‘contribution’ based on March and 
September pension increases. To achieve 
consistency with the Commonwealth 
Private Health Insurance Act 2007, the 
State sets these fees at a level equivalent 
to the Commonwealth Minimum Benefit. 

 � Veterans 

Hospital charges of eligible war service 
veterans are determined under a separate 
Commonwealth-State agreement with the 
Department of Veterans’ Affairs. Under 
this agreement, the DoH does not charge 
medical treatment to eligible war service 
veteran patients; instead medical charges 
are fully recouped from the Department of 
Veterans’ Affairs. 

 � The following fees and charges also 
apply: 

 z The Pharmaceutical Benefits 
Scheme regulates and sets the 
price of pharmaceuticals supplied to 
outpatients, patients on discharge 
and for day admitted chemotherapy 
patients. Inpatient medications are 
supplied free of charge. 

 z The Dental Health Service charges to 
eligible patients for dental treatment 
are based on the Department of 
Veterans’ Affairs Fee Schedule of 
dental services for dentists and dental 
specialists.

 z Eligible patients are charged the 
following co-payment rates: 

 � 50 per cent of the treatment fee if the 
patient holds a current Health Care 
Card or Pensioner Concession Card 

 � 25 per cent of the treatment fee if 
the patient is the current holder of 
one of the above cards and receives 
a near full pension or an allowance 
from Centrelink or the Department of 
Veterans’ Affairs. 
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Capital works

SMHS continues to facilitate re-modelling and development of health 
infrastructure within its area of responsibility. 

Table 23: Capital works completed in 2018/19 

Project Total cost ($ ‘000)

Replacement of MRx Defibrillators 792

Table 24: Capital works in progress in 2018/19 

Project 

Estimated 
total cost 

2018/19 
($ ‘000)

Estimated 
total cost 

reported as  
at 2017/18 

($ ‘000)
Variance 
($ ‘000)

Expected 
completion 

year

Variation 
to cost 

explanation 

FSH ICT commissioning  
[refer note (d)]

32,114 32,114 2020

FH reconfiguration 5,221 5,221 2019

FSH ICT Pharmacy automation 
[refer note (e)]

9,600 9,600 2020

PHC development stage 1 6,761 2,369 4,392 2022
Additional 
funding  
[refer note (f)]

FSH development [refer note (e)] 1,701,524 1,701,524 2020

FSH ICT Intensive Care Clinical 
information systems [refer note (g)]

4,200 4,200 2020

FSH critical ICT upgrades 
[refer note (h)]

15,188 15,188 2020

FSH  da Vinci system [refer note (e)] 4,950 4,950 2020

FSH Family Birthing Centre 1,828 2019 new project

PHC Reconfiguration of ED 4,900 2020 new project

Notes of relevance:
(a) The information is based on the 2018/19 mid-year review Service Level Agreement and includes budgeted expense capital 

allocation.
(b) Allocation from the medical equipment and minor works programs are not included as these are reported by DoH.
(c) Completion timeframes are updated for latest expectations at the time of reporting.
(d) Due to delays in the PathWest systemwide upgrade the expected completion date was revised to 2020.
(e) The expected completion date was revised to 2020 to capture variations in the project scope.
(f) Increased funding was allocated for additional upgrade projects.
(g) The expected completion date was revised to 2020 depicting refinement in the accountabilities of the project.
(h) The expected completion date was revised to 2020 due to the procurement time taking longer than expected.

 � There are other categories of fees 
specified under Health Regulations 
through Determinations, which 
include the supply of surgically 
implanted prostheses, Magnetic 
Resonance Imaging services and 
pathology services. The pricing for 
these hospital services is determined 
according to their cost of service.
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Employment prof ile

Government agencies are required to report a summary of the number of employees, by category, 
compared to the preceding financial year. 

Table 25: SMHS total full-time employees (FTE) by category

Category Definition 2017/18 2018/19

Administration and 
clerical

Includes all clerical-based occupations together 
with patient-facing (ward) clerical support staff. 1,064.66 1,059.15

Agency nursing
Includes workers engaged on a ‘contract 
for service’ basis. Does not include workers 
employed by NurseWest.

33.11 32.02

Assistants in nursing Support registered nurses and enrolled nurses 
in delivery of general patient care. 183.44 191.69

Dental nursing Includes dental nurses and dental clinic 
assistants. 1.00 1.48

Hotel services Includes catering, cleaning, stores/supply 
laundry and transport occupations. 353.29 336.26

Maintenance 
services

Includes engineering, garden and security-
based occupations. 62.69 64.08

Medical 
Includes all salary-based medical occupations 
including interns, registrars and specialist 
medical practitioners.

1,162.72 1,239.40

Medical support Includes all allied health and scientific/ technical 
related occupations. 1,086.77 1,115.45

Nursing and 
midwifery

Includes all nursing occupations including 
enrolled, registered and clinical nurses, and 
midwives. Does not include agency nurses.

2944.27 2,976.85

Other occupations Not limited to but primarily includes Aboriginal 
and ethnic health specialist positions. 11.74 11.47

Sessional Includes specialist medical practitioners that are 
engaged on a sessional basis 76.00 0.07*

Notes: 

1. Data Source: HR Data Warehouse

2. Year-to-date FTE divides the total FTE paid in every pay fortnight to date by the number of periods possible during the financial 
year up to the date specified.

3. FTE includes ordinary hours, overtime, all paid leave categories, public holidays, time-off-in-lieu and workers compensation. 
Penalties, allowances, unpaid leave, leave cash-outs and terminations do not incur FTE.

4. *Sessional staff have been moved to medical. 
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Industrial 
relations

Responsibility for industrial relations is 
delineated by an Industrial Relations Policy MP 
0025/16 established under the Employment 
Policy Framework issued by DoH.

DoH is responsible for systemwide industrial 
relations matters including negotiation and 
registration of industrial instruments. SMHS is 
responsible for:

 � the application of the WA public sector 
legislative and regulatory frameworks 
regulating employment and industrial 
relations

 � management of misconduct matters
 � representation and advocacy in industrial 

tribunals and courts
 � engagement with unions and other 

external stakeholders in industrial matters.

Key activities for 2018/19 included: 

 � coordination, advice on and 
implementation of Commissioner’s 
Instruction No. 23 – conversion and 
appointment of fixed term contract and 
casual employees to permanency

 � coordination of submissions informing 
DoH of upcoming enterprise bargaining 
negotiations affecting SMHS medical and 
enrolled nursing employment groups

 � representation on 10 occasions on matters 
before various industrial tribunals and 
courts 

 � education of managers regarding 
substandard performance

 � negotiation with unions and other relevant 
external stakeholders in response to 
workplace industrial disputes.

Staff 
development

The SMHS Safety Skills Training Framework 
outlines the mandatory training requirements 
for all staff and reinforces SMHS’ commitment 
to providing relevant training that assists in the 
delivery of safe and quality care. 

Each SMHS site delivers extensive corporate, 
local area and professional area induction 
and orientation programs as well as specific 
role-related training and education. Staff are 
expected to complete induction within six 
weeks of commencing employment with 
SMHS. 

Education roll-out has commenced across 
the organisation for the SUFS program. This 
program builds a culture of safety through 
peer-to-peer conversations and equipping 
staff with assertiveness training to speak up in 
the moment.  

SMHS continued to deliver training through 
the Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI) 
with in excess of 164 staff completing the 
IHI Open School Basic Certificate in Quality 
and Safety and a further 93 certificates issued 
for other courses. A total of 2,912 IHI Open 
School courses have been completed and 249 
certificates issued in the areas of:  

 � quality and safety (basic)
 � faculty development 
 � patient safety 
 � quality improvement.

Nurse, Fiona Stanley Hospital
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Workers’ 
compensation

SMHS is committed to providing staff with 
a safe and healthy work environment, and 
recognises this is essential to attracting and 
retaining the workforce needed to deliver 
effective and efficient healthcare services. 

A total of 168 workers’ compensation claims 
were made in 2018/19 (refer to Table 26).

For further details on the occupational safety, 
health and injury management processes 
within SMHS, please refer to the Occupational 
Safety, Health and Injury section of this report 
(page 147).

For the purposes of this report employee 
categories are defined as:

 � administration and clerical – includes 
administration staff and executives, ward 
clerks, receptionists and clerical staff

 � medical support – includes 
physiotherapists, speech pathologists, 
medical imaging technologists, 
pharmacists, occupational therapists, 
dieticians and social workers

 � hotel services – includes cleaners, caterers 
and patient service assistants.

Table 26: Number of workers’ compensation 
claims in 2018/19.

Employee category

Number of 
claims in 
2018/19

Nursing and midwifery services/
Dental Care Assistants

91

Administration and clerical 26

Medical support 13

Hotel services 26

Maintenance 8

Medical (salaried) 4

Total 168

Notes:

• Data includes all claims lodged in 2018/19. Accident 
dates may not align with lodgement date

• Data excludes non-WA health staff 

Pecuniary interests

Senior officers of government are required to 
declare any interest in or proposed contract 
that has, or could result in, the member 
receiving a financial benefit. 

SMHS Board Member, Julian Henderson 
declared his position as CEO of the Family 
Planning Association of WA, which has 
contracts with DoH and Women’s and 
Newborn Health Service. This interest is 
declared and managed through the Conflict of 
Interest process. 

Unauthorised use 
of credit cards

Relevant SMHS staff are authorised and 
issued with corporate credit (purchasing) 
card if their job function requires usage of 
this facility. Credit cards are not for personal 
use by the cardholder. Should a cardholder 
use a credit card for personal purposes, they 
must give written notice to SMHS within five 
working days and refund the total amount of 
expenditure. 

Despite being made aware of obligations 
pertaining to the use of credit cards, three 
SMHS cardholders used their card for 
personal purposes. The full amount $158.50 
was refunded before the end of the reporting 
period. 

Table 27: Personal use expenditure by SMHS 
cardholders

Credit card personal use expenditure
2018/19 

$

Aggregate amount of personal use 
expenditure for the reporting period

158.50

Aggregate amount of personal use 
expenditure settled by the due date 
(within 5 working days)

96.55

Aggregate amount of personal use 
expenditure settled after the period 
(after 5 working days)

61.95

Aggregate amount of personal use 
expenditure outstanding at the end of 
the reporting period

Nil
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Summary of board 
and committee 
remuneration

The total annual remuneration for each board 
and committee is listed in Table 28. For details 
of individual board or committee members’ 
remuneration refer to Appendix 2 (page 164). 

Table 28:  Summary of SMHS boards and 
committees remuneration

Board/Committee name
Total 

remuneration $

South Metropolitan Service 
Provider Board

463,081

Community Advisory Council, 
Rockingham General Hospital

11,544

Peel Mental Health Consumer 
Advisory Group

5,500

Rockingham Mental Health 
Consumer Advisory Group

5,500

The PaRK Mental Health Service Clinical 
Governance Committee did not operate in 
2018/19 due to organisational changes.  
As a result, an application is to be made to 
formally dissolve the PaRK Mental Health 
Service Clinical Governance Committee.

Government 
building contracts

SMHS did not award any contracts in 2018/19 
that were subject to the Government Building 
Training Policy.

Substantive 
equality

SMHS continues to implement programs and 
initiatives across multiple disciplines to improve 
service delivery for disadvantaged Western 
Australians in alignment with the Policy 
Framework for Substantive Equality.

Aboriginal health 

Aboriginal workforce

In 2018/19, following the successful 
implementation of the Section 51 pilot 
program, SMHS established a working party 
to implement targeted initiatives to improve the 
recruitment and retention of Aboriginal staff. 
These initiatives included:

 � Student engagement: In March 2019 the 
inaugural Aboriginal student information 
evening was held at FSH introducing 
students from both TAFE and universities 
to career opportunities across SMHS in 
clinical and non-clinical areas. 

 � Changes to recruitment practices: In 
January 2019 recruitment processes 
for ward clerk pool positions were 
reviewed to increase applications from 
Aboriginal candidates. The implemented 
changes resulted in 11 suitable Aboriginal 
applicants being identified with six 
applicants recruited in the first intake and 
five admitted to the ward clerk pool. This 
process will be adapted for other pool 
recruitments.

 � Established 50D position: A new 
Aboriginal Welfare and Recreation Officer, 
50D position, was created within RkPG’s 
Mental Health Intensive Day Therapy Unit. 
This position was successfully filled in June 
2019. 
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Cultural awareness and security

 � By the end of the financial year the SMHS 
Aboriginal Health Champions program 
had 98 trained champions across SMHS. 
A major focus of the program was the 
ongoing training of champions, with the 
first toolbox sessions occurring in February 
2019. Bringing together Aboriginal 
community representatives to share their 
experiences and cultural understandings 
with SMHS staff, these sessions increased 
cultural awareness and built capacity 
of staff to improve relationships with 
Aboriginal patients (refer to page 35).  

 � A new partnership with the Lighthouse 
Hospital Project and the Heart 
Foundation aimed to address the 
disproportionate number of deaths from 
coronary heart disease among Aboriginal 
people. The Lighthouse Project, in liaison 
with community members, developed a 
Welcome to Country vignette to alleviate 
cultural concerns or hesitation for 
Aboriginal patients travelling to FSH from 
remote and regional areas of WA.

Mental health 
Ensuring better outcomes in the community 
for those with a mental illness continued to be 
a focus for SMHS during 2018/19. Initiatives 
included:

 � Partnering with Project Air, an 
internationally recognised leader in 
research, education and treatment of 
personality disorders, to provide training 
to 270 SMHS and community partnered 
staff. At the end of the training, participants 
understood how to better manage and 
treat personality disorders, including 
expanding specialist treatment options 
and improving referral pathways between 
generic and specialist treatment. 

 � The inter-agency Mental Health  
Co-response project, launched in April 
2019, helps to divert people experiencing 
mental health illness and/or welfare 
concerns away from the criminal justice 
system. The Mental Health Co-response 
clinicians provide specialist crisis response, 
and support and liaison with WA Police. 

 � The development of the SMHS Mental 
Health Strategy and implementation 
plan will guide the planning and realisation 
of new ways of working to improve access 
to services for vulnerable groups and the 
delivery of culturally secure and person-
centred care. The vision is to achieve a 
community where people living with, or 
at risk of mental health disorders, their 
families and carers, have access to the 
support they need to lead meaningful, 
productive, healthy lives.

Aboriginal Health Liaison Officers,  
Fiona Stanley Hospital
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Occupational safety, health and 
injury management

Commitment to 
occupational safety 
and health, and injury 
management 
SMHS is committed to creating a safe 
workplace for staff, volunteers, students, 
contractors and visitors, and promoting staff 
health and wellbeing by:

 � striving towards a zero harm environment, 
both physically and psychologically, for 
staff

 � not tolerating aggression, physical or 
verbal, against staff, and supporting staff 
to seek police action against those who 
threaten or commit violence

 � engaging with managers, staff and 
volunteers to promote accountability and 
action to improve safety for all aspects of 
the workplace 

 � improving work health and safety (WHS) 
reporting systems to ensure SMHS can 
measure its performance and meet WHS 
targets

 � improving the WHS management system 
to ensure it meets the needs of staff, 
complies with legislation and relevant 
standards, and focuses on reducing 
incidents and injuries.

This commitment is outlined in the annual 
SMHS Work Health and Safety Commitment 
Statement and through the SMHS WHS plan, 
which aligns to the SMHS strategic plan. 
In addition, the establishment of the SMHS 
OSH Board Working Group demonstrates a 
commitment at the highest level.

Compliance with occupational 
safety, health and injury 
management

The SMHS WHS management system 
complies with the Workers’ Compensation 
and Injury Management Act 1981. An injury 
management system is in place, documented 
in the SMHS Injury Management Policy and 
available on the SMHS WHS intranet pages. 

Injured workers are supported to return to 
work as soon as possible. Managers actively 
participate in the management and workplace 
rehabilitation of injured workers with the 
support of injury management consultants. 
Injury management consultants provide 
important and valuable support for managers, 
particularly in relation to injury management, 
workers’ compensation, fitness for duty, and 
return to work plans and procedures.

Managers, in consultation with injury 
management consultants, treating doctors 
and injured workers, develop return to work 
programs for all injured workers. Return to 
work programs are actively reviewed to ensure 
program content is appropriate to the capacity 
of the injured worker and suitable duties are 
identified and available in the workplace. 

Staff consultation

Consultative mechanisms in SMHS include 
a hierarchy of health and safety committees 
from departmental, service and hospital level 
through to SMHS executive and Board. These 
committees are important to the consultation 
and issues resolution process. 

SMHS supports a network of more than 270 
elected safety and health representatives, 
each representing their work area on health 
and safety committees. Elected safety and 
health representatives are vital to investigating 
hazards and incidents, and working with 
managers to implement recommended 
controls and improvement strategies.
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Occupational safety and health 
assessment and performance

The SMHS WHS audit program, endorsed in 
October 2018 consists of:

 � level 1 – verify the SMHS WHS 
management system complies with 
legislation and the standards 

 � level 2 – verify the activities of each SMHS 
site comply with the requirements stated in 
the SMHS WHS management system, and 
site-specific policies and procedures.

The SMHS WHS audit program is scheduled 
over a three-year audit cycle.

A level 1 audit of the SMHS WHS 
management system was undertaken and 
findings reported in late 2018. Following 
evaluation by the SMHS WHS Executive 
Committee of the findings and risks against 
currently implemented controls, a total of 65 
actions have been identified. Of these actions:

 � 7 are high risk
 � 13 are moderate risk
 � 45 are low risk.  

An audit action plan was finalised in June 2019 
to be actioned during 2019/20. 

All level 2 audits scheduled in 2018/19 have 
been undertaken and actions to remedy 
recommendations completed. Level 2 audits 
include reviews of hazardous chemicals, 
first aid, spill kits, incident and hazard 
management, contractors, occupational 
exposures, psychological injury and stress, 
workplace aggression and violence, manual 
tasks, work at heights, slips trips and falls, 
injury management and communication and 
consultation. Level 2 audits are conducted by 
WHS staff across SMHS sites.

Audits to review hazardous chemical 
compliance are undertaken on a three-
yearly basis with the next audit due in 2021. 
Chemical audits ensure the SMHS ChemAlert 
database is maintained and accurately reflects 
chemical storage at SMHS sites. Action plans 
developed from audit reports are monitored 
through each peak hospital WHS committee.

Occupational Safety and Health, Fremantle Hospital
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Table 29: 2017/18 occupational safety, health and injury management performance

This indicator examines a three-year trend. 

Measure

Actual results Results against target

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Target Comment on result

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 0 Achieved

Lost time injury and/or 
disease incident rate

1.87 1.11 1.07 0 or 10% 
reduction

Achieved

Lost time injury and/or 
disease severity rate

42.97 55.2 42.54 0 or 10% 
reduction

Positive reduction in severity 
rate from 2016/17 to 2018/19 
against a target of <41.6%. 
Severity rate has been a 
focus for action by injury 
management teams and 
managers in 2018/19 to reduce 
reliance on supernumerary 
return to work programs in 
favour of more productive 
return to work options. SMHS 
continues to engage with injury 
management teams to develop 
early return to work strategies. 

Percentage of injured 
workers returned to 
work within 13 weeks

55.24% 44.12% 50.39% ≥80% Positive increase in percentage 
of workers returned to work 
within 13 weeks from 2017/18 
to 2018/19 although less 
than 2016/17 results. Injury 
management teams and 
managers continue a focused 
effort in 2018/19 to improve 
and further develop return 
to work strategies such as 
supernumerary reduction and 
early return to work programs.

Percentage of injured 
workers returned to 
work within 26 weeks

66.67% 56.3% 57.14% ≥80% Positive increase in percentage 
of workers returned to work 
within 26 weeks from 2017/18 
to 2018/19 although less 
than 2016/17 results. Injury 
management teams and 
managers continue a focused 
effort in 2018/19 to improve 
and further develop return 
to work strategies such as 
supernumerary reduction and 
early return to work programs.

Percentage of 
managers trained 
in occupational, 
health and injury 
management 
responsibilities 

45% 72% 84.8% ≥80% Positive increase in compliance 
of managers with health and 
safety training over the past 
three years. WHS teams have 
focused actions to improve 
compliance which continues 
with a project to cleanse data 
and confirm in scope cohorts, 
and an update of the SMHS 
WHS for managers eLearning 
in early 2019/20.

Note: Lost time injury severity rate is a measure of the actual or estimated workers compensation claims with a lost time period of 
60 days or more as reported by RiskCover on a monthly basis. Severity reporting by RiskCover does not necessarily reflect actual 
severity of injury, or alignment with actual day to day lost time for each claim. Reporting data provided by RiskCover may reflect 
minor variations over time.
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Advertising

SMHS incurred a total advertising expenditure of $20,416 for 2018/19.

Table 30: Advertising by class of expenditure

Expenditure Amount $

Advertising agencies Nil

Market research organisations Nil

Polling organisations Nil

Direct mail organisations Nil

Media advertising organisations 20,416

Table 31: Advertising by agency

Media advertising organisations Amount $

ADCORP Australia Limited 5,788

Carat Australia Media Services Pty Limited  5,388

The Australasian College for Emergency Medicine 2,783

Facebook Ireland Limited 1,601

Curtin University of Technology 1,485

Other 3,371*

*Note: six organisations equating to an advertising spend of under $1,000 each.
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Engineering, Fremantle Hospital
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Disability access and inclusion

SMHS continues to reinforce its commitment 
to providing a more accessible and inclusive 
health service for people with disability, their 
families and carers.

The SMHS Disability Advisory Network was 
established in 2018/19 with the purpose of 
discussing area wide issues, identifying and 
recommending initiatives and promoting 
genuine collaboration to improve disability 
access and inclusion in SMHS. This network 
of community members is working with SMHS 
to identify priority areas of focus and develop 
initiatives that will improve the accessibility and 
inclusivity of services in SMHS. 

In addition, the ongoing work of the RkPG 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 
Action Group and FSFHG Disability Access 
and Inclusion Committee continue to address 
barriers that may prevent members of the 
public accessing services.

Outcome 1:  
People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to access 
the services of, and events organised by, a 
public authority.

 � The establishment of the SMHS NDIS 
reference group provides advice and 
guidance in the policy and planning 
of disability reform, and facilitates the 
successful implementation of the NDIS in 
SMHS. 

 � The Fiona Wood Public Lecture Series, 
launched in September 2018, is a free 
lecture series that provides the community 
with the opportunity to listen to our leading 
healthcare professionals share their expert 
knowledge. An audio loop is available to 
the hearing impaired during the lecture, 
and a podcast recording and transcript 
available online post-lecture. 

Outcome 2:  
People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to access 
the buildings and other facilities of a 
public authority.

 � Hearing loop systems are being installed 
in four key locations across RGH including 
main reception, outpatients, day therapy 
unit reception and preadmission reception 
to improve access for the hearing 
impaired. 

 � FH undertook a project to improve and 
update its signage. All signage now meets 
the required standards with regards to 
size, colour and font. All disabled toilets 
are now identified as left hand or right 
hand transfer and all public toilet signage 
includes braille.

Outcome 3:  
People with disabilities receive information 
from a public authority in a format that 
will enable them to access the information 
as readily as other people are able to 
access it.

 � In collaboration with ConnectGroups and 
the Health Consumers’ Council (WA) Inc, 
FSH established a Community Link Booth. 
The first of its kind in a WA hospital, this 
one-stop-shop helps connect patients, 
families and carers with community-based 
services and organisations. 

 � A suite of resources have been uploaded 
to the DAIP page on the SMHS intranet to 
assist staff to communicate with patients 
who have difficulty understanding or 
communicating important information.  
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Outcome 4:  
People with disabilities receive the same 
level and quality of service from the staff of 
a public authority as other people receive 
from the staff of that public authority.

 � With the DHN, SMHS hosted a 
seminar day to recognise and celebrate 
International Day of People with Disability. 
More than 80 people, including members 
of the public, had the opportunity to talk 
about how the health service can break 
down physical and cultural barriers to 
ensure people with disability have equal 
access.

 � The Spinal Outreach Service (SOS) at FSH 
was officially launched on 11 September 
2018 to support people with spinal cord 
injury living in WA. The SOS provides 
expert knowledge and advice, early 
intervention and education to people with 
a spinal cord injury, their families, carers 
and local community service providers. 
The service utilises telehealth (telephone, 
email and video call) as the primary means 
for communication between the service, 
clients and service providers.

Outcome 5:  
People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to make 
complaints to a public authority.

 � DoH NDIS Escalation Procedure was 
developed following a number of situations 
where patients with disability experienced 
significant delays when accessing services. 
The purpose of the escalation procedure 
is to safeguard patients, linking them into 
the scheme when all other avenues and 
normal processes have been unsuccessful 
in resolving the issues.  

Outcome 6:  
People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to 
participate in any public consultation by a 
public authority.

 � The SMHS Consumer and Carer 
Engagement Strategy has been developed 
and is currently being implemented across 
the health service. Acknowledging the 
barriers and difficulties vulnerable patient 
groups experience in accessing quality 
health services, the strategy focuses 
on people with disability and Aboriginal 
consumers during its first phase of 
implementation. Providing these patients 
with a voice is essential to SMHS delivering 
equitable, safe and quality health care to 
the community. 

Outcome 7:  
People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to obtain 
and maintain employment.

 � FSFHG was successful in its application to 
be a part of the Australian Commonwealth 
Government’s Job Access Program 
with the funding of a National Disability 
Recruitment Coordinator (NDRC) for 12 
months. The NDRC has undertaken a 
review of SMHS recruitment processes, 
provided feedback and identified useful 
resources available to improve processes. 
This feedback will be incorporated in the 
revision of recruitment processes to ensure 
they optimise opportunities for people 
with disability to obtain and maintain 
employment with SMHS. 
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Compliance with Public Sector Standards

Public Sector Standards
The Public Sector Standards in Human 
Resource Management set out the minimum 
standards of merit, equity and probity required 
of all Western Australian public sector bodies 
and their employees. SMHS ensures ongoing 
compliance by:

 � providing Human Resource and Employee 
Relations consultants to assist managers 
and staff in human resource activities 

 � informing staff of the need to comply 
with the Public Sector Commission’s 
(PSC) standards by ensuring information 
is available on the SMHS intranet and 
through electronic newsletter reminders 

 � ensuring human resource policies are 
regularly reviewed and updates are 
provided to staff 

 � ensuring equitable and timely resolution 
of employee grievances and promoting 
a commitment to providing a safe and 
positive workplace.

During 2018/19:

 � Ten (10) new claims were lodged and one 
(1) claim was carried over from 2017/18: 

 z six (6) claims were resolved by SMHS 
and did not result in a breach of the 
standard

 z five (5) claims were sent to the PSC for 
review: 

 � two (2) were withdrawn

 � four (4) were dismissed/ no breach of 
standard found.

 � One (1) claim lodged against the Grievance 
Resolution Standard was resolved by 
SMHS and did not result in a breach of the 
standard.

Code of Conduct
SMHS works within DoH’s Employment 
Framework and Code of Conduct, which are 
underpinned by the WA Public Sector Code of 
Ethics. SMHS demonstrates its commitment 
to the principles of appropriate behaviour in 
the following ways:

 � Quarterly reports to the SMHS Board 
and executive, which provides analysis 
in relation to breaches of discipline 
(misconduct matters).

 � Development of key integrity framework 
documents including the:

 z SMHS Integrity and Ethical 
Governance Framework (v3) updated 
in January 2019

 z SMHS Medication Management 
Framework (v2) updated in March 
2019

 z SMHS Fraud and Corruption Control 
Plan (v1) published in June 2019.

 � Conduct-related staff training, including:

 z Accountable and ethical decision 
making with a compliance rate of 92 
per cent

 z Protecting our patients – confidential 
information

 z Managing conflicts of interest

 z Acceptance of gifts, hospitality and 
benefits

 z Investigating medicine discrepancy 
training course

 z staff inductions and targeted 
presentations.

 � Regular reminders through the SMHS 
intranet and electronic newsletters.
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Staff compliance with the DoH’s Code of 
Conduct is monitored via reports of breaches 
of discipline. During 2018/19 a total 137 
complaints of suspected breaches of discipline 
were finalised:

 � 47 matters were assessed as not meeting 
the threshold of either ‘minor’ or ‘serious’ 
misconduct and finalised in line with the 
DoH Discipline Policy.

 � 38 matters were assessed as meeting  
the threshold of ‘minor’ misconduct,  
i.e. reportable to the PSC.

 � 52 matters were assessed as meeting  
the threshold of ‘serious’ misconduct,  
i.e. reportable to the Corruption and  
Crime Commission (CCC).

Of these 137 matters:

 � 60 were either fully or partially 
substantiated

 � 14 matters resulted in allegations being not 
substantiated

 � 43 were progressed via a non-disciplinary 
pathway

 � 20 resulted in no suspicion being formed, 
or the allegation was withdrawn or 
dropped.

Investigations, when required, were either 
undertaken by a delegated SMHS staff or by 
an investigator sourced through the Common 
Use Arrangements. Neither the PSC nor the 
CCC undertook any investigation on behalf of 
SMHS.

Recordkeeping plans

SMHS continues to develop and implement 
recordkeeping initiatives, including:

 � review of the SMHS Recordkeeping Plan, 
which is due for submission to the State 
Records Commission in March 2020

 � development of a SMHS business 
classification system 

 � progression, through a phased approach, 
of a records management system across 
SMHS

 � development of a dedicated records 
management intranet site to provide 
best practice recordkeeping information 
including guidelines, information sheets 
and links to relevant legislation and 
standards.

Recordkeeping training continues within 
SMHS with 91 per cent completion rate.

Ward 9 North, Fremantle Hospital 
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Annual estimates

The SMHS annual operational budget estimates for the following financial year are reported to 
the Minister for Health under Section 40 of the Financial Management Act 2006, and Treasurer’s 
Instruction 953.

The annual estimates for 2019/20 as approved by the Minister for Health are provided in Table 32.

Table 32: 2019/20 budget estimates for SMHS (ratified by Minister for Health, 2 August 2019)

Statement of comprehensive income
2019/20 estimate 

$’000s

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense 937,518
Fees for visiting medical practitioners 10,724
Contracts for services 140,418
Patient support costs 338,529
Finance costs 6,366
Depreciation and amortisation expense 103,751
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment 50,274
Other supplies and services 56,644
Other expenses 161,307

Total cost of services 1,805,531

INCOME
Revenue

Patient charges 85,639
Other fees for services 67,833
Commonwealth grants and contributions 587,202
Other grants and contributions 94,246
Donation revenue 7,013
Other revenue 9,776

Total revenue 851,709

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 10

Total gains 10
Total income other than income from State Government 851,719

NET COST OF SERVICES 953,812

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 882,446
Services received free of charge 71,087

Total income from State Government 953,533

DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD (279)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation reserve –
Total other comprehensive income –
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE PERIOD (279)
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Statement of f inancial position
2019/20 estimate 

$’000s

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 47,899
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 11,754
Receivables 53,997
Inventories 5,270
Other current assets 4,664

Total Current Assets 123,584

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 14,548
Amounts receivable for services 931,664
Property, plant and equipment 2,009,959
Intangible assets 27,064

Total Non-Current Assets 2,983,235

Total Assets 3,106,819

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 105,135
Borrowings 59,422
Provisions 196,125
Other current liabilities 327
Total current liabilities 361,009

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 48,225
Provisions 52,821

Total Non-Current Liabilities 101,046
Total Liabilities 462,055
Net assets 2,644,764

Equity
Contributed equity 2,534,618
Reserves 82,724
Accumulated surplus 27,422

Total equity 2,644,564
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Statement of cash flows
2019/20 estimate 

$’000s

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 778,640
Capital appropriations 97,802

Net cash provided by State Government 876,442

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Employee benefits (927,518)
Supplies and services (678,808)
Finance costs (1,440)

Receipts
Receipts from customers 85,639
Commonwealth grants and contributions 587,202
Other grants and contributions 94,246
Donations received 7,013
Other receipts 77,609

Net cash used in operating activities (756,057)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Payment for purchase of non-current physical assets and intangible assets (63,437)
Net cash used in investing activities (63,437)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Repayment of finance lease liabilities (42,937)
Net cash used in financing activities (42,937)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 14,011
Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the period 56,490
Cash and cash equivalents transferred to other agency 3,700

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 74,201
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Staff from across South Metropolitan Health Service  
deliver excellent health care, every day.
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South Metropolitan Health Service Health Promotion delivers 
local health promotion and community-based services. 

160



Appendices

161



Appendix 1

Addresses and contacts

South Metropolitan  
Health Service

11 Robin Warren Drive,  
MURDOCH WA 6150

Locked Bag 100,  
PALMYRA DC WA 6961

(08) 6152 2222

SMHS.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au

www.southmetropolitan.health.wa.gov.au
 

Fiona Stanley Fremantle 
Hospitals Group

Fiona Stanley Hospital

11 Robin Warren Drive,  
MURDOCH WA 6150

Locked Bag 100,  
PALMYRA DC WA 6961

(08) 6152 2222

FSH.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au

www.fsh.health.wa.gov.au

Fremantle Hospital 

South Terrace (near Alma Street), 
FREMANTLE WA 6160

PO Box 480,  
FREMANTLE WA 6959

(08) 9431 3333

(08) 9431 2921

FH.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au

www.fhhs.health.wa.gov.au

Rottnest Island Nursing Post

2 Abbott Street,  
ROTTNEST WA 6161

RINP, c/o Fiona Stanley Hospital 
PO Box 100, PALMYRA DC WA 6961

(08) 9292 5030

(08) 9292 5121

FSH.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au

www.fsh.health.wa.gov.au

Rockingham Peel Group

Rockingham General Hospital

Elanora Drive,  
COOLOONGUP WA 6168

PO Box 2033,  
ROCKINGHAM WA 6968

(08) 9599 4000

(08) 9599 4619

RkPG.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au

www.rkpg.health.wa.gov.au

Murray District Hospital

McKay Street,  
PINJARRA WA 6208

PO Box 243,  
PINJARRA WA 6208

(08) 9531 7222

(08) 9531 7241

RkPG.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au

www.rkpg.health.wa.gov.au
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Peel Mental Health Service (Adult) 

110 Lakes Road,  
MANDURAH WA 6210

PO BOX 162,  
MANDURAH 6210

(08) 9531 8080

(08) 9531 8070

RkPG.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au

www.rkpg.health.wa.gov.au

Rockingham Peel Group  
Mental Health Service  
(Adult and Older Adult)

Cnr Clifton and Ameer Streets, 
ROCKINGHAM 6168

PO Box 288,  
ROCKINGHAM 6968

(08) 9528 0600

(08) 9529 1266

RkPG.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au

www.rkpg.health.wa.gov.au

Kwinana Community Health 

1 Peel Row,  
KWINANA WA 6167

PO Box 187,  
KWINANA WA 6966

(08) 9419 2266

(08) 9419 1088 

RkPG.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au

www.rkpg.health.wa.gov.au

Mandurah Community  
Health Centre

112 Lakes Road,  
MANDURAH WA 6210

112 Lakes Road,  
MANDURAH WA 6210

(08) 9586 4402

(08) 9586 4499

RkPG.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au

www.rkpg.health.wa.gov.au

Peel Health Campus 
(Public)*

110 Lakes Road,  
MANDURAH WA 6210

110 Lakes Road,  
MANDURAH WA 6210

(08) 9531 8000

(08) 9531 8578

Enquiries.PHC@ramsayhealth.com.au

www.ramsayhealth.com.au

* Public health services provided by  
Ramsay Health Care Australia Pty Ltd  
on behalf of the WA State Government.
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Appendix 2 

Board and committee remuneration

South Metropolitan Service Provider Board
(Referred to as South Metropolitan Health Service Board)

Board member 
position

Board member 
full name 

Type of 
remuneration

Period of 
membership  

(in months) for 
2018/19

Gross/actual 
remuneration 

($)

Chair Robert McDonald annual 12 72,355

Deputy Chair Robyn Collins annual 12 43,414

Member Amanda Boudville annual 12 43,414

Member Kim Gibson annual 12 43,414

Member Julian Henderson annual 12 43,414

Member Makhan Khangure annual 12 43,414

Member Michelle Manook annual 12 43,414

Member Yvonne Parnell annual 12 43,414

Member David Rowe annual 12 43,414

Member Fiona Stanton annual 12 43,414

TOTAL 463,081

Community Advisory Committee, RGH
(Referred to as Consumer Advisory Council, RGH)

Board member 
position

Board member 
full name 

Type of 
remuneration

Period of 
membership  

(in months) for 
2018/19

Gross/actual 
remuneration 

($)

Chair Debra Letica per meeting 12 1,920

Deputy Chair Tina Tuira-Waldon per meeting 12 1,793

Member Judith Balfe per meeting 12 1,753

Member Victor Calteaux per meeting 12 935

Member Phoenix Heuge De Serville per meeting 12 1,350

Member Glenice Garvie per meeting 12 1,333

Member Sharyn Pickett per meeting 12 1,055

Member Jennifer Saw per meeting 12 1,195

Member Joy Jeffes per meeting 3 210

TOTAL 11,544
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Peel Mental Health 
Consumer Advisory Group

Board member 
position

Board member 
full name 

Type of 
remuneration

Period of 
membership  

(in months) for 
2018/19

Gross/actual 
remuneration 

($)

Chair Helen Abbott per meeting 12 730

Member Stuart Anderson per meeting 9 410

Member Kayleigh Bourquin per meeting 2 70

Member Raymond Hendra per meeting 12 730

Member Kirsty Holloway per meeting 9 410

Member Lowanna Hugall per meeting 12 600

Member Sue Jowett per meeting 12 670

Member Saffron Murfitt per meeting 12 730

Member Sasha Nelson per meeting 2 70

Member Noel Reed per meeting 8 420

Member Anni (Edwina) Ross per meeting 12 660

TOTAL 5,500

Rockingham Mental Health Consumer Advisory Group

Board member 
position

Board member 
full name 

Type of 
remuneration

Period of 
membership  

(in months) for 
2018/19

Gross/actual 
remuneration 

($)

Chair Ingrid Bentsen per meeting 12 540

Member Stuart Anderson per meeting 3 180

Member Jim Charters per meeting 12 530

Member Lesley Jardine per meeting 12 730

Member Lisa Langlands per meeting 12 730

Member Linda Maddocks per meeting 12 590

Member Kathryn Porter per meeting 12 730

Member Trys Reddick per meeting 11 120

Member Joshua Ryan per meeting 11 390

Member Pamela Sutton per meeting 12 340

Member Soraya Tynan per meeting 11 670

TOTAL 5,550
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Appendix 3

List of acronyms

Acronym Explanation

AAS Australian Accounting Standards

AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board

ABF Activity based funding

ACHS Australian Council on Healthcare Standards

ACPs Aluminium composite panels 

ACRU Aged Care Rehabilitation Unit

AHC Aboriginal Health Champion

AHLO Aboriginal Hospital Liaison Officers

AHMAC Australian Health Ministers’ Advisory Council 

AIHW Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 

AMAC Ambulatory Care Unit

AMI Acute myocardial infarction

ANF Australian Nursing Federation

AO Order of Australia

Apgar Appearance, pulse, grimace, activity, and respiration

ATO Australian Taxation Office

BUC Building Utilisation Categories 

CAC Consumer Advisory Council

CAG Consumer Advisory Group

CAHS Child and Adolescent Health Service

CCC Corruption and Crime Commission

CE Chief Executive

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CHOICE Consider Home Over Inpatient Care Everytime

CoNeCT Complex Needs Coordination Team 

CPS Community Physiotherapy Service 

C-section Caesarean delivery

CSIRO Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation 

DAIP Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

DAMA Discharge against medical advice 

DHN Disability Health Network

DoH Department of Health

ECLs Expected credit loss

ED Emergency department

ENT Ear, nose and throat

ESR External Service Recoup 
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Acronym Explanation

FFS Fee for service

FH Fremantle Hospital

FMA Financial Management Act 2006

FNOF Fractured neck of femur

FSFHG Fiona Stanley Fremantle Hospitals Group 

FSH Fiona Stanley Hospital

FTE Full-time employee

GESB Government Employees Superannuation Board 

GGHH Global Green and Healthy Hospitals

GOA Government Office Accommodation

GP General Practitioner 

GROH Government Regional Officers' Housing

GSS Gold State Superannuation 

GST Goods and services tax

HACC Home and community care 

HAIs Healthcare-associated infections

HA-SABSI Healthcare-associated Staphylococcus aureus bloodstream infections

HISWA Healthcare Infections Surveillance WA Data Collection

HR Human Resources

HSP Health Service Provider

HSS Health Support Services 

HSU Health Services Union

ICT Information and communications technology

IHI Institute for Healthcare Improvement

IV Intravenous

ISR Internal Service Recoup

KPIs Key Performance Indicators

MDFU Multidisciplinary Diabetic Foot Ulcer

MDH Murray District Hospital

MICE Mobile Image Communication Exchange

NADC National Association of Diabetes Centre

NDIA National Disability Insurance Agency

NDIS National Disability Insurance Scheme

NDRC National Disability Recruitment Coordinator

NFP Not-for-profit

NGR Nominated Group Representative 

NHA National Health Agreement

NHRA National Health Reform Agreement

NSMHS National Standards for Mental Health Services

NSQHS National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards

OBM Outcome Based Management

OSH Occupational Safety and Health 

PACE Probe, Alert, Challenge, Emergency 
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Acronym Explanation

PAYG Pay As You Go 

PBS Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme

PCH Perth Children’s Hospital

PEHS Patient Evaluation of Health Services

PHC Peel Health Campus

PSC Public Sector Commission’s 

RAPID Rapid Access for Patient’s Imminent Delivery

RFC Ready for care

RGH Rockingham General Hospital

RITH Rehabilitation in the Home

ROU Right of use

RkPG Rockingham Peel Group 

SAC Severity assessment code

SHR Sustainable Health Review

SMHS South Metropolitan Health Service

SOS Spinal Outreach Service

SPA Special purpose account

SUFS SPEAK UP for Safety

TAFE Technical and Further Education

TI Treasurer’s Instructions

TOIL Time off in lieu 

UCC Urgent Care Clinic

WA Western Australia

WALSA Western Australian Limb Service for Amputees

WAPHA Western Australia Primary Health Alliance

WATC Western Australia Treasury Corporation

WAU Weighted activity unit

WEAT Western Australian Emergency Access Target

WHS Work health and safety

WSS West State Superannuation 
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This document can be made available in alternative formats on request.

South Metropolitan Health Service 
Fiona Stanley Hospital, Administration Building, Second Floor 
14 Barry Marshall Parade, Murdoch WA 6150 

Postal address: Locked Bag 100 Palmyra DC WA 6961

southmetropolitan.health.wa.gov.au

Produced by South Metropolitan Health Service

© State of Western Australia, South Metropolitan Health Service 2019

Copyright to this material is vested in the State of Western Australia unless otherwise 
indicated. Apart from any fair dealing for the purposes of private study, research, 
criticism or review, as permitted under the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968, no part 
may be reproduced or re-used for any purposes whatsoever without written permission 
of the State of Western Australia.
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